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CORE FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL DATA
e b B 75 e 38 S BUIR

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BA#8 = IR
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REVENUE

A Wi ARE | Th ENRENE

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
Unit: RMB  Thousand
Bl AR¥ T

NET PROFIT AND NET PROFIT MARGIN

;‘g*u&;g*u* Unit: RMB  Thousand

B AR T

396,194 223,472 100,940
N5 4 11.8PP # AR 99, 4 10.3PP #
11194 #
356,668 159,108 ' 54213
[ | [ | 44.69 56.4% [ ] 15.29
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023 FY2022  FY2023 FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023

The Group provides customers with one-stop products and services of “SaaS + professional service + industry ecological platform”, enabling customers to make efficient operational

decisions and accurately connect to the market.
AREERM"SaaS+ HERB+ERXERTE" —URNERRRE, RESERRCERRIBHEEDS.

@ @ @® g O

Pharmaceutical and Medical Physical Examination
Medical Institutions

Device Munulucturers Institutions Enterprises, etc.
Medical Device Retailers B
EWBE

Pharmaceutical and B

Our customers covered the major
players in the health industry

Innovative Pharmaceutical

BIMBECES

44 6% # 1.268
891
|
FY2022 FY2023

Corporate Customers

EFEERREXTESHAR TEREFYE
,/“
BUSINESS SEGMENT
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ¥ﬁ&i£%ﬁ§ﬁ N
Unit: RMB Thousand
A79% 4 269164 43 4% ¥ Bl ARW
18269 126,542 120% #
41,393
36,973
[ ] 14,073
10,457 -
FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023 FY2022 FY2023
Smart Decision Cloud Smart Retail Cloud Smart Medical Cloud Smart Health Management Cloud
BRRRE HEEER HEBERET HERREER
)

SCENARIO ENABLING 15 = it g

Smart Decision Cloud &R K E

Smart Retail Cloud BEZEE

The Group has built a digital decision-making service and product system of "3 major data x 3 major services
+ digital insight SaaS system”, which runs through the whole chain of R&D, production, circulation, promotion
and terminal retail of pharmaceutical equipment products driven by data, to enhance the digital
decision-making process of customers' production and marketing, market layout and pharmaceutical
research and development.

REBBRT SABEIARB+ U FARSaSER NHFRRRBEERRR, UBBREHEFEMN
EiE, £E. B, #E QRTEN2EE, RASFEESH. THHRIEMHRNBACRERRE,

New Products & &

Lingsu System, the response speed of market data feedback reaches T+3, which is in the leading
position in the industry, supporting customers' fast and accurate marketing decisions.
EERG, THEBEBRENESEELDEDNT3, BINMTEEERM, ISSFRERENEHERE,

SinoHealth Yunling provides material cost estimation, price trend analysis and data perspective to
help Chinese medicine enterprises "cost reduction and efficiency enhancement"”.
PRER, REPRERNAANE, ERBBONOBEER, BN PR AR,

Smart Health Management Cloud S REEESE

There were more than 100,000 cooperative pharmacy stores using SIC, represent-
ing a year-on-year increase of 22%.
SICEFEERI0ER, RALIER22%.

The Group established a "one-stop” data concentration analysis ability, data
marketing drives solutions and data precise marketing capability in the pharmacy
application scenario. Deep services for medical product suppliers, pharmaceutical
retailers and patients. Improve patients' trust on medical device products. the
management efficiency of pharmacies, and improve patients' treatment effect
and healthy living standards.

FEBETERABREUN (i) YREPHIEEN, SRS HEMRREENEY
FRESHRBEN, RERBERERMES. BETECEREE, REBISHER
ERNEEE, RAESEENE, REREORMERRREETNKE,

Smart Medical Cloud EEE®RE

Through Al technology and disease risk assessment models, the Woodpecker AI-MDT system
provides more systematic and comprehensive expert consultation physical examination report
interpretation and personalized medical treatment, physical examination, diet and exercise health
management programs for physical examination users,establishes a complete post-examination
health management service system for the physical examination center.
SERRREEA-MDTRAFEBANKFRURE, KIEREFRUERR. 2ENERSLTRERRERE
FEMRER. R RENENNRREEAR, AERTOBREHENRERREBRBER.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the number of users interpreting physical examination reports
through AI-MDT system exceeded 2.4 million, and the maximum daily processing volume exceeded
30,000 cases.

HERSHAR, A-MDTRERBRSHRAFRERIB2408, ORSRERBIH,

The research SaaS platform based on deep learning and multi-modal large
language models, which increases the scientific research efficiency.
ERRESBESEEESRENRHSaaSTE, BRIRBRTIE,

Patient management services of "the whole medical management process digital
therapy + private patient operation”, reaching more than 250,000 patients,
effectively improving the continuity, convenience and autonomy of patients in the
treatment process.

"SREREEHFRAAREEEE NRECERY, BREBESEE, BYRET

BETERBRNEMANE, EAMNaEE,
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CORE COMPETENCE #Z /(0853 1

INDUSTRIAL COOPERATION NETWORK BIG DATA PROCESSING TECHNOLOGY
EXCFEE ABBREEKH

38 HEALTH INDUSTRY MASTER DATA BASE

1497 ‘% 1735 38ERRITEEEHE
! N . Covering pharmaceutical retail, industry supervision,
Number sf_{mrttnenr_ug medical medicine, pharmacy and life sciences
L DS BE: BESE FREE. B ESNLRNS
COOPERATIVE SFBRTECRYE *
PHARMACY DATA PROCESSING CAPACITY
a
SIERIE B EEEE N ~
22% Machine automatic cleaning rate exceeds 97%
]06 153 A ]29 555 Accuracy rate exceeds 99%,Response speed reaches T+1

. WREBEREEBIT%, ERERLBII%, BEEEENTH
Number of partnering
pharmacy stores
BIFREPIERE DATA VALUE MINING ABILITY

M RE RIS
o

"Tiangong No. 1" commercial data smart middleware +
HOSPITAL 160 "Woodpecker" smart health management and medical middleware
%b BRI "RE-R'ERANBEETS - SER"ERRRERRERTS

I

PHYSICAL
EXAMINATION CENTER 650 [ 1
quﬂr]},\ The data science models are applied in five The Woodpecker Health Management medical
fields: product operation, drug sales, market and knowledge graph gathers the consensus of more
public opinion monitoring, and consumer than 300 experts across 16 disciplines, covers 31
behavior analysis. disease types, 1,770 diseases, 801 individual
BENEEDERR . EREE. RSEE. indicators and 10 disease prediction risk models.
BREFEN . HRETANSEARANSE "EER'RREERSRNAEHRKETRICESN,
300+@R¢E, WE31EHE, 1,770@KRK, 801
{BE ISR OA KK R RIRE

ECOLOGICAL INDUSTRIAL PLATFORM
ERUNERTSE

CONFERENCE PLATFORM & & ¥ MEDIA MATRIX 3 {4 %5 &

= = S N £ . - [ e — Physician
OC:EF2 pimws W88 vEsiD Sesiste Sonn, £PiE. QYD Trseen B YABA R W0 oS5 e

The Group has established a leading portfolio of healthcare industry conferences/exhibition events and media services to build a valuable ecological chain for
industry participants. It is also the main scene of the Group's product marketing and "traffic monetisation”.
AEBEENERELSH/GRIDNENRBES, RTESHEREEALRE, IRERISEEREHR REER"NIERS.

CPEO held successfully for 16 sessions, has become a forward-looking industry conference with leading position in China's healthcare industry in terms of specifica-
tions, scale and influence. In 2023, there were 8,000 official participants and more than 50,000 participants, reaching a new high in scale.
BEESERNENTAE, BRAATERRELRIEESL. REEK. PENEENNEMEESE. 2023FALESEX2E52ES,000A, 2EAHBBEA, REBAFHS.

In December 2023, the first Traditional Chinese Medicine Ecological Conference was successfully held. With the purpose of "full chain integration, inheritance and
innovation", the conference promotes the high-quality development of the traditional Chinese medicine industry, and the industrial platform comprehensively and
deeply connected the traditional Chinese medicine industry.

2023128, HETBELRASANEH, AGULERE. FRAFN'ARES, KETPBEEXSESRRE, EXTEEREERTREELE,

During the Reporting Period, the PHCF was recognised as provincial project by Hainan Department of Commerce.
REMN, BRSESHRBERCAARER.

The media matrix covers a total of nearly one million industry professionals.
RESERBRETESEALESHESE,

HONORS AND CERTIFICATIONS

RERDBE

Guangzhou Big Data/ Artificial Intelligence Enterprise Database Registration Certificate
BENTASE ATISREEEETES

Guangzhou "100 Wisdom Gathering” Artificial Intelligence Innovation and Development List
BN TEEER AIBAEREE

The Top List of the Most Promising Artificial Intelligence Enterprises in Guangzhou,etc.
ENRABRENAISREEESS

Selected as the data service provider of Shenzhen Data Exchange, Guangzhou Data Exchange, Zhejiang Big Data Trading Center and Fujian Big Data Exchange.
NERNBEZZ . ENEERZFH. TABER S D ONBRABIERS TSR RES

Sinohealth Information and Zhongkang Technology respectively received a series of the ISO certifications on information technology, information security and private
information.
PREN. PRERRSIEBEREE. ERREREMERHTEN—RIISOBERRRE




Sinohealth Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IR E S

The following is a summary of the Group’s published
results and assets and liabilities for the past five financial
years. The financial information for the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2023 is extracted from the
consolidated financial statements of 2022 and this annual
report, and the financial information for the years ended
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 is extracted from the
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Prospectus.

Year ended 31 December

BZNANBLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

2023 2022% 20215 2020 20195

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR%Tnt ARBTn AR%Tn ARETx

Revenue WA 396,194 356,668 324,166 202,073 177,750

Cost of sales HERKA (172,722 (197,560) (131,527) (71,867) (71,654)

Gross profit eS| 223,472 159,108 192,639 130,206 106,096

Net profit 3 100,940 54,213 71,978 65,329 54,379
Profit Attributable to Owners &2 F#H AELET

of the Parent 102,032 55,758 78,813 67,926 56,089

Non-Current Assets FRBEE 188,477 94,285 16,609 35,046 17,389

Current Assets MBEE 609,264 702,188 500,414 507,161 423,462

Current Liabilities nBARE 84,261 97,789 96,138 55,282 37,59

Net Current Assets MBEEFE 525,003 604,399 404,276 451,879 385,366

Non-Current Liabilities ERBAR 13,026 5,448 4,974 22,300 7,329

Total Equity ERaE 700,454 693,236 415,911 464,625 395,926
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At CPEO held in 2023, we put forward our study results
on the industry titled “Dual Synergy Reshapes the Industry
— Opens a New Era of Personal Health Responsibility”,
that is, along with the increasing importance and concern
of national health, the “healthcare” demand is getting
greater than “medical” demand in the society. China is
entering into the new era of personal health responsibility,
so the promotion of healthcare industry will enter into
the new phase of concerted development of both serious
medical industry and consumer medical industry to meet
the national requirements for full life cycle health security
To meet the diversified and personalised healthcare
demands, the healthcare industry needs support of
massive data and digital tools, and health big data and
digital products will embrace explosive growth, driving
the reshaping of China’s healthcare industry profile.
The Group always adheres to the corporate mission of
“developing smart healthcare industry and promoting
smart healthy life”, moves forward actively, strives bravely,
and continues developing the three core technologies such
as big data, artificial intelligence and cloud computing,
to digitally boost the healthcare industry efficiency and
reshaping.

TEERERAF

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SR

Looking back to 2023, with joint efforts of all employees,
the Group made historical highs in operating results,
customer base, profitability, assets quality and other
indicators. Our SIC covered more than 100,000 chain
pharmacies, and could improve the efficiency of
business operations for pharmacies through membership
management, category management and other services.
By virtue of SIC extensive coverage and deep linkage at
pharmacy terminals, we helped medical product suppliers
accurately connect to pharmaceutical retail terminals
through marketing activities, industry conferences,
pharmaceutical services, professional training and other
services to expand the growth track for customers.
The Group provided clients with more than 30 Saa$S
products and professional insight services around
industry-leading data governance capabilities, digital
assets, and Al algorithm models, to meet the insight and
management requirements of medical product suppliers
in respect of consumers, medicine sales, sales terminal,
policy studies, and supply chain management, and
enable customers to realise efficient decision making
and market growth. In order to satisfy people’s health
culture level and increasing health management demands,
the Group promoted the AI-MDT system upgrading
and optimisation, added intelligent general inspection,
member management, post-examination health follow-up,
single-disease management and other functions driven
by Al technology and big data technology, providing
high quality health management services to physical
examination users based on personal features. As at 31
December 2023, our AI-MDT system interpreted more
than 2,400,000 physical examination reports cumulatively.
The Group is committed to applying leading technologies
to the health vertical field. For example, we developed
scientific research intelligent assistants for doctors and
innovative pharmaceutical companies by using Al large
language model, NLP, data governance, knowledge
graph and other technologies, and also developed digital
application services for pharmaceutical retail enterprises,
medical product suppliers, medical institutions, physical
examination institutions, doctors and other users.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

O E2023F BREZ2BEIMNAEXRZE L
AREEBNCEERE BFEHAE B &
EEEESHEEZEHMER TELT = &M
MSICERKEBEEZEBRIOBEREHEE BB
CEEE NECTERESREABEERAL
BEBEYR BESICEEERBNEZE
EMAEEER BRMBAPHEEH 17X
% BERE ZEZISRBEEDE
FENHESREERBETERR A
EENTRERBE - AEBEETEEL
MBIERERE N HTEE AEZXER.
ARFIRHEEBIB30ESaaSEmMMEE AR
R UneBEERBEREIEEES -
BEDEE HERE BRWARX HEEE
BEFTEHMRARERNEERT K PAHEK
FERSBARNMBEERE - Bw T AM
BEREEKEMTHRANERERES K
RNEBHEE TA-MDTEHZEN FRE - 1
0T BAAIE 1T A K S04 #2091 58 B) /9 %5 At 4
R ZEEE REREMED BEREETE
EWee  AREBABAFPFREEBEERFEERBEET
FNEEERREERS  BLE2023F12
A31H " A-MDTE & R 51 £ B 8 82408
MEBRBRE - AEBE KRR E L E
AREEEERSE fln KRMERAK
BERA NP HERE NBBEESH
M ABA BIFECEME T RIME
WF REBEETECE BEEREER -
EEKE BREE BESHAPA®BT
BT AERBRS -



—ECSEEER

off

With the development of traditional Chinese medicine
rising to a national strategy, the Group hosted the first
Traditional Chinese Medicine Ecological Conference,
aiming to promote the transformation of traditional
Chinese medicine research and development results
and scientific and technological innovation, the market
transformation of traditional Chinese medicine products,
the safety of traditional Chinese medicine raw materials
and the high-quality development of traditional Chinese
medicine, and build a traditional Chinese medicine
ecological platform. Our self-developed Sinohealth
Yunling system was launched at the conference, which
will help customers improve the supply chain management
of Chinese medicinal materials and empower the
development and innovation of the Chinese medicine
industry.

In the past year, we published China Pharmaceutical
Global Retail Market Insight Report 2022, Blue Book
of China’s Innovative Medicines, National Health Trend
Insight Report in the Post-Pandemic Era, Insight Report
on Immune Demand Jump, Blue Book 2023 of Consumer
Health Insights, Blue Book of Painless China Pain Category
Research and other professional industrial reports, offering
standard insight data and in-depth interpretation for
healthcare industry.

The year of 2024 is the starting year of “Data Elements
X" Three-Year Action Plan (2024-2026), leading the
healthcare big data industry to enter into the new phase
of regulated development, and provide new drive for the
long-term development of healthcare industry. Looking
forward, the medical and healthcare industry will show a
good anti-cyclical and development trend. According to
the forecasting of Sinohealth Industry Research Institute,
by 2030, China’'s healthcare industry scale will increase
from RMBO trillion in 2022 to RMB16 trillion, of which, the
scale of serious medical industry will reach RMB9.6 trillion,
representing a CAGR of 5.8%, and the scale of consumer
medical industry will reach RMB6.4 trillion, representing
a CAGR of 9.8%. In the long-term industry development,
industry participants will maintain high capabilities and
willingness of investment, while the rapid growth of
data-driven economy and related digital technology will
trigger higher demands for data insights and digital
services in the healthcare industry, and the demands for
product efficiency and service speciality will also increase
significantly.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
SR

The Group will enhance technical innovation capability and
research outcome translation capability, promote product
functions and service capabilities to match with industrial
demands accurately, by virtue of industry leading data
assets, Al algorithm model, rich industry experience and
cutting-edge insight capabilities, and establish long-term
advantage-sharing, benefit-win-win relationship with
customers during the long-term cooperation process. In
the process of serious — consumer medical industry synergy
and reshaping, to better grasp the industry development
trend and meet people’s increasing health demands, the
Group around the corporate vision of “world leading
digital technology company in life science field” builds the
development strategy of “in five years, building To B the
first development curve, To C the second development
curve, and To R the third development curve”, among
which, To B strategy is to build internal and external
business closed loop regarding data as the core resources,
and provide the healthcare industry with full chain digital
services; To C business is to insist on “patient-centrism”,
and provide individuals with full life cycle health
management and full disease course management;
To R business will focus on life science research and
development, improve research efficiency through
digital innovation, and focus on internal Traditional
Chinese medicine preparations conversion, introduction
of imported medical devices, conversion of innovative
medicine projects and other directions to provide
integrated digital solutions for the industry. By building the
three development curves, the Group will finally construct
the full life cycle health management closed loop based on
patient’s value, promote the digital transformation of the
health industry and create new driver of industrial growth
in the process of meeting market demand.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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We're grateful to all shareholders, partners and social
communities for their continuing supports to the Group.
We will continue promoting the in-depth application of
big data, Al, cloud computing and other technologies in
the field of healthcare technology, enable the increase
of digital level in healthcare industry, grow with industry
partners in the digital transformation and long-term
development, jointly build direct interaction service chains
connecting medial, pharmaceutical, patients, physical
examination and other processes, build a world leading
digital technology company in life science field, and bring
smart healthy life to more people.

Wu Yushu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
28 March 2024
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, China made every effort to promote the reform
of the medical system and the high-quality development of
the medical and healthcare industry, and people paid more
attention to their own health when improving the quality
of life, promoting China into a new era of individual
health responsibility, and medical product suppliers
focused on the transformation of the “individual-centered”
business model. The Opinions of the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and The State Council
on Building a Data Foundation System to Better Play the
Role of Data Elements put forward the construction of
a data foundation system and vigorously develop the
data-driven economy. The rapid development of the data
industry is promoting the health industry to accelerate
the restructuring of the industrial structure, and the
industrial entities such as medical product suppliers and
pharmaceutical retail enterprises prefer to the use of data
insight, digital construction and other tools to empower
product research and development, targeted marketing
and management decision-making scenarios.

With increasing demand for data services and data
products in the industry, leveraging on its data
advantages, technological advantages and market
advantages accumulated over 17 years of deep cultivation
in the health industry, the Group continuously enriched
the categories of products and services, provided
customers with one-stop products and services of “SaaS
+ professional service + industry ecological platform”,
and efficiently empowered customers in terms of digital
transformation, market expansion, client management
and decision making, enabling them to build efficient
decision making and targeted marketing capabilities,
improve their efficiency and achieve performance growth.
During the Reporting Period, our business model has
been highly recognized by the industry, with the scope of
customers covering major players in health industry such
as pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers,
pharmaceutical and medical device retailers, physical
examination institutions, medical institutions, and
innovative pharmaceutical enterprises. We had 1,288
corporate customers, increased by 44.6% from 891
corporate customers in the same period of FY2022, among
them, the repurchase sales rate of leading pharmaceutical
and medical device corporate customers reached 95.7%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Driven by the outstanding performance in the market, the
Group’s business indicators recorded new highs. During
the year, the operating revenue increased to RMB396.2
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 11.1%,
gross profit increased to approximately RMB223.5 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
40.5%, and gross profit margin increased from 44.6%
in FY2022 to 56.4% this year. Meanwhile, the Group
continued to implement its refined management, and
improved the efficiency of business management. Our
administrative expense ratio reduced by 4.2 percentage
points to 8.7%, and our sales cost decreased by
approximately 12.6% year-on-year from FY2022. The
Group's overall profitability further improved, and our
profit for the year increased by 86.2% year-on-year
to RMB100.9 million. Our net profit margin increased
by 10.3 percentage points year-on-year to 25.5%.
As of 31 December 2023, the Group had signed over
500 outstanding contracts with a total contract value
of approximately RMB154.1 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 79.2%, which laid
a good foundation for the Group’s business development
in 2024.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Smart Decision Cloud

The Group’s data-driven solution involves the entire
chain of medical device products from research and
development, production, distribution, marketing and
end-user retailing, and provided customers with an
integrated smart decision cloud solution, enabling the
pharmaceutical and medical device enterprises to establish
efficient decision-making capability and improve the
quality of decision making. Smart Decision Cloud products
are mainly designated for medical product suppliers, which
has maintained a leading position in terms of market size
and recorded sustainable growth.

As of 31 December 2023, 804 corporate customers
purchased our Smart Decision Cloud service, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 39.6% as
compared with FY2022. In 2023, the repurchase sales
rate of Smart Decision Cloud corporate customers reached
88.9%. During the Reporting Period, our revenue from
Smart Decision Cloud business increased from RMB182.7
million in FY2022 to RMB269.2 million in FY2023,
representing a year-on-year increase of 47.3%.

We built the Sinohealth digital decision service and
product system of “3 big data X3 big services + digital
insight SaaS system”, and created 3 big data types: 1)
retail market data, including retail, county, new retail, DTP
and other data; 2) consumer data, including consumer
drug purchasing behavior database and consumer
drug purchasing mind database; and 3) retail terminal
data, including drug sales potential data and pharmacy
characteristics big data. Through intelligent modeling,
we conducted interactive and multi-angle analysis of the
3 types of big data, and provided customers with three
categories of insight consulting services: 1) drug market
insight service; 2) consumer research insight service;
and 3) terminal accurate strategy information service, to
goods”

noou

empower multiple scenarios, covering “people”,
and “venue”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We provided our customers with an integrated Saa$S
system for decision making driven by data insight, and
helped them intelligently and visually manage market data,
conduct governance analysis on internal data and interact
with market data, and support the decision-making
process of production and marketing, market layout and
drug research and development with data insight results.
In 2023, the fastest response time of our self-developed
Lingsu System was up to T+3, which was in a leading level
the industry, can effectively support enterprises to make
fast decisions, and fully respond to the increasingly fierce
competition. We launched SinoHealth Yunling specific to
the segment market of Chinese herbal medicines, offering
herbal medicines production base database, production,
demand, and inventory, Chinese proprietary medicines
terminal sales data, price trend and other data, to help
enterprises make intelligent material cost estimation,
price trend analysis and data pivoting, and provide digital
decision making assistance in the “cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement” of enterprises.

Our platform events, like CPEO, the Pharmaceutical
Innovation Ecological Conference, the Healthcare Industry
Capital Summit and the Traditional Chinese Medicine
Ecological Conference, focused on health industry key
elites, and carried out multi-level and multidimensional
discussions covering such topic as from the prediction and
analysis of the development trend of health production
ecology to the exploration of paths in various branches,
which provided customers with forward-looking,
systematic exchange of ideas and information, strategic
integration and precise interaction of diverse resources,
so as to further improve the interconnection efficiency
between industries and promote resources optimal
allocation. More than 8,000 decision-making elites from
government agencies, domestic and foreign mainstream
brand industries, innovative drug enterprises and
innovative drug technology companies, mainstream
pharmaceutical businesses, retail enterprises, domestic and
foreign capital institutions, digital technology companies,
commercial insurance institutions, medical and health
service institutions as official representatives attended the
16th CPEO in 2023, with the total number of participants
exceeding 50,000, and recording a new high.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Smart Retail Cloud

After iterative upgrading, we integrated digital functions
such as member management, category management,
intelligent marketing, chronic disease management, and
pharmaceutical services with SIC as the core system, to
help pharmacies achieve functional upgrading, create a
“patient-centered” personal health management portal,
and improve the membership loyalty and consumption
willingness of our cooperative pharmacies. As of December
31, 2023, the Group had established cooperation with
more than 100,000 pharmacy stores for its SIC products,
and the number of cooperative pharmacies increased by
22% year-on-year, maintaining a rapid growth trend with
a leading position in the market. Our digital cooperation
with pharmacies also facilitated instant communication
and feedback processes for drug retail data, empowering
the Group’s overall business.
unique advantages of SIC, the Group has established
a "one-stop” data centralized analysis capability, data
marketing driven solution capability and digital precision
marketing capability under the pharmacy consumption
scenario, aiming to attract more pharmaceutical and
medical equipment enterprises and pharmaceutical retail

Leveraging on the

enterprises to join our business expansion plan.

During the Reporting Period, in order to improve business
profitability, we proactively reduced the products with
low gross margin and no business synergy, resulting in
a year-on-year decline in revenue, and we focused on
expanding digital targeted marketing professional services
with higher gross margin, driving a substantial increase
in the gross margin of Smart Retail Cloud service. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, 622 corporate customers
purchased our Smart Retail Cloud service, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 51.7% as
compared with FY2022. The overall repurchase sales rate
of corporate customers reached 84.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We utilized big data to process and analyse potential retail
pharmacy stores and end patients’ demands, preference
and behavior, provided pharmaceutical and medical device
enterprises with a wide range of products portfolio and
professional services including supply chain Management
Saa$S products, data-driven marketing solutions, digital
precision marketing plans and customised training, and
helped strengthen the in-depth interaction between
medical product suppliers and pharmacies, and between
pharmacies and patients, so that our customers could
effectively and accurately access to the target groups,
and helped patients improve their awareness and trust in
pharmaceutical products, thereby improving the treatment
effect and the healthy living standard and quality of life
of patients; we quantitatively evaluated the input-output
ratio of marketing programs through data insights, further
controlled the sales expenses, improved the level of
refined management of sales costs, and increased market
share and marketing profitability.

Meanwhile, through industry ecological platform, we
also held PHCF, MASC and other industry events, and
strived to promote the commodity trading and high
quality development of the health industry through
panoramic data analysis, policy trends interpretation,
health consumption new trends interpretation and product
display, etc.

Smart Health Management Cloud

For value-oriented health management, through medical
institutions and health management institutions, we
provide physical examination users and chronic disease
patients with Woodpecker AI-MDT health management
platform and supporting health management services.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

The Woodpecker AI-MDT system gathers the consensus of
more than 300 experts from tertiary-grade A class hospitals
across 16 disciplines, which on the basis of professional
medical guidance, constructs the medical knowledge
graph covering 31 disease types, 1,770 diseases and
801 individual indicators.Through Al technology and 10
major disease risk assessment models, The Woodpecker
AlI-MDT system makes a comprehensive analysis of physical
examination data, and provides users with personalised
health management solutions including medical treatment,
physical examination, diet and exercise. Unlike traditional
physical examination reports, AI-MDT is committed
to providing physical examination users with more
systematic, more detailed and more comprehensive expert
consultation physical examination reports. In 2023, we
established a relatively comprehensive health management
system in the post-examination stage focusing on the
needs of patients, equipped with health management and
single-type chronic disease digital therapy modules and
SCRM member management functions, which can meet
the health management requirements of patients for the
whole process after examination through early warning
and monitoring, chronic disease management, drug
purchasing, re-examination and continuous evaluation,
and meanwhile help physical examination centers build
a digital health management service system to improve
health management service capacity and income-increasing
capacity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Benefiting from its mature technology and differentiated
advantages, AI-MDT has been unanimously recognised by
cooperative customers and physical examination users.
In 2023, the operating revenue from our Smart Health
Management Cloud business increased to approximately
RMB14.1 million from RMB10.5 million in 2022,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
34.6%. At present, this business has begun to take shape
and has reached approximately 160 hospitals and 650
private physical examination centers. As of 31 December
2023, over 2.4 million users obtained physical examination
interpretations, and the maximum daily processing volume
of the AI-MDT system for the interpretation of physical
examination reports exceeded 30,000 cases.

Smart Medical Cloud

This business segment is committed to connecting major
participants of medical value chain, co-building the closed
ecology, providing medical device enterprises, medical
institutions and other participants in medical industry with
patient management comprehensive solution and research
efficiency improvement plan.

Benefiting from technological upgrading and market
development, our Smart Medical Cloud achieved an
operating revenue of approximately RMB41.4 million in
the financial year, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 12% as compared with FY2022, mainly
due to the increase in revenue from patient management
business. The average recognised amount per contract
for the purchase of the Group’s smart medical services
increased by approximately 24.3% from approximately
RMB724,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB900,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

The Smart Medical Cloud business segment focuses
on medical scenarios, with major businesses including
research SaaS platform, health industry digital human
and patients management service etc. The research SaaS
platform covers the full process of scientific research, from
topic choice, literature search to paper draft, which on
the basis of deep learning and multi-modal large language
models, increases the scientific research efficiency of
doctors; the Group integrates six main functions, namely
medical services, pharmaceutical services, psychological
support, remote intelligent testing, financial assistance
and home care, works with medical device enterprises and
medical institutions to provide more digital therapies in
the whole medical management process combining with
operation solutions for patients in private domain, and
creatively provides full process patient care service model
that effectively increases the continuity, convenience and
autonomy of patients in medical treatment process, and
meanwhile helps medical device enterprises and medical
institutions improve the patient management process.
As of 31 December 2023, we had served nearly 250,000
patients by providing patient management services for
pharmaceutical companies, effectively improving the
continuity, convenience and autonomy of patients in the
treatment process, and had been highly recognised by
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Three Core Competences

As a pioneer in the digitalisation of the healthcare
industry, the Group possesses cutting-edge innovative
technologies and profound data insights. Leveraging on its
industry-leading industrial cooperation network, technical
capabilities and industrial insight ability, the Group
continues to improve its product quality and professional
service capabilities, as well as increase its market share,
enhance the cooperation with its key customers and
expand its product portfolio and business scale, so as to
contribute to the long-term sustainable development of
the healthcare industry. We have established three core
competences in terms of broad cooperative network,
leading big data processing technology and ecological
industrial platform.

1) Industrial cooperation network. We focus on
scenarios such as pharmaceutical retail, physical
examination, clinical diagnosis and treatment, and
have established a broad cooperative network. As at
31 December 2023, we have reached 160 hospitals
and 650 physical examination centers, and covered
more than 120,000 pharmacy stores spanning 349
cities in 30 provinces, and the annual sales of our
partnering pharmacies exceeded RMB160 billion
in 2023, accounting for 30% of the national total
sales.
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24 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

The following table sets out the operations of the LTRAEBEBEZTESIERRE
Group's medical retail cooperative network: 25N -
As at As at
31 December 31 December  Year-on-year
2023 2022 change
BZ20235F A E2022%
12A31H 124318 [A] b &
Number of partnering medical A BEZTELEHE 1,735 1,497 16%
retail enterprises
Number of partnering pharmacy A {E&EFIEH E 129,555 106,153 22%
stores
Incl: Number of partnering Hep: B ASICEF 100,629 80,903 24%
pharmacy stores using SIC BEEEE
system g
Note: number of stores with data connectivity through id: FEANBBEBSIICERGERSHIBEER

SIC system during the year P E B E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Big data processing technology. Our core platform
for data processing has data processing and analysis
capabilities, which allows us to discover correlations
and patterns from raw data in the healthcare
industry, thereby cultivating insights and knowledge.
Through data governance, analysis, interpretation
and prediction, we provide industry participants with
SaaS products and professional services. In terms of
basic capabilities, we make technical constructions in
two aspects: (i) we focus on big data processing and
analysis, artificial intelligence and cloud computing.
On this basis, we established Sinohealth’s
standardised and structured master database,
including 38 master databases of the health industry
covering pharmaceutical retail, industry supervision,
medicine, pharmacy and life sciences, building a
complete master data labeling system, forming a
knowledge graph of mutual mapping between data,
so as to create a unified set of health data structured
standards. Under the construction of such basic
capabilities, our data processing capacity has great
improvements, machine automatic cleaning rate
exceeds 97%, accuracy rate exceeds 99%, and the
fastest response speed reaches T+1; (ii) for the two
different lines of medicine and medical care, we have
established the “Tiangong No. 1” commercial data
smart middleware + “Woodpecker”
management and medical middleware. Empowered
by the dual middlewares, our data mining capacity
has been improved. With our professional
knowledge, artificial intelligence models and data
insight capabilities, we provide customers with
standardised SaaS products, customised professional
services and overall solutions for various operational
scenarios.

smart health
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=6 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

The Group’s efforts in data technology and data
governance have been recognised by the relevant
authorities. Zhongkang Technology successfully
obtained a Certificate of Guangzhou Big Data/
Artificial Intelligence Enterprise Database Registration
(BEMNTREBAISELCEEEZLESE)
issued by Guangzhou Artificial Intelligence Industry
Development Promotion Association (& M ™ A
THEEEEXERIEES)in December 2023,
and was admitted into the Top List of “Intelligence
Cluster 2023" Artificial Intelligence Innovation and
Development and the Top List of the Most Promising
Artificial Intelligence Enterprises in Guangzhou,
evaluated by Guangzhou Municipal Science and
Technology Bureau, Guangzhou Municipal Bureau of
Industry and Information and Guangzhou Science and
Technology Progress Foundation, and was selected
as the data service provider of Shenzhen Data
Exchange, Guangzhou Data Exchange, Zhejiang Big
Data Trading Center and Fujian Big Data Exchange.
Sinohealth Information and Zhongkang Technology
respectively received a series of the ISO certifications
on information technology, information security and
private information, indicating the Group’s strong
capability and high standard to provide customers
with big data processing, privacy information
management and system operation services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ecological industrial platform. We have established
a leading portfolio of healthcare industry
conferences/exhibition events and media services
to build a valuable ecological chain for industry
participants. This platform was also the scenario
for the Group to conduct product marketing and
“traffic monetisation” to industrial customers, which
effectively reduced marketing costs and improved
marketing efficiency. For example, CPEO that we
held successfully for 16 sessions has become a
forward-looking industry conference with leading
position in China’s healthcare industry in terms
of specifications, scale and influence, providing
forward-looking and systematic exchanges of ideas
and information for the industry and realising the
strategic integration, cooperation and interaction of
diversified resources. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’'s PHCF was recognised as provincial
project by Hainan Department of Commerce.
The first Traditional Chinese Medicine Ecological
Conference with the theme “Full industry chain
linkage, high quality development” was successfully
held in December 2023, marking that the Group’s
industrial platform has been fully and deeply
connected with the traditional Chinese medicine
industry. In addition, our media platform matrix
has accumulated nearly one million professionals
including pharmaceutical retail experts,
pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers,
pharmacists, physicians, medical experts, industry
investors and others.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Outlook

With the rapid development of a new round of
information technologies represented by big data, cloud
computing and artificial intelligence, the digital economy is
undergoing a transformation from quantitative expansion
to qualitative improvement. In recent years, China’s digital
economy has flourished, and its proportion and status in
the national economy have increased significantly. In terms
of scale, China’s digital economy reached RMB50.2 trillion
in 2022, accounting for 41.5% of GDP; in terms of growth
rate, the nominal value of China’s digital economy in 2022
increased by 10.3% year-on-year, significantly higher
than the nominal GDP growth rate in the same period for
several consecutive years.

In order to give full play to the multiplier effect of data
elements and empower socioeconomic development, the
“Data Elements X" Three-Year Action Plan (2024-2026)
prepared by the National Data Bureau and relevant
departments proposes that by the end of 2026, the
average annual growth rate of the data industry will
exceed 20%, and the scale of data transactions will
double. In the field of medical and healthcare, we need
to further improve personal health data files, integrate
physical examination, medical treatment, disease control
and other data, expand new models and new formats
of data application such as smart medical care and
intelligent health management; we need to strengthen
the integration of multi-source data such as diagnosis
and treatment of traditional Chinese medicine and drug
use, support the systematic analysis of the efficacy, drug
interaction, indications, and safety of traditional Chinese
medicine, and promote the high-quality development of
traditional Chinese medicine.

In the context of the “Data Elements X" Three-Year
Action Plan, the Group will fully leverage its core strengths
such as data governance and application technology,
abundant health big data and industrial resources, and
accelerate the development of a “patient-centric” digital
full life cycle health management system in the medical
and healthcare field.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to fully grasp the characteristics of the health
industry and the development trends of the data-
driven economy, the Group will focus on three major
development directions: 1) expand the leading edge of
corporate business (“To B"”), open up the “in-hospital +
out-of-hospital” medical and pharmaceutical data through
iterative innovation of products and services, provide
high-quality SaaS products and professional services to
customers such as pharmaceutical retailers and medical
product suppliers, help customers make quick decisions
and seize the market, so as to continuously expand the
revenue scale and profitability of the Group’s corporate
business; 2) expand customer-end (“To C") health
service business, based on individual resident’s personal
requirements and health conditions, build the competitive
advantage of differentiated service capabilities through
big data, Al and cloud computing, provide the individual
health service platform including health management
and digital full course precision service, realise efficient
health management and high quality diagnosis and
treatment management, and increase individual health
level and diagnosis/treatment quality; 3) create digital
empowerment platform for biomedical R&D (“To R"), work
with major players such as medical institutions, innovative
drug enterprises, CRO companies, CMO companies,
pharmaceutical retail enterprises to establish an industrial
cooperation ecology, provide integrated solutions for
in-hospital preparations translation, innovation project
translation, foreign products introduction through digital
innovation services, and drive the investment, introduction,
R&D and promotion of medicine innovation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Smart Decision Cloud

In response to market competition, medical product
suppliers urgently require more efficient and in-depth
digital decision-making, all-channel monitoring, outlier
monitoring, business analysis and insight, and finding
competitive advantages to seize the market. To help
customers accelerate their digitalisation, the Group will:
(1) continue to introduce more B2C and 020 data sources
to improve the type and scale of data, build a diversified
and stable all-channel health industry data base, ensure
data quality, and improve data timeliness;(2) develop
potential models and prediction models, fully tap the
value of data, build a pharmaceutical all-channel research
system including databases, knowledge bases, business
models, data models, and policy information bases, and
support the development of more products and services;
(3) with “medicines, buyers, and pharmacies” as the core,
provide customers with in-depth insight and consultation
through services such as medicine market insight,
consumer research insight, and terminal precision strategy
research, and expand the market of leading customers;
(4) create a standard product system of data visualisation
SaaS tools to meet the common data monitoring
requirements of customers in the process of marketing
management and decision-making, help customers gain
timely and rapid insight into market data trend changes,
and improve decision-making efficiency. Through this
action, the Group will achieve rapid customer expansion
in the long-tail market and achieve rapid growth in the
revenue scale of SaaS products; and (5) provide flow data
governance tools and services, provide digital scenario
design and implementation planning services through
decision analysis models and combination of internal and
external data resources, help customers improve internal
human efficiency, promote change management and
accurately explore growth opportunities. This service will
help the Group unify data application standards from
within customers, develop industry standards, and further
enhance the Group’s voice in the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart Retail Cloud

Medical retail enterprises are facing many changes and
challenges such as digital transformation, increasing labour
costs, out-of-hospital market increment and strategic
transformation, while SIC will be committed to building
a system + service + content integrated solution, through
in-depth industry understanding, and the application of
digitalisation, Al and other sci-tech capabilities, assist
medical retail enterprises to better manage store staff,
improve expertise and execution, improve per capita sales
output, better operate members, improve member activity
and repurchase sales rate, and precipitate the behaviour
data of store staff and members, build an accurate
portrait to help medical retail enterprises achieve more
accurate decision-making, enhance customer trust and
achieve a win-win situation with customers through value
delivery, and promote SIC to connect more medical retail
enterprises.

Through SIC complete digital foundation and service
capabilities in the chain field, the Group has further
built a digital platform connecting medical retailers and
medical product suppliers, and through tools and services
such as Yilingtong, Lingtong, dynamic marketing and
digital marketing, the Group has helped medical product
suppliers improve the marketing efficiency of the retail
field, integrate more medical and health services, bring
more resources and business opportunities to chain
drugstores, and provide more effective medical and health
solutions for individual customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Smart Health Management Cloud

According to public available statistics, the number of
physical examinations in China has exceeded 500 million
per year, and according to comparable data, China’s
physical examination population may reach 870 million
per year, and with the improvement of national health
awareness, the number of physical examinations and the
demand for health management will continue to grow,
which will create a larger market space for Woodpecker
AI-MDT physical examination business.

As one of the important starting points for the Group
to expand personal business, the AI-MDT system will
continue to innovate and expand functions, and provide
physical examination institutions and hospitals with digital
overall solutions including intelligent general examination,
health management services, health follow-up SCRM and
other functions, help physical examination centers improve
the efficiency of general examination and member
management, create a full life cycle health management
service system for individual users, and finally provide
individual users with a variety of services such as AI-MDT
report services, health follow-up services for sub-healthy
populations, single-disease health management services
and personalised physical examination services, so as to
meet the diversified post-examination health management
needs of individual users. The Group will continue to
expand our presence in physical examination institutions
and hospitals, rapidly expand To C business, so that a
wider range of people can access AI-MDT and respond
to health management services, thereby improving the
individual health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart Medical Cloud

We will continue to expand our business layout,
enhance our data scale and explore more commercial
models. We will integrate existing resources and, help
innovative pharmaceutical and medical device companies
to effectively connect patients, doctors and experts in
the aspects of program design, intelligent systems and
operational services. Based on the network of hospitals
and experts accumulated in the big data platform and
the patient management services, and focusing on the
full life-cycle of pharmaceutical and medical devices
from clinical development to post-launch marketing, we
provide enterprises with personalised digital products,
including products for IP scientific research collaboration,
artificial intelligence and medical inter-disciplinary
research and the R&D of Al technology-based patient
management products, thereby rapidly achieving the best
commercialisation solutions.

The technological and resource advantages achieved by
Smart Medical Cloud will also lay an important foundation
for the Group to expand its C-side business. In the future,
the Group will build full course management service digital
platform for individual patients, help them precisely match
with multi-disciplinary expert team, develop high quality
comprehensive diagnosis and treatment plans, connect
with the most suitable medical resources and fully improve
the curing effects.

In the long-term development of health industry and digital
element industry, the Group will continue to explore and
practise in the field of health industry services, improve
product quality and professional service capabilities, to 1)
provide digital applications and solutions for enterprises;
2) provide personalised high quality health services for
individual users; 3) provide digital empowerment for the
innovations in life science field, build industry benchmark
and leading capabilities, and actively drive the high-quality
development of the medical and healthcare industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

In FY2023, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately
11.1%, from approximately RMB356.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB396.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in revenue from
Smart Decision Cloud segment.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales primarily consisted of (i) costs
related to the daily operation and maintenance of our
solutions and products and our employee benefits; (ii)
costs associated with our marketing campaigns and
provision of services to our clients; and (iii) event costs
mainly relating to venue and equipment rentals, event
planning and organisation services fees, accommodation
and catering costs. The Group’s cost of sales decreased
by approximately 12.6%, from approximately RMB197.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB172.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, mainly due to the improvement
of efficiency of the Group’s business operations and
management, resulting in further control of the cost of
sales.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately
40.5%, from approximately RMB159.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB223.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.The gross
profit margin increased from approximately 44.6% for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 56.4%
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains primarily consisted of (i) bank
interest income; (ii) government grants; and (iii) foreign
exchange gains. The Group recorded other income and
gains of approximately RMB41.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 9.5% as compared with approximately
RMB37.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Such increase was mainly attributable to an increase in
bank interest income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i)
benefit expenses for employees responsible for sales and
marketing functions; (ii) travel and transportation expenses
related to offline marketing campaigns, the development
and maintenance of customer relationship and production
of advertising materials; and (iii) general office expenses.
Selling and distribution expenses increased approximately
2.4%, to approximately RMB32.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB31.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly
attributable to an increase in employee benefits expenses.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consisted
of (i) employee benefits expenses; (ii) other expenses.
The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 24.9%, from approximately RMB46.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB34.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, primarily due to an decrease in the
listing expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Research and Development Costs

The Group’s research and development costs primarily
consisted of (i) employee benefits expenses; (ii)
depreciation of right-of-use assets and (iii) technology
services fees and general office expenses. The
Group’s research and development costs increased by
approximately 1.1%, from approximately RMB60.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB61.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, primarily due to an increase in employee benefits
expenses.

Profit before Tax

The Group's profit before tax increased by approximately
103.3%, from approximately RMB54.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB110.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due
to an increase in gross profit.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense increased by
approximately 3,655.2%, from approximately RMBO.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB9.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, primarily due to an increase in our
profit before tax.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased by approximately 86.2%, from approximately
RMB54.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB100.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
financed its operations mainly through cash generated
from the Group’s operating activities and the net
proceeds from the Global Offering. The Group intends to
continuously finance its expansion and business operations
using a combination of cash generated from operating
activities and the net proceeds from the Global Offering.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group maintains a strong cash position. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB123.9
million, representing an decrease of approximately 69.7%
from 31 December 2022, mainly due to the placement of
certain idle funds in licensed financial institutions as time
deposits by the Group.

Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did
not have any short-term or long-term bank borrowings
and had no outstanding bank and other borrowings and
other indebtedness apart from lease liabilities for the
relevant lease terms amounting to approximately RMB14.2
million in aggregate.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total
liabilities by total equity, was approximately 13.9% as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately
14.9%).

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures and are
subject to foreign currency risk arising from fluctuations in
exchange rates between RMB and US$. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arose from its cash and cash equivalents
in US$. The Group is currently not engaged in hedging
activities that are designed or intended to manage foreign
exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor
foreign exchange activities and make its best efforts to
protect the cash value of the Group.

Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any of
its assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

In FY2023, the Group's capital expenditures were mainly
incurred for the acquisition of equipment and software
and renovation of leased properties, which remained at a
limited level of approximately RMB3.4 million, representing
an decrease of approximately 18.5% as compared with
the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group intends to
fund future capital expenditures from cash balance, cash
generated from operating activities and proceeds from
the Global Offering. The Group will continue to incur
capital expenditures to meet the expected growth of the
business, and may reallocate funds for capital expenditures
and long-term investments based on the Group’s ongoing
business needs.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material
litigation against the Group.

Significant Acquisitions or Disposals and Future
Plans for Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

As at 31 December 2023, none of each individual
investment held by the Group constituted 5% or more of
the total assets of the Group, and there is no future plan
for any material investment or capital assets.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

REREREARBX

20230 F AEEEAREZETEREKEMN
HRBWBLEEMEREBRELS  DRE
ROARKIABETHERKE REE
2022F12A31H IEFE R P £185% o &
SEBHUNBERTESR LEEHHAER
ReERERBENMEREBEIMNAREKER
AT AEEBEBEEELEEARAST UM
EEBNBEHERE UARERBREAEEF
BREBTERBRECEN»EUARER
A kREIRE -

FABBERER

HZE2023F12A31B  ASE T EMEME
ANIABE ERIHTEAEENHTEM
BARFD -

EXARBIHERETERERKTE

HZE2023F12H31H A& B A& 5 B
NE BELCEREELEETEMERK
Wk & EIE -

HZE2023F 128318 AEEHENTE
REHY T BERAEBBEEMNS%EI A L
BARARIMNEEREKEHEARAEEE -



—ECSEEER

off

TEERERAF

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and Staff Costs

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of
759 (31 December 2022: 680) full time employees, all
of whom were located in Mainland China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group recognised staff costs of
approximately RMB148.0 million, representing an increase
of approximately 1.4% as compared with FY2022.

The following table sets forth the number of employees by
function as at 31 December 2023:
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Function B gE A 7 tt 61
Solutions and Products R R REm 328 43%
Research and Development ot #& 232 31%
Sales and Marketing iH & B2 i 118 16%
General and Administrative #B1% B 1T I 81 10%
Total & &t 759 100%

Employees are the valuable assets and the foundation for
sustainable development of the Group. The Group highly
appreciates the career development of its employees, and
we have developed a comprehensive vocational training
system and a sound remuneration and promotion system
to continuously train, attract and retain talents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsT Kk D iR

Leveraging on our influence and expertise in the industry,
we are able to continue to attract outstanding versatile
talents. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has 185
employees with medical expertise, 93 employees with
pharmaceutical expertise and 145 employees with
computer science expertise.

In addition, the Company has adopted the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Scheme to motivate talented
employees and attract talented persons for the further
development of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information, a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into an Equity Transfer Agreement
and a Partnership Property Share Transfer Agreement
with Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (s L& EREKREE ¥ ¥ (B
R & #%)) for the acquisition of 50.6% equity interests
in Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical Technology Company
Limited (“Zhonghui Medical”) at a consideration of
RMB12,238,921. For details of the acquisition, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 5 February
2024.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant
events to be disclosed from 31 December 2023 up to the
date of this report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Yushu (also known as Wu Han), aged 48, is the
chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director of
the Company.Mr. Wu is in charge of the overall strategic
planning and general management and daily operation
of the Group. Mr. Wu has been a director of each of the
Group’'s major subsidiaries since the establishment of
the Group in December 2007 and has been an executive
Director and Chairman of the Nomination Committee of
the Company since 4 March 2019.Mr. Wu has over 20
years of experience in healthcare information and data
analysis industries. Prior to the establishment of Sinohealth
Information, the principal subsidiary of the Group, from
July 1997 to December 2007, Mr. Wu served as the
general manager of information center of NMPA Southern
Medicine Economic Research Institute (“SMERI"”). During
his service period in SMERI, he also served as the general
manager of the operating company of Medical and
Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted by SMERI.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in international
trade from Guangdong University of Finance & Economics
(formerly known as Guangdong College of Commerce) in
the PRC in June 1997.

Mr. Wu is the spouse of Ms. Wang, the chief operating
officer and executive Director of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Wang Lifang, aged 49, is an executive Director and
the chief operating officer of the Company. Ms. Wang is
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations and
management of the Group. Ms. Wang has served as an
executive Director of the Company since 3 June 2021 and
is also a member of the Remuneration Committee. She
currently holds directorship in Sinohealth Information.
Ms. Wang has over 20 years of experience in healthcare
information and data analysis industry. From July 1997
to December 2007, Ms. Wang held several positions,
including vice general manager of the operating company
of Medical and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper
hosted by SMERI and a journalist of the said newspaper.
In December 2008, she joined Sinohealth Information to
assist Mr. Wu in the business development of the Group
and has since engaged as the director and executive
general manager.

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in international
economics from Harbin Institute of Technology in the PRC
in July 1997.

Ms. Wang is the spouse of Mr. Wu, the chairman and
chief executive officer and an executive Director.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Fu Haitao, aged 43, is a non-executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director on 3 June 2021. From
January 2006 to August 2009, Mr. Fu worked as an
officer of the government affairs department of Sun
International Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Guangzhou Sun Engineering Consulting Co.,
Ltd), a company principally engaged in road and piping
engineering. Since September 2009, Mr. Fu has been the
head of president office of Daxiongfeng Venture Capital
Co., Ltd, which is controlled by Ms. Wu Meirong and her
spouse, Mr. Li Hanxiong.
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Mr. Fu obtained a diploma in economics and management
from Jinan Army Academy, an internal military training
institute, which was then supervised by the Jinan Military
Region of the Chinese People’s Liberation Army in the PRC
in June 2004. Mr. Fu further obtained a diploma in human
resource management through attending long-distance
courses from Xidian University in the PRC in January 2019.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 54, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 27 April 2022. Mr. Wei is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wei is responsible
for supervising the management of the Group and
providing independent judgment to the Board. Mr. Wei
is currently a senior partner in the Asset Management
Department of CDH Investment Asset Management (Hong
Kong) Limited (R EREEEET IR (FEE)BER A A, an
independent non-executive director of Honghua Group
Limited (stock code: 196), and an independent director
of Huize Holding Limited, a NASDAQ-listed company
(NASDAQ: HUIZ). Mr. Wei served as the chief accountant
and chief financial officer of China Resources (Holdings)
Limited (Z£ )8 (&£ E)A R A 7)) and an executive director
of OCI International Holdings Limited (stock code: 329).
Mr. Wei has nearly 30 years of experience in complex
transaction, mergers and acquisitions and corporate
management.

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in auditing from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, and a
master’s degree in finance from Jinan University. Mr. Wei
is a senior accountant and a senior auditor in the PRC, and
also a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Ms. Wang Danzhou, aged 60, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director, chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee on 27 April 2022.
She was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Sinohealth Information from December 2017
to June 2021. Ms. Wang is responsible for supervising the
management of the Group and providing independent
judgment to the Board.

Ms. Wang has around 35 years of experience in accounting
education. Since January 1989, Ms. Wang has worked in
the department of accounting of Jinan University, and is
currently a professor in the department of accounting of
Jinan University. Ms. Wang has served as an independent
non-executive director of several listed companies such
as Bluedon Information Security Technology Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 300297), Guangdong Brandmax Marketing
Co., Ltd., (stock code: 300805), Guangzhou Anbiping
Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 688393)
and Kennede Electronics MFG Co,. Ltd. (Stock code:
002723).

Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting and
a master’s degree in administration from Jinan University,
and a doctor’s degree in financial management from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.

Ms. Du Yilin, aged 39, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director, and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee on 27 April 2022. Ms. Du is responsible for
supervising the management of the Group and providing
independent judgment to the Board.
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From September 2007 to May 2014, Ms. Du worked as
a senior auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian
LLP Guangzhou office. From May 2014 to April 2016,
Ms. Du served as the chief financial officer of Kangze
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.. From October 2017 to January
2019, Ms. Du worked as a project director for healthcare
mergers and acquisitions department at Fosun United
Health Insurance Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Fosun International Limited (stock code: 0656). Since
January 2019, Ms. Du has served as the chief financial
officer of Guangdong Hemai Hospital Management Co.,
Ltd.

Ms. Du obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Sun Yat-sen University, and a master’s degree in health
economics from the University of Queensland in Australia.
Ms. Du has been a non-practicing member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and was admitted
as a certified accountant from the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants in December 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management is comprised of the executive
Directors of the Company (whose biographies are set out
above) and the following members:

Ms. Yi Xuhui, aged 52, is the chief financial officer of
the Group. She joined the Group in March 2020 and
is responsible for overseeing financial and accounting
management, internal control and securities and
compliance matters of the Group. Ms. Yi has over 20
years of experience in accounting and finance. From
October 1998 to February 2004, Ms. Yi served as a
senior auditor at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Shanghai
Certified Public Accountants Ltd Guangzhou Branch
and PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian (Guangzhou
office), respectively.From November 2008 to July 2009,
she worked as the chief finance officer of Guangzhou
G2 Star Commercial Information Consulting Company
Limited.From July 2009 to September 2013, she served
as the financial manager of the PRC of Intertek Testing
Services Shenzhen Ltd. Guangzhou GDD Branch, which is
a subsidiary of Intertek Group Plc (stock code: iktsy). From
June 2014 to September 2019, Ms. Yi served as a director,
chief financial officer and board secretary of Guangdong
Insight Brand Marketing Group Co., Ltd. (stock code:
300781). From June 2021 to March 2024, Ms Yi served as
the joint company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Yi obtained a bachelor’s degree in statistics from Jinan
University in the PRC in June 1994. Ms. Yi was admitted
as a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in December 2010.
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Mr. Su Caihua, aged 49, is the chief data officer and the
vice president of the Group. Mr. Su joined the Group in
January 2008 and is responsible for development of big
data and data insight solutions business of the Group.

From May 2002 to March 2003 and from March 2005
to April 2007, Mr. Su served as the research director of
Guangzhou Shipu Medical and Pharmaceutical Information
Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged in provision of
marketing information consulting services, which was then
managed by SMERI prior to its deregistration in November
2011.

Mr. Su obtained the bachelor’s degree in prophylaxis from
Zhejiang University in the PRC in September 1999.

Mr. Li Junguo, aged 49, is a vice president of the Group.
Mr. Li joined the Group in April 2009 and is responsible
for overseeing the sales and marketing business, industrial
resources analysis, exhibition planning and operation,
public relationship and advertisement design of the Group.

From March 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Li served as
director of the special issue department and manager of
operating department of the operating company of the
Medical and Pharmaceutical Economic Newspaper hosted
by SMERI. Since September 2020, Mr. Li has served as
the independent director of Ruirentang Medical and
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged in
the operation of retail pharmacies.

Mr. Li obtained the bachelor’s degree in history from
Beijing Normal University in the PRC in July 1996.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wan Chuan, aged 37, was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company on 28 March 2024.
He joined the Group in November 2022 as the head of
securities affairs, and was appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on 28 March 2024. Mr. Wan
has over 12 years of experience in capital operation,
investment and merger and acquisition, corporate
governance, information disclosure, regulatory compliance
and investor relations management. Prior to joining the
Group, from October 2011 to March 2017, Mr. Wan
worked at Guangdong Rising Asset Management Co., Ltd.,
responsible for investment and mergers and acquisitions,
market value management, capital operation and industry
research; from April 2017 to November 2022, he served
as assistant to the chairman of the board of directors,
securities representative and head of the operational
management department of Dongjiang Environmental
Company Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002672.5Z7) and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 00895.HK)
respectively, and during the period, he was responsible for
investor relations management, information disclosure and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance, operational
management and strategic planning.

Mr. Wan obtained a bachelor's degree in tourism
management from Sun Yat-sen University in July 2009
and a master’'s degree in international marketing from
University of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom in
September 2011. Mr. Wan obtained the qualification
certificate for board secretary from the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in 2019.
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Ms. Zhang Xiao, aged 36, was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company on 3 June 2021.
Ms. Zhang is an assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a
professional corporate services provider, and has over
ten years of experience in the corporate secretarial field.
Ms. Zhang has been admitted as an associate member of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom
in 2019.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Computer
Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
2010 and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance
from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2018.
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The Board is pleased to present the Group's annual report
and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted limited company on 4 March 2019. The
Company's shares were listed on the main board of Stock
Exchange on 12 July 2022 under the stock code 2361.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

Providing digital intelligence solutions based on big data,
artificial intelligence and cloud computing, the Group has
taken the lead in realizing commercial profits of healthcare
data, and has opened up the industry-wide data chain, and
currently occupies an industry-leading position in the scale
of out-of-hospital data and corporate SaaS customers.

We provide customers with SaaS products driven by
big data and customized professional services for the
four major scenarios of pharmaceutical terminal retail,
pharmaceutical marketing decision-making, health
management (physical examination) and medical
treatment, and build a healthcare industry ecological
platform with professional conferences and media matrix
as the core to comprehensively improve customers’
efficient decision-making and targeted connection
capabilities, continuing to help the smart transformation
and upgrading of the healthcare industry.

A list of the principal subsidiaries of the Company together
with details of their incorporation and place of operation,
principal activities and issued shares/registered share
capital are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
in this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review for the year ended
31 December 2023, as well as the discussion and analysis
on the Group’s future business development and the main
financial and operating indicators used by the directors
to measure the Group’'s performance are set out in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report. The aforesaid discussion forms part of
this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business operations and results may be
affected by various factors, including external factors and
factors inherent in the Group’s business. A summary of
certain principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
is set out below:

J The risk arising from the decline in customer
demand of the Group for digital analysis and
decision making, marketing consulting services, etc;

J The risk arising from failure to improve the whole
life-cycle management ability of data collection,
management, processing and use;

o The risk arising from failure to maintain and expand
the data collection network of the Group;

o The risk of failing to innovate and adapt to rapid
advances in big data, artificial intelligence and other
technologies;

o The risk that the Group’s new product development
and business layout fail to meet expectations;

J The risk of failing to comply with or respond in a
timely manner to laws and regulations relating to
data protection and privacy;

TEERERAF

DIRECTORS' REPORT
E5EBHRS

XK EE

REBEZE2023F12A3MBIEFEZEH
EE BEEASERKREBHBERE 2 mH
S EEMERAGEEAEBRERRRZ
TEYBREERBESERNLTFRNE
BEENwmEDN] — - Ll mBk AR

EFe®RE o

FTERRRAEBERR
AEENERBEL2EREEURIETRESR
TE O BRINBEAREAKEEXHEAR
R TXINHWAKREEBNE TEZRAR
ETHEREME :

. AEENEFPHBRF(ED T ERE
SHBEARBEEFTRTEST RN E

&

. AERABENRE RBE - MIT-
ERE4AEnBEREEENNAR

. AERFTLBRASENHERSE
WMEELENRER

. RERHALBRAEIE ATERER
H £ iy B9 BR R 2 R B R B

. AEBEHFEMRBEREZRMBE RE

B8 A R

. AEBTHILKOREREBEERE
MELBBEEREIRNRAR

91



a2

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEBHRS

J The risk of increasing market competition for big
data solutions in the healthcare industry where the
Group engages in;

J The risk related to industry, business and operations.

The above list is not exhaustive. Investors are advised to
make their own judgement or consult their investment
advisors before investing in the Shares.

The Company believes that risk management is essential
to the efficient operation of the Group. The management
will assist the Board in evaluating each major risk in
the Group’s business operations and actively establish
appropriate risk management and internal control
mechanisms and incorporate them into the daily operation
management.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

Use of proceeds from the listing

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange since 12 July 2022. The net proceeds from
the Global Offering (including the partial exercise of the
over-allotment option and after deduction of underwriting
commissions and related costs and expenses) were
approximately HK$339.6 million (the “Net Proceeds”). It
will be used for the purposes set out in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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The intended application of the Net Proceeds as stated
in the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the Net
Proceeds since the Listing Date and up to 31 December
2023 is set out below:
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Utilised et Utilised Net
Approximate Actual Proceeds Proceeds Unutilised
percentage Allocation as at during the  balance as at
of the Net of the Net 31 December Reporting 31 December Expected timeline
Proceeds Proceeds 2022 Period 2023  for the use of the balance
BZAnF HEBE
5% EBE 1A e 12A31H
REFE ARAB EBA EBA 2N )i
Aol RERE REFE RERE NeE REDRGEONE
%  (HKS million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)  (HKS million)
Planned Use of FEREAREHE
Net Proceeds R# % BEAR BEAT BEAT BEAT
Upgrade and enhance ENREHA 50.8 1725 45 36.5 1315 By 31 December 2025
SaaS products SaaS E & 2005512831 M A
R&D technologyand data ~~ HEKI K 492 167.1 30 16.4 1477 By 31 December 2025
warehouse HERE 2005128318 M A
Total At 100% 3396 75 529 2792

As of 31 December 2023, the net proceeds have been and
will be used in accordance with the purposes set out in
the Prospectus, and there has been no material change or
delay in the use of the net proceeds.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK7.25 cents per Share for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the "Proposed Final Dividend”).
Subject to approval of Shareholder at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, the dividend will
be paid on or around Wednesday, 25 September 2024
to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company at the close of business on
Thursday, 27 June 2024. No shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend for the financial year ended
31 December 2023.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report. As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s
distributable reserves calculated in accordance with the
Cayman Companies Act include share premium accounts
and other reserves, totaling approximately RMB510.6
million (2022: approximately RMB506.0 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the changes in share capital of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note
24 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge the Directors, the
public float of the Company has satisfied the percentage
prescribed in the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group and
has obtained important licenses, approvals and permits
in relation to its business operations. For the year ended
31 December 2023, there was no material breach of, or
non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by
the Group.
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LITIGATION

No litigation or claim of material importance is pending or
threatened against any member of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any outstanding bank loans and other borrowings.

OUTLOOK

A description of the future business development of the
Group is set out in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and the relevant laws of Cayman
Islands where the Company was incorporated, and there is
no restriction against such rights which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
issue any debentures.
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Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 22.6%
of the Group's total purchases, and the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 7.2% of the Group’s
total purchases.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (who or which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, held more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers.

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 20.7%
of the Group’s total revenue and the Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 8.0% of the
Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders of
the Company (who or which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, held more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares of the Company) had any interest in any of the
Group's top five customers suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility,
promoting employee benefits and development, protecting
the environment and giving back to community and
achieving sustainable growth. During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not face any relevant risks. For details,
please refer to the section headed “ESG Report” in this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS
As of 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report,
the current directors are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Lifang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Danzhou

Ms. Du Yilin

Mr. Wei Bin

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management members are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors entered into
a service contract with the Company, and each of the
Company’s non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors have signed letters of appointment
with the Company. The service contracts with each of the
executive Directors and the letters of appointment with
each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive directors are for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from 27 April 2022 in the case
of the executive Directors and from the Listing Date in the
case of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors. The service contracts and letters
of appointment may be terminated in accordance with
the respective terms thereof. The service contracts may
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules.
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According to Article 108 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Wang Lifang and Ms. Du Yilin shall retire by rotation
at the AGM and shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee for reviewing the Group's remuneration
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group. The remuneration
is recommended or determined based on qualification,
position and seniority of each Director and senior
management.

As for the non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration,
and no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, and the Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the changes in information
of Directors and senior management are as follows:

Ms. Wang Danzhou resigned as an independent
non-executive Director of Kennede Electronics MFG. Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 002723) in June 2023.

Mr. Wei Bin resigned as a non-executive Director of
OCI International Holdings Limited (stock code: 329) in
September 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 759
employees. The following table sets forth the number of
employees by function as at 31 December 2023:
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1h 4 A

Function B ge A 79 tt 61
Solutions and Products BRARATT R RE @ 328 43%
Research and Development it #& 232 31%
Sales and Marketing iH & B = i 118 16%
General and Administrative H % B 1T IR 81 10%
Total A &f 759 100%

Employees are the valuable assets and the foundation
for its sustainable development of the Group. The Group
attaches great importance to the career development of
its employees, and we have developed a comprehensive
vocational training system and a sound remuneration
and promotion system to continuously cultivate, attract
and retain talents. As of 31 December 2023, among
the employees of the Group, 185 employees had
medical background, 93 employees had pharmaceutical
background and 145 employees had computer science
background, respectively.

In addition, the Company has adopted Share Option
Schemes and Share Incentive Schemes to motivate talented
employees and attract talented people for the further
development of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) by way of a written resolution
passed by all the then Shareholders on 27 April 2022, for
the purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible
persons for their contribution to, and continuing efforts
to promote the interests of, the Group and for such other
purposes as the Board may approve from time to time.
During the Reporting Period, no options were granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time
or part time), consultant or advisor of the Group who in
the sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or
will contribute to the Group) to subscribe for such number
of Shares in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the maximum
number of the Shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme,
new Scheme and all other schemes of the Company
then existing must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date i.e.
45,000,000 Shares, accounting for 9.96% of the total
number of Shares in issue.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number
of option shares granted or to be granted by Eligible
Participants shall not exceed 1% in aggregate of the
Shares in issue as at the date of such grant.
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The subscription price for a Share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to all eligible person and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer to grant option; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer to grant option; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Share. A consideration of RMB1.00
is payable on acceptance of the offer of an option or
options.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years from the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme by Shareholders
by resolution at a general meeting. Therefore, as at
31 December 2023, the remaining term of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately eight years.

As of 31 December 2023, no options were granted by the
Company, nor any options were exercised, canceled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme, and there were no
outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme as at
the above date.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on
5 December 2022 for the Purpose of recognising the
contributions by certain Eligible Participants to retain them
for the continual operation and development of the Group
and to attract outstanding talents for further development
of the Group.

Eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme include
employees of the Company, its subsidiaries or holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries and associated Companies
(the “Eligible Participants”).
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The Board shall not make any further grant of award such
that the total number of Shares granted under the Share
Award Scheme will exceed 10% of the total number of
issued Shares as of the adoption date. On the basis that
the total number of issued Shares as of the adoption date
is 451,770,000 Shares, the aforesaid 10% limit represents
a total of 45,177,000 Shares.

The Board or authorized representative, in its sole
discretion, selects any Eligible Participant to participate
in the Share Award Scheme as a Selected Participant and
determines the number of Award Shares to be granted to
each Selected Participant and the terms and conditions
under which the Award Shares may vest, provided that the
maximum number of awards shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company in any twelve-month
period.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the Board, the Share Aware Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of ten years commencing on
the adoption date, after which no further awards will be
granted. As of 31 December 2023, the remaining term of
the Share Award Scheme is approximately 9 years.

On 5 December 2022, the Company appointed Futu
Trustee Limited as the Trustee for the Share Award
Scheme. Futu Trustee Limited is a trust company registered
under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29
of the Laws of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent
of and not connected with the Company and/or any of its
connected persons.

As at 31 December 2023, the Trustee, as instructed by
the Board, purchased a total of 36,813,500 Shares on the
market, representing approximately 8.13% of the total
number of Shares of the Company in issue.

As at 31 December 2023, no award was granted by the
Company, nor any award was exercised, canceled or
lapsed under the Share Award Scheme, and there was no
award outstanding under the Share Award Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or recorded in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the Model Code, were as follows:
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Long Positions

of Shares
&% R
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Director or Capacity/ Number of interest in the
chief executive Nature of interest Shares Total Company’
BEDAW
EaBA
ES BRTHABRSE 55/ RntE & 4 & B gt B!
Mr. Wu Yushu? Interest of controlled
corporation
REFELAL? REEEES 248,737,500
Interest of spouse
Ao B 20,250,000
268,987,500 59.54%
Ms. Wang Lifang? Interest of controlled
corporation
FFIT L2 RELE S 87,750,000
Interest of spouse
AL B #E a 181,237,500
268,987,500 59.54%
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of
451,770,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

2. Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and

are deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark
Link Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Wellmark Link Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns
WLF Investment Holdings Limited and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by WLF Investment Holdings
Limited. Wellmark Link Limited is the general partner of
Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership and Ms.
Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings Limited, holds
approximately 62.8866% interests in Rikan Industry
Investment Limited Partnership. They are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Rikan Industry Investment

Limited Partnership.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware,
as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short
positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or (ii) recorded in the register kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:
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Long Position

in the Shares

&6 TR
Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/Nature of Number of interest in the
Name interest Shares Total Company'
RN )
ERBN
e/ L8 56 EntE & 4 8 B # ot Bk
WELLMARK LINK LIMITED? Beneficial owner
BERRRDA? ERBEAA 181,237,500
Interest of controlled
corporation
REEEES 67,500,000
248,737,500 55.06%
WIf Investment Holdings Limited?  Beneficial owner
ERBEAA 20,250,000
Interest of controlled
corporation
REEE S 67,500,000

87,750,000 19.42%
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Long Position
in the Shares
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B % H# e
Approximate
percentage of
Capacity/Nature of Number of interest in the
Name interest Shares Total Company’
RN B
=B
HE/EB 56/ HEatE igng 4= ot B!
Rikan Industry Investment Limited ~ Beneficial owner
Partnership?
EREAA 67,500,000 14.94%
Montesy Capital Holding Ltd.> Beneficial owner
EafEAA 68,512,500 15.17%
Ms. Wu Meirong? Interest of spouse
REBRL? (R 68,512,500 15.17%
Mr. Li Hanxiong? Interest of controlled
corporation
FRELES REEEER 68,512,500 15.17%
Mr. Yu Rong* Interest of controlled
corporation
A& 5 REEE# R 22,854,250 5.06%
Futu Trustee Limited Trustee
BERETERRAA REEA 36,721,500 8.13%
Shanghai Tianyi Assets Interest of controlled
Management Co., Ltd* corporation
TBREEEEEARAR XBZEZE#R 22,854,250 5.06%
Notes: K& -
1. The calculation is based on the total number of 1. #H E2023F12A31BE #1TR MO A X

451,770,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

451,770,000 f% 5t & o
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2. Mr. Wu and Ms. Wang are the spouse of each other, and
are deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other. Mr. Wu wholly owns Wellmark
Link Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Wellmark Link Limited. Ms. Wang wholly owns
WLF Investment Holdings Limited and is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by WLF Investment Holdings
Limited. Wellmark Link Limited is the general partner of
Rikan Industry Investment Limited Partnership and Ms.
Wang, through WLF Investment Holdings Limited, holds
approximately 62.8866% interests in Rikan Industry
Investment Limited Partnership. Therefore, they are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Rikan
Industry Investment Limited Partnership.

3. Montesy Capital Holding Ltd is owned by Mr. Li Hanxiong
and Ms. Wu Meirong as to 70% and 30%, respectively.
Mr. Li Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are the spouse of
each other, and are therefore deemed to be interested in
any Shares in which one another is interested. Therefore,
both Mr. Li Hanxiong and Ms. Wu Meirong are deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Montesy Capital
Holding Ltd.

4. Tianyi (BVI) Limited and Jiequan Zhongwei Tengyun
Limited are controlled by Shanghai Tianyi Assets
Management Co., Ltd., which is 70% owned by Mr.
Yu Rong. Therefore, Mr. Yu Rong is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Shanghai Tianyi Assets
Management Co., Ltd is deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the knowledge of the
Directors, as at 31 December 2023, there is no other
person (excluding the Directors and chief executives of the
Company) has interests or short positions as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO in the Shares and underlying
Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the
Reporting Period, none of the Director had any interest in
a business which is or may compete, directly or indirectly,
with our business as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the
Reporting Period, none of the Director or entity related to
the Directors had a material interest, directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the sections relating to Contractual
Arrangements in this annual report, no contract of
significance or contract of significance for the provision of
services has been entered into among the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any
of their subsidiaries as of 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As of 31 December 2023, the Company had not entered
into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred or suffered by him or her as a Director in the
course of the performance of his duties.

The above permitted indemnity provisions have come into
effect during the Reporting Period. The Company has
also taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate
protection to the Directors.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group has
not entered into any non-exempt continuing connected
transactions as of 31 December 2023. The Company has
no transactions that are required to be disclosed under
the definitions of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following transactions constitute the Group's
continuing connected transactions as of 31 December
2023.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Background of Contractual Arrangements

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entities include subsidiaries
and holding companies established in China under
the laws of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
operated (i) production and publication of videos; (ii)
internet information services; (iii) internet data center
services (including internet resources cooperation services);
and (iv) foreign-related market research business in the
course of their business operations, which must comply
with foreign investment restrictions (collectively the
“Restricted Business”), all of which were operated by
domestic Consolidated Affiliated Entities which hold
the relevant licenses, including the Radio and Television
Program Production and Business Operation License,
Value-added Telecommunications and Information Service
Business Operation License (“ICP License”), Internet
Data Center Services License (covering internet resources
cooperation services) (“IDC License”) and Foreign-related
Research License (“Foreign-related Research License”).
As the Company may not directly hold equity in
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, we adopted common
practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control
over, and receive all the economic benefits generated by
the businesses currently operated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through signing the Contractual
Arrangements.

In order to comply with relevant laws and enable the
Group to access international capital markets and maintain
effective control over all of the Group’s operations, on
8 June 2021 and 6 May 2023, we entered into Contractual
Arrangements to control our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities.Therefore, we do not directly own any equity
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Under
the Contractual Arrangements, we acquired effective
control over the financial and operational policies of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and have become entitled
to all the economic benefits derived from

their operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
contributed by all of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to the Group accounted for approximately 3.4% of the
total revenue of the Group, and the total assets of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in aggregate represented
approximately 26.2% of the total assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that the Contractual Arrangements
are fair and reasonable as other companies engaged in
the same or similar industries adopt similar arrangements
to maintain control over all operations and that the
Contractual Arrangements are entered into between the
WEFOEs and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities after free
negotiation. Besides, through the signing of the business
cooperation agreement, the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities can obtain better technical support and market
reputation.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of all
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Notes:

0 As at 31 December 2023, the VIE Shareholders were Mr.
Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, who held 89.95% and
10.05% interests in Sinohealth Information, respectively.

(2) The Other VIE Shareholders have also entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to facilitate the performance
of the obligations of the subsidiaries of Sinohealth
Information under certain agreements underlying the
Contractual Arrangements.

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang are the Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors of the Company,
so they are both connected persons of the Company
according to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Since
Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang hold 89.95% and
10.05% of the equity interests in Sinohealth Information,
respectively, according to Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing
Rules, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries are
related parties of Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang
and the Company’s connected persons. Therefore,
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

A description of each of the specific agreements
comprising the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.
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Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to the business cooperation agreements dated
8 June 2021 and 6 May 2023 entered into by Zhongkang
Technology, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries,
and the VIE Shareholders (the “Business Cooperation
Agreements”), Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries
agreed to engage Zhongkang Technology as its exclusive
provider of technical support, consultation, intellectual
property licensing and other services, and Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries paid technical support and
consulting service fees and intellectual property licensing
fees to Zhongkang Technology.

Business Cooperation Agreements also stipulates that
Zhongkang Technology has ownership of all intellectual
property rights developed or created by Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries during the validity period
of Business Cooperation Agreement.

According to Business Cooperation Agreement, the
service fee is equivalent to the consolidated total profit
of Sinohealth Information during the year and the part of
the consolidated profits of the subsidiaries that Sinohealth
Information is entitled to receive in total (after offsetting
the previous year’s losses (if any), operating costs,
expenses, taxes and other statutory contributions).

Business Cooperation Agreements have a term of three
years commencing from the dates of the agreements and
shall be automatically renewed for another three years
upon the expiration of each term, unless being terminated
in accordance with the terms therein. According to the
Business Cooperation Agreements, unless otherwise
required by applicable PRC laws and regulations, none
of the parties to the agreement (except Zhongkang
Technology) is entitled to unilaterally terminate it.
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Zhongkang Technology has the right to terminate the
Business Cooperation Agreements with one month’s prior
written notice in the event that (i) Sinohealth Information
and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable, breaches any terms
under the Business Cooperation Agreements and fails to
rectify within 20 business days upon receipt of written
notice from Zhongkang Technology; or (ii) Sinohealth
Information and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable, ceases to
operate any business, become insolvent, bankrupt or to be
subject of liquidation or dissolution procedures, be unable
to repay debts due or to be dissolved.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and
its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders and the Other VIE
Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreements
(the "Exclusive Option Agreements”) on 8 June 2021
and 6 May 2023, pursuant to which each of the VIE
Shareholders and Sinohealth Information agreed to grant
Zhongkang Technology or its designated third party
an exclusive option to transfer their respective equity
interests and/or assets in Sinohealth Information and its
subsidiaries, respectively, to Zhongkang Technology and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at
any time and from time to time, at the consideration of
RMB1 or a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
laws and regulations. The VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will compensate to
Zhongkang Technology any difference in consideration in
such way required by Zhongkang Technology they receive
in the event that Zhongkang Technology exercises the
options under the Exclusive Option Agreements to acquire
the equity interests and/or assets in Sinohealth Information
and/or its subsidiaries, as applicable, that exceeds RMB1.
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The Exclusive Option Agreements have an indefinite term
commencing on the respective dates of the agreements,
until it is terminated: (1) by Zhongkang Technology
unilaterally by giving Sinohealth Information and its
subsidiaries, and/or the VIE Shareholders one-month
prior written notice of termination, as applicable; or
(2) upon the exercise of the option by Zhongkang
Technology to acquire the respective equity interests of
Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries held by the
VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information and/or the
assets of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to
Zhongkang Technology, and the completion of the relevant
registration; or (3) when the continued performance of the
obligations of the agreement will result in violation of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.
None of Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the
VIE Shareholders and the Other VIE Shareholders are
contractually entitled to terminate the Exclusive Option
Agreements with Zhongkang Technology.
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Equity Pledge Agreements

Zhongkang Technology, Sinohealth Information and
the VIE Shareholders entered into the equity pledge
agreement and its supplemental agreement (collectively,
the "Equity Pledge Agreements”) on 8 June 2021 and
6 May 2023, respectively, pursuant to which each of the
VIE Shareholders agreed to pledge all of their respective
equity interests in Sinohealth Information to Zhongkang
Technology as a first priority security interest to guarantee
the performance of the contractual obligations and the
payment of outstanding debts under the Contractual
Arrangements. Meanwhile, the Other VIE Shareholders
and Sinohealth Information retain their respective equity
interests in those subsidiaries instead of pledging them to
Zhongkang Technology. If Sinohealth Information declares
any dividend during the term of the pledge, Zhongkang
Technology is entitled to receive all such dividends,
bonus issue or other income arising from the pledged
equity interests, if any. If any of the VIE Shareholders
or Sinohealth Information (including its subsidiaries)
breaches or fails to fulfill the obligations under any of the
aforementioned agreements, Zhongkang Technology, as
the pledgee, upon issuing a written notice to the pledgors,
will be entitled to all remedies available under PRC laws
and the Contractual Arrangements, including but not
limited to disposing of the pledged equity interests,
entirely or partially.
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In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreements,
each of the VIE Shareholders has undertaken to Zhongkang
Technology, among other things, not to transfer their
equity interests in Sinohealth Information (including its
subsidiaries) and not to create or allow any pledge thereon
without its prior written consent. The pledges in respect
of Sinohealth Information take effect upon the completion
of registration with the relevant PRC authority and shall
remain valid until after all the contractual obligations
of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information
(including its subsidiaries) under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully performed and all the
outstanding debts of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth
Information (including its subsidiaries) under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements have been fully repaid.

The Equity Pledge Agreements have an indefinite term
commencing on the respective dates of the agreements
and shall remain valid until (1) each of the VIE Shareholders
has transferred all of his or her equity interests and/or
assets in Sinohealth Information in accordance with the
Exclusive Option Agreements and completed the relevant
registration; (2) the Equity Pledge Agreements have been
unilaterally terminated by Zhongkang Technology by
giving Sinohealth Information and the VIE Shareholders
one-month prior written notice. The registration of the
equity pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreements was
completed on 9 June 2021 in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations.
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Voting Rights Proxy Agreements

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE
Shareholders, the Other VIE Shareholders and Zhongkang
Technology entered into the voting rights proxy
agreements (the “"Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”)
on 8 June 2021 and 6 May 2023, pursuant to which
each of the VIE Shareholders and Sinohealth Information
irrevocably appoint Zhongkang Technology or its
designated directors and their successors (including a
liquidator replacing the Directors) but excluding those
non-independent Directors or the appointment of whom
may give rise to conflict of interests, as his attorney-in-fact
to exercise such shareholder’s rights in Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries,

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, and the VIE
Shareholders undertake that they shall not take or omit
to take any action which may lead to a conflict of interest
with Zhongkang Technology or its subsidiaries. If there
is any conflict of interest, Zhongkang Technology shall
have the right to decide in its sole discretion on how to
deal with such conflict of interest in accordance with
the applicable PRC laws. Sinohealth Information and its
subsidiaries, and the VIE Shareholders will unconditionally
follow the instructions of Zhongkang Technology to
take any action to eliminate such conflict of interest. In
addition, while the Other VIE Shareholders retain their
respective shareholders’ rights in the relevant subsidiaries
of Sinohealth Information to be exercised on their own,
the Other VIE Shareholders have undertaken to fully
cooperate with Sinohealth Information and Zhongkang
Technology to carry out all procedures as necessary to
perform the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement entered into
by them, including but not limited to, executing relevant
resolutions and other ancillary documents.
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The Voting Rights Proxy Agreements have an indefinite
term commencing on the respective dates of the
agreements and will be terminated in the event that:(1)
the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements are unilaterally
terminated by Zhongkang Technology by giving Sinohealth
Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE Shareholders and/
or the Other VIE Shareholders, as applicable, one month’s
prior written notice of termination; or (2) upon the
transfer of their respective entire equity interests in and/or
the assets of Sinohealth Information and/or its subsidiaries
to Zhongkang Technology pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements and the completion of the relevant
registration; or (3) the continued performance of the
obligations of the agreements will result in violation of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

As of 31 December 2023, there has been no material
changes in the terms of the above contractual
arrangements.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements
There are the certain risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

1) If, in the opinion of the PRC government, the
agreements by which the Group establishes the
business structure to operate the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities in the PRC do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if there is
any subsequent change in such regulations or their
interpretation in the future, the Group may suffer
consequences including cancellation of contractual
arrangements and abandonment of operating
interests as well as the possible impact of the newly
enacted Foreign Investment Law.
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The Contractual Arrangements of the Company
may not be as effective in providing control over
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as direct
ownership. If the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or
their shareholders fail to perform their obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements, the registered
shareholders may have conflicts of interest with the
Company.

The Company may lose the ability to use, or
otherwise benefit from, the licenses, approvals and
assets held by any of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities if any of them declares bankruptcy or
becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by PRC tax authorities and additional tax
may be imposed, which may have an adverse impact
on the financial conditions of the Group.
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Mitigation Measures Taken by the Company

The Company has adopted the following measures to
ensure the effective operation of the Group with the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

1) The Group’'s current business structure of
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and contractual
arrangements have not been questioned or
concerned by the PRC government, and the Group
will regularly and dynamically follow up and keep
abreast of changes in relevant laws and regulations
issued by the PRC government, and when necessary,
appoint external legal advisers or other professional
advisers to assess changes and corresponding risks
and formulate relevant countermeasures;

2) Major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements
or any regulatory enquiries from governmental
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an
occurrence basis;

3) The Board will review the overall performance of
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements
at least once a year;

4) The Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements
in annual reports;

5) The Company will engage external legal advisers
or other professional advisers, if necessary, to
assist the Board to review the implementation of
the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal
compliance of Zhongkang Technology and our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

AT BREAY R B R B2 1T B
ARARERBRATNHEE KERASEERE
MENTBEENBTANLTHARREE -
Hp B

1) AEBEANGEEBMBEERBEBE
BRHNEAOTHILRTE PR ERTD
ERNBET AEEBETHBERK
THRPBEBFAEEEERERENL
VWERZEIIFSEZEZERIEME
%EEF'EJﬁ“{tF/RﬂﬂEH > 1
2 1t 3¢ %1 7E A8 FE Hf 5K

MEBSTAN TSRS
EEMEANEASTEERE
X FEETE(VE)EM RitwH

2)

ﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁ &

HF =

3) ExgfEFRYD $.ﬂ‘ //:.\,iﬁzz
BNEERBTRETH

Bt

15}
OlE
il

EIR A
X i =<7

@

EH el

4)

|

i

4

5) AR EBRUERZEIINBEZE
Fuﬁiﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘uﬁ%ﬁﬂ%$@%
BMENRZHENERIBR BT PER
B RERA “fi’%?ié‘]/f@/\fﬁli/ﬁ
NEBENLTHEER A BEERHEEX
£H-o



—ECSEEER

off

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted,
a waiver (i) pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing
Rules from strict compliance with the announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements, and (ii) the requirement of setting an
annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and
(iii) the requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual
Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of
the Listing Rules, for so long as Shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange, subject to certain conditions. For details,
please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive
Directors in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions of
the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2023
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by
Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and (iii)
no new transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal
of existing agreements have been entered into between
the Group and Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Confirmation of the Auditor in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young has issued its unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions in connection with Contractual
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2023, in
particular, confirming that the transactions have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements,
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the
holders of their equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

Related Party Transactions

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the
Reporting Period, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in accordance with the
provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.

Details of related party transactions for the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2023, there were no related party transactions
that constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions that were subject to reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As of 31 December 2023, save as disclosed elsewhere in
this report, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, redeemed or sold any of its listed securities.

DIRECTORS ' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this annual report,
at no time during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this annual report was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised
any such right.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report and the announcement
relating to the Share Award Scheme, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted
during the Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, charitable
donations made by the Group amounted to
RMB1,107,000.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2024 annual general meeting is expected to be held
on Wednesday, 19 June 2024, and the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, 14 June 2024
to Wednesday, 19 June 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. For
determining the entitlement of the Shareholders of the
Company to attend and vote at the 2024 annual general
meeting, all Share transfer document(s) accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Boardroom Share Registrars Limited at 2103B, 21/
F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 June 2024.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 26 June 2024 to Thursday,
27 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered for the purpose of
ascertaining shareholders entitled to the Proposed Final
Dividend. In order to be eligible for the Proposed Final
Dividend, each shareholder shall return all relevant transfer
document(s) and share certificate(s) to the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Boardroom Share Registrars Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148
Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 25 June 2024.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. A
resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders
at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
the auditor of the Company. There has been no change in
the Company’s auditors in the preceding three years.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information, a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into an Equity Transfer Agreement
and a Partnership Property Share Transfer Agreement with
Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (LA TERBEEREEAE R CEEBRE
#)) for a package acquisition of 50.6% equity interest
in Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical Technology Company
Limited (“Zhonghui Medical”) at a consideration of
RMB12,238,921. For details of the Acquisition, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 5
February 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant
events to be disclosed from 31 December 2023 up to the
date of this report.

By order of the Board

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

Wu Yushu

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards and believes that they are essential
for the Company to safeguard shareholders ‘interests and
enhance corporate value.

The Company has adopted the principles and provisions
of the CG Code and complied with the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Reporting
Period, except for Rule C.2.1 which stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not performed by the same individual.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman
and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
for more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group. Under the supervision of the Board, it
ensures that the Board has an appropriate structure of
checks and balances and provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

The Company will review its corporate governance
practices from time to time and strive to enhance its
alignment with business operations and developments
to ensure compliance with statutory and latest business
developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and should take decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required
of a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the
Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient
time in performing them.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises six Directors. As at 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has two executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wu Yushu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Lifang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Fu Haitao

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Danzhou

Ms. Du Yilin

Mr. Wei Bin

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report. The list of Directors (by category) is also
disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing Rules.
The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report, the Directors
do not have any other financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with one another.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Wu Yushu is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and overall management and daily operations of
the Group. Mr. Wu has over 20 years of experience in the
healthcare information and data analysis industries and has
been instrumental to the growth and business expansion
of the Company since the Group was founded in 2007.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer in the same person ensures
consistency in the management and strategic layout of
the Group.The senior management and the Board are
composed of experienced individuals who ensure a balance
of power and authority in their operations.

The Board will from time to time review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company to ensure appropriate and
timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

Independent non-executive Director

During the Reporting Period, the Board complied with
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors (i.e. at least one-third of the Board
and one of them must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise) at all times.

The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual written confirmation of
his or her independence pursuant to the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.The
Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent and remain independent up to
the date of this report.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract, and the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors have been appointed
for a specific term of three years, which is renewable by
mutual consent and subject to the requirements of the
Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
Board shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
next following general meeting of the Company.

Each Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall also be subject to retirement and re-election
by rotation at least once every three years at the annual
general meetings of the Company under the Articles of
Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITY AND
CONTRIBUTION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is responsible for directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have contributed valuable business experience,
knowledge and professional skills for the efficient
and effective operation of the Board.The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for overseeing a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgment on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code
requiring directors to disclose the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organisations and
other significant commitments as well as their identity and
the time involved to the Company, the Directors update
the Board regarding offices held in public companies and
organisations and other significant commitments once
every half year.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors should keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes to discharge their responsibilities effectively
and ensure that their contributions to the Board remain
informed and relevant.

The Company encourages Directors to participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to
update their knowledge and skills and, where appropriate,
arranges internal training courses for Directors and issues
reading materials on relevant topics to Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company organised
training courses organised by legal advisers for all
Directors.The training courses cover a number of relevant
topics such as directors ‘duties and responsibilities,
continuing connected transactions, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates.In addition, the Company has
provided the Directors with relevant reading materials,
including compliance manuals/updates on legal and
regulatory/seminar handouts, to the Directors for their
reference and study.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company have their respective terms of reference. The
respective terms of reference of these committees will be
revised from time to time to ensure that they continue
to meet the needs of the Company and comply with the
Corporate Governance Code (if applicable). The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and
are available to shareholders upon request.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings
in total, with active participation of all Directors either in
person or through electronic means of communication,
and the attendance records of each Director at Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings of the Company
are set out in the table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE BB RE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee  Committee = Committee

Name of Directors EEnR EEg ERZEEE FMWZEEE REZEES
Mr. Wu Yushu REFEE 4/4 - - 1/1
Ms. Wang Lifang FHRF L 4/4 - 1/1 -
Mr. Fu Haitao N8BT E 4/4 - - —
Mr. Wei Bin BROE 5t 4 4/4 2/2 - -
Ms. Wang Danzhou FRAR L 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
Ms. Du Yilin K 2 + 4/4 2/2 1/1 11
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

The Company established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules. As of the date of this report, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely, Ms. Wang Danzhou,
Ms. Du Yilin and Mr. Wei Bin. Mr. Wei Bin is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has communicated with the
management and the external auditor and has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held
two meetings at which matters such as audit plan, review
of financial reporting, effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems, and corrective measures of
internal control for the Reporting Period were discussed.
The audit committee also held a meeting with external
auditors in the absence of executive Directors and
management.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and the
senior management of the Group, review remuneration
and ensure that none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration, as well as review and/or approve related
share award schemes.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Danzhou and
Ms. Du Yilin, and one executive Director, namely Ms.
Wang Lifang. Ms Wang Danzhou is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during
the Reporting Period to discuss the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management. Three Remuneration
Committee members actively participated in the meeting
in person or through electronic communication.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details
of the remuneration of the senior management (other
than Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
as follows:
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Number of
Individual
Range of Remuneration ¥ A4 Bl A"
Nil to RMB 1,000,000 =z AR ¥ 1,000,0007C 4
Total 48 =t 4

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
8 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management. The Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang
Danzhou and Ms. Du Yilin, and one executive Director,
Mr. Wu Yushu. Mr. Wu Yushu is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to review the terms of appointment
under the service contracts of the executive Directors and
the background and identity of the senior management.
The Nomination Committee considers that the Board has
maintained an appropriate balance of diversity of views.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION
POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the basic principles to
be followed to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

The Company recognises and embraces the importance of
having a diverse Board and considers increasing diversity at
the Board level, including gender diversity, as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and
motivate employees from the wider possible pool of talent.
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will discuss periodically and when necessary,
agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity,
including gender diversity, on the Board and recommend
them to the Board for adoption.

The Board currently comprises six Directors, half of whom
are female Directors, including Ms. Wang Danzhou and
Ms. Du Yilin, independent non-executive Directors, and
Ms. Wang Lifang, an executive Director. According to
the current composition of the Board, the Company is of
the view that gender diversity in respect of the Board has
been achieved. Out of the 759 employees of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, 484 were female, accounting for
more than 63% of the total workforce. Accordingly, the
Company considers that gender diversity is also achieved
in its workforce.

The Board has also adopted the nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the nomination
procedures for selecting candidates for election as
Directors of the Board of the Group. The Nomination
Policy is adopted by the Board and administered by the
Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on, amongst
others, character and integrity, qualifications, willingness
to devote adequate time and a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs. Selection and recommendation
of candidates will be based on the nomination procedures
and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee and a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualification, skills, knowledge,
and industry and regional experience, length of services,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and the
measurable objectives periodically, and as appropriate, to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

The Company recognizes that the independence of the
Board is critical to sound corporate governance. The Board
has established a mechanism to ensure that independent
views and opinions are provided to the Board. Pursuant
to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board shall
appoint at least three independent non-executive
Directors and at least one-third of the members shall be
independent non-executive Directors, and the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company has constituted
one-half of the Board. The Nomination Committee of
the Company strictly complies with the independence
assessment criteria for the nomination and appointment
of independent non-executive Directors as set out in the
Listing Rules, and is authorized to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors annually to ensure
that they continue to make independent judgments. All
Directors may also seek independent professional advice
when performing their duties, and the relevant expenses
shall be borne by the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The audit
committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted various risk
management policies, procedures and internal control
process with defined rights and responsibilities for each
key personnel, including but not limited to, intellectual
property management policy, anti-bribery policy,
anti-money laundering management, risk assessment
management, connected transaction management,
procurement and payment management, assets
management, human resources and remuneration
management, capital management and information system
security management policy.

The Group has established an internal audit department
which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee
and senior management on any issues identified. The
Group’s internal audit department members are required
to report to the management to discuss any internal
control issues that the Group encounters and the
corresponding measures to implement toward resolving
such issues. The internal audit department also reports
to the Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues
identified are channeled to the committee on a timely
basis. The Audit Committee then discusses the issues and
reports to the Board, if necessary.
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The Board has conducted an annual review of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and considers that:

1) the financial records have been properly maintained
and the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the operations and finances of the Group;
and

2) the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate.

Based on the risk management and internal audit systems
established by the Group, the Board and the Audit
Committee considered that, through the review of risk
management and internal audit systems of the Group,
it can evaluate and improve their effectiveness. The
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the Group’s internal control systems,
including financial, operational and compliance, were
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December
2023 based on the work performed and report prepared
by the team as well as the confirmation letter received
by the management. The Group will perform ongoing
assessments to update all material risk factors on a regular
basis. In any case, review of risk management and internal
control systems by the Board will be conducted annually.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate
employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns,
in confidence, about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement
regularly and ensure that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a comprehensive guidance to the Company’s
Directors, senior management and relevant employees
on handling and disseminating confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented
to ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside
information are strictly prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles
of Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy, the
Company may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the members of the Company but
no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board. No dividend shall be declared
or payable except out of the profits and reserves of the
Company lawfully available for distribution, including
share premium. No dividend shall carry interest which will
be borne by the Company. The Company may distribute
dividends by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate, based on various factors such as
the Company’s earnings and financial condition, operation
needs, capital requirements, payment to the Company of
cash dividend by its subsidiaries and other factors that the
Directors may deem relevant. The Company will continue
to re-evaluate its dividend plan in light of its operation
needs, earnings, financial condition, working capital
requirements and future business plans as the Board may
deem relevant at such time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors and relevant
staff, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Reporting Period.

Relevant employees of the Company who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company due
to their duties or employment should also comply with the
requirements of the Model Code.The Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code by
the relevant employees of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a fair, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, announcements relating to disclosure of inside
information, other disclosures required by the Listing Rules
and other legal and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Board with the
necessary explanations and information to enable the
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
statements of the Company and submit them to the Board
for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
regarding its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor
of the Company in respect of audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB2,180,000.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, an external service provider,
and Ms. Zhang Xiao has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Ms. Yi Xuhui, the other joint
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Yi Xuhui resigned
as the joint company secretary of the Company on 28
March 2024 and was succeeded by Mr. Wan Chuan. For
details of Mr. Wan Chuan, please refer to section headed
“Directors and Senior Management in this annual report”.

The joint company secretaries completed more than 15
hours of professional training as required under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023
to update their skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an ongoing dialogue with shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The annual general meeting was held
on 19 June 2023 and all Directors were present in person
or via video conference to answer any enquiries that
shareholders might have.
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The Company maintains a website at ir.sinohealth.cn
as a communication platform with shareholders of the
Company and investors, where the financial information
and other relevant information of the Company are
available for public access.

The Company held one results exchange meeting after
the announcement of the interim results for 2023.The
Company has also received enquiries from shareholders
from time to time and such enquiries have been properly
resolved.The Board considers that the shareholder
communication policy has been properly implemented and
is effective.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and
of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting may be convened on the written
requisition of any one or more shareholders of the
Company by depositing at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong a written requisition signed by
the requisitionist specifying the question for the meeting
and being, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, a
shareholder representing one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or
the Cayman Companies Act for shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as director” of the Company which is posted on
the Company’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal
Oor anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
The contact details of the Company are set out in the
Company’s website (ir.sinohealth.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
did not make any changes to its Articles of Association.The
current version of the Articles of Association is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the second Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") Report (“this report” or "ESG
Report”) issued by Sinohealth Holdings Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Sinohealth Holdings”, the
“Company”, the “Group” or “we"). This report covers
the governance strategies, main initiatives and key
indicators of the Group in the areas of social responsibility,
corporate governance and sustainable development
for the year 2023.Through this report, we hope to
enhance communication with various stakeholders
and communicate our efforts and contributions in
environmental and social sustainability.

Reporting scope
This report covers the principal activities of the Group,
including Zhongkang Technology and its subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting period refers to
the financial year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 (the “"Reporting Period”).

Reporting standards

This report was prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing
Rules issued by the Stock Exchange based on the actual
situation of the Group, and complied with the “mandatory
disclosure” and “comply or explain” provisions of the
Guide.

J Materiality. The Group has sorted out and
evaluated the level of materiality based on
the communication with internal and external
stakeholders, collection of public available
information and peer benchmarking by adopting
a materiality assessment approach, and used the
evaluation results as an important reference for
disclosure in this report.
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J Quantification. The key performance indicators
disclosed in this report are all measurable, and
where applicable, the standards,
assumptions and/or calculation methods used are
disclosed.

methods,

J Balance. The performance of the Group is
presented in an impartial manner in this report
to avoid possible inappropriate influence on the
decision-making or judgement of the readers of this
report due to selection, omission or presentation
format.

o Consistency. Consistent disclosure methods
and indicators are used in this report so that key
disclosures are comparable and referential across
reporting periods.

Reporting language and access method
This report is published in two languages,
Chinese and English versions.

including

This report is available in a PDF electronic document on
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s IR website
(http://ir.sinohealth.cn/).

Approval of the report
This report has been reviewed and approved by the board
of directors (the “Board”) of the Company for publication.

Feedback

If you have any comments or suggestions regarding the
contents of this report or the Company’s environmental,
social and governance performance, please contact us by
sending emails to ir@sinohealth.cn.
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Statement of the Board

As a pioneer in the digitalisation of the healthcare
industry, Sinohealth Holdings has been committed to
helping healthcare industry players improve the efficiency
of business decision-making and targeted connection of
industrial chain resources. Having been actively engaged in
the healthcare industry for more than a decade, we believe
that the value orientation of long-termism and the concept
of sustainable development complement each other and
are also the support and guarantee of our sustainable
development. We will actively undertake corporate social
and environmental protection responsibilities, protect the
development and rights of employees, and constantly
improve the Company’s performance in all aspects by
giving back to the society.

The Board assumes full responsibility for the Company’s
ESG strategies and reports, and is responsible for assessing
and analyzing the Company’s ESG risks, ensuring that
the Company establishes appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal management system,
supervising the progress of ESG work, and regularly
reviewing relevant reports.

We dynamically assess the importance of ESG issues
according to their concerns and priorities, based on
communication and feedback from different stakeholders.
Through the disassembly of key indicators of important
ESG issues and target setting, combined with the
Company’s actual performance feedback, we ensure that
the concept of sustainable development is synchronized
with the Company’s development strategy.

This report will provide detailed information on the
Group’s ESG performance in 2023. The Board guarantees
that this report is free of any misrepresentations,
misleading statements or material omissions. In the
future, the Company will continue to improve its ESG
management level and performance according to the
expectations of different stakeholders in ESG.
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About Us

Company Profile

Sinohealth Holdings is a leading provider of big data
products and services for the health industry in China.
Based on our rich and diversified big data for the
health industry, leading artificial intelligence and cloud
computing technology and industrial ecological platform,
we provide digital intelligence solutions with efficient
decision-making and targeted connection for the health
industry participants.

Since its establishment in 2007, the Group has been deeply
engaged in the health industry, adhering to the business
philosophy of “customer-oriented, technology-based
and entrepreneurial spirit”. In the past 17 years, through
constantly updating and iterating products and services,
relying on industry-leading data reserves, artificial
intelligence algorithms and analysis models, rich industry
experience and cutting-edge insight capabilities, we have
been providing digital decision-making tools and services
to industry participants, and been committed to helping
customers deeply integrate digital application technologies
and promote industrial digital transformation.

In order to meet the growing demand for digitalisation
in the healthcare industry, the Group has continuously
enriched the types of products and services, provided
customers with one-stop products and services of “SaaS
+ professional service + industry ecological platform”,
and efficiently empowered customers in terms of digital
transformation, market expansion, client management
and decision making, so as to enable them to establish
efficient operational decision making and targeted market
connection capabilities and improve their efficiency
and achieve performance growth. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the business of the Group has covered
the major players in health industry such as pharmaceutical
and medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical and
medical device retailers, physical examination institutions,
medical institutions, and innovative pharmaceutical
enterprises.
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Corporate culture

o 3 (e

Corporate mission: developing smart healthcare industry QTR E® HE2RFEEEXEETZEREFEL

and promoting smart healthy life

Corporate vision: becoming a leading digital technology 2@ BES: &% H P ﬁfg REBHMEREE2HK
company in the field of life sciences BAEHEFRER

Corporate values: professionalism and focus, openness ¥ EEE : 5 ¥ Eﬁi ErMmEXZEAL
and sharing, responsibility and Commitment, persistence  E2 #& & B2 43 83 Al %7

and innovation

Review of Significant Events in 2023 2023 FEEEEHEHE

February 2023

2023.2

March 2023

2023.3

April 2023

2023.4

June 2023

2023.6

Guangzhou lJisi, a holding subsidiary of the Group, was awarded the OMAHA Best Application of
the Year Award by the Zhejiang Institute of Digital Health Technology (H iT 21 7 28 & 47 & £ fig
% Br).

EERFAREMNEREN IBEFBEAERMARKBAENOMAHAF ERER R

The new product "Yilingtong” was released, and contracts were entered into with well-known
medical product suppliers such as Xing Yin Medicine (£ iR % %%), Haleon (#f /1 &), Novartis
China (¥ % & %1 % %) & ) and Dong-E-E-Jiao (R B B JB), to explore digital marketing

cooperation.

HER ERBIEBEM THERBE HH5 HEANEYPHE RMNABEA
LEFEMHRERRL RERBFLCLHHAEF

A number of industry research reports, such as the Insight Report on Post-epidemic National
Health Trends (& 15 1% i X E E{LJI%%**“’ il 22 3 &) and the Insight Report on Immunization
Demand Transition (% & &5 5K 2 18 ) 22 ¥ &) were released.

BHRBRERERBREBEAERSE RRFRBEBRAEREFSNITEME

&

i

The Group jointly established the Medical and Health Professional Committee (58 %% {# fF 5 ¥ &
8 &) with China Enterprise Evaluation Association (7 B (> 2 5F {8 # &), and carried out the
construction of a forward-looking, authoritative and predictive enterprise brand evaluation model

system

HAECETEReRARAKNVEEZRREXZE S ARATENE HEEE BEEND
X¥mENTERABRER
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June 2023

2023.6

August 2023

2023.8

August 2023

2023.8

September 2023

2023.9

November 2023

2023.11

November 2023

2023.11
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The Strategic Cooperation Agreement was entered into with Shenzhen Data Exchange to jointly
explore the digital construction of the medical and health industry.

BRNBEX MR (BBRAFEHRE) HARRBEERREZHFLRER

The 16th CPEO was held with a total of more than 50,000 participants.

E AN

izl

mE

S

BRAAH HEeRHRBEEA

The new product Lingsu System, featuring ultra-fast and efficient drug store sales monitoring and
supporting the immediate market response of enterprises, was launched.
FERAREZAR LG BRRANEEHHEEN B XNSETISZEE

The consumption volume of AI-MDT physical examination interpretation report exceeded 1
million.

China Digital Marketing Landscape (Version 2023) was granted by China Advertising Association
of Commerce-Digital Marketing Committee, Tiger Roar Award Committee and Miaozhen
Academy of Marketing Science.

TEEBESHeHFTLEHEEZE S AREMAZ e PDHEHRNER PREHFTE
5 A Re [B] 5% 2023 hR

The Group was awarded the “Jinruyi Award (& %0 & #€)" co-sponsored by Hainan Boao Institute
of Medical Innovation (/& 3 1% & 28 22 8| %7 7t 7t Bt ) and the CN-Healthcare (& & ).

BEBEZRZATHACENERABRS TN (€0 E &)
"Woodpecker AI-MDT Single Disease Specific Disease Management System” won the “Digital
Healthcare Preferred Solution” Value Award.

[FESA-MDTEREERERAMIREHAFERBERRIRIBEE
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December 2023

2023.12

December 2023

2023.12

The Group was awarded the most valuable digital economy enterprise in 2023.

MBH203FERAREBEEFTRBERLE

The Group was included in the list of Big Data/Artificial Intelligence Enterprise (2022-2023) by
Guangzhou Artificial Intelligence Industry Development Promotion Association (& /i T A T %5 &
EXRRRESD).
BMMAISERELLEBRESGTIRAE20222023FAHE ALIETHELE

The Group was listed on the 2023 Guangzhou “100 Wisdom Gathering (8 £ & )" Artificial
Intelligence Innovation and Development List selected by Guangzhou Science and Technology
Bureau (& M M B £ /&), Guangzhou Industry and Information Bureau (B M M T E M{E 5 B)
and Guangzhou Science and Technology Progress Foundation (B /M T R K #E £ E & ).
EBEEMNTRER EMNMIENGERREMNMBRESES ST EN2023FEM A
BERIAIBDHATREES

The first Traditional Chinese medicine Ecological Conference was successfully held with the theme

of “linkage of the whole industrial chain, promotion of high-quality development”.

UN2EF#BRD RSEEXRIATENERETEELIRREXINAM -
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ESG GOVERNANCE AND COMMUNICATION
Governance framework

The Board supports our commitment to fulfill
environmental, social and governance responsibilities,
and is responsible for managing the overall direction of
our environmental, social and governance policies and
ensuring the effectiveness of strategy implementation,
as well as monitoring the Group's performance and
compliance disclosure relating to its achievement of ESG
goals. The Group has established an ESG Management
Committee under the Board to support the Board in
formulating and implementing environmental, social
and governance policies, and collecting and disclosing
environmental, social and governance data. The ESG
Management Committee assists the Board in supervising
the implementation of environmental,
governance policies and measures and report to the
Board on a regular basis. When major deviations from
the goals are detected, the ESG Management Committee
will actively investigate the reasons for any deviation from
the goals and objectives, and the Board will modify the
Group's environmental, social and governance strategies
as appropriate.

social and

We have also set up an ESG execution team which is
responsible for implementing the environmental, social and
governance policies and measures formulated by the ESG
Management Committee. The team members come from
key departments such as the human resources operation
center, administration and procurement center, marketing
center, technology center and strategic development
center. The team is specifically responsible for the
implementation of various ESG affairs, understanding
the demands of stakeholders, evaluating ESG risks
based on the Company’s business conditions, improving
assessment indicators and facilitating the achievement of
the ESG tasks and is responsible for disclosing annual ESG
information.

RIE-HTEBRELBHS

ESGERHEER
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During the two board meetings held regularly by the
Group each year, the ESG Committee reports on the
implementation of ESG policies during the period, the
Directors discuss and communicate with each other on
important ESG disclosure matters and make suggestions
on important matters disclosed. Such matters include,
among others, in terms of the marketing and expansion
of business, encouraging the use of online meetings
or conference calls on the premise of not affecting the
marketing effect, which can not only reduce promotion
costs and improve efficiency, but also reduce the number
of business trips to reduce carbon emissions.The Board will
continue to monitor ESG initiatives and performance to
align the Company'’s strategies with sustainability.

Materiality assessment

Based on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide, the stakeholder
survey of this year reviewed issues related to the Group's
ESG management in 2023, and formulated ESG issues in
light of the Group’s business development direction.

Based on stakeholder communication, collection of
public available information and peer benchmarking, and
referring to the governance issues stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide, the Group has sorted
out 17 ESG issues. Taking into account of the expectations
and feedback suggestions of the Group’s stakeholders,
the ESG material issue matrix of Sinohealth Holdings was
finally determined after discussion and analysis. Among
them, 8 are issues of high materiality, 5 are issues of
moderate materiality and 4 are issues of low materiality.
In the future, the Group will continue to pay attention to
these issues, and will focus on the above-mentioned issues
of high materiality when formulating relevant internal
development strategies and management policies.

E%liiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmh\%%@qﬂ'
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A. Energy saving and i, Staff interests protection 1. Product quality management

emission reduction BI#HRRE EmESER

iR ii.  Staff training and development 2. Operate with Integrity
B. Green office STEE%R SEms

BTN jii. Occupational safety and health 3. Intellectual property
C. Waste BEZREER management

management iv.  Employees care and welfare HAEEER

EENER ETHREER 4. Compliance operation
D. Responding to v. Data security and ARER

climate change privacy protection 5. Supplier management

ELHRREL iRz 2 ERALRE HEHER

vi. Giving back to society 6. Governance structure

Bl E optimisation

REBEREL
7. Operat\onal risk management
EERRER

Communication with stakeholders

With regard to the management of environmental,
social and climate-related issues, the Board recognises
the expectations of stakeholders and the importance of
their engagement. Therefore, the Board supervises the
implementation of communication channels between
stakeholders and the Group to ensure that the Group has
established an appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control system for environmental, social and
governance.

The Group actively understands the concerns and
specific demands of stakeholders, gives timely feedback
to stakeholders, and optimises the Company’s ESG
management decisions and measures based on
the feedback. We are committed to optimising the
communication channels with different stakeholders, and
collecting opinions from all parties through normal and
sufficient communication, thus improving the Company's
management level and achieving its sustainable
development.

Importance to the stakeholders
TP B 3 e SR o K
e}

RIE-HEKEIGHRS

T
S

,_
~Q
PIRS

Low Importance to the Group
& YWAEEHES

High

i

NEHEENESE
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Types of stakeholders
MzmHEEEER

Expectations

i

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Communication channels

ik K

Shareholders

Corporate governance

Annual general meetings and other
general meetings

IR *rEER RRBFAEMAEMKRRSZ
Financial results Non-deal roadshow
IR ERHIKE
Compliance operation Financial reports and information
announcements
BREE MBEBREERERARSE
Public platform communication
N\ /%I’n/j\ ﬁ
Customers Data quality Product application consultation
and Q&A
s BEME FE oh & B 75 AR B & R

Information security guarantee
ERRERE
Compliance operation

/\ ;ﬁ Z<<< **

Service quality assurance

AR5 om B R A&

Regular visits

EHFD

Customer visits and online
communication

EFRIGHER R

Customer satisfaction survey and
feedback

EFPREERAENEREBE

Industrial ecological platform

EXLEETFE

Business partners

BIERH

Business ethics and
creditworthiness

EESERCEEEE

Win-win cooperation

NES

Fair competition

YNBSS

Supplier selection meetings

HEHHEESER

Service acceptance and evaluation
AR 75 5 U B 5T

Interests exchange and cooperation
EEmEBRESE
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Expectations
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Communication channels

MzmHEEEER A2 BEHE

Employees Compensation and benefits Regular performance review and
communication

BT B B2 42 A EHIEREFIREER

Training and promotion

&5l B & A
Health and safety

BEELE

Regular communication of
employees’ opinions

BETIEREHRER

Setting channels for employees to
express their opinions

RYBIREBRESB

Regulatory authorities

EERE

Paying tax according to law

&5 R B

Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

BTHEBERER

Business ethics

Business information disclosure and
reporting

LB NI R B X

Written response from the
regulatory authorities

EERBE@QE

Government related meetings and
regular visits

B xERE BFHESENESFD
Community organizations Giving back to society Public welfare and charity
At 5 AH A Ol 88 1 & N E

Energy saving and emission
reduction and green office

R EZEN A

Monitoring and disclosure of
environmental performance
indicators

RIEEMIEIR BB B3 5R
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DIGITAL AND INTELLIGENT PRODUCTS
EMPOWERING EFFICIENT DECISION-MAKING

Smart Retail Cloud
BEZEE

DILRRSIC

hEEEREEBR

Smart Decision Cloud

Application Level
ERE

BERREE

& ETE
FFOTCR K

oy #enmra

In the pharmaceutical retail terminal industry, our Xinkang
SIC Pharmacy Empowerment System (SaaS) provides
pharmaceutical retail chain enterprises with membership
management, category management, store management,
shop assistant training and other service functions,
helping stores to improve the level of fine management,
achieve cost reduction and efficiency enhancement.
Aiming at the pain points of high cost, difficult operation
and vague effect of pharmaceutical companies in retail
channel layout, we developed Yilingtong, a digital OTC
representative, to provide pharmaceutical companies
and chain pharmacies with a pharmacy terminal
delivery tool integrating intelligent product selection,
marketing plan design, accurate member identification,
pharmaceutical services and brand advocacy, through the
powerful network of Xinkang SIC System, thus accurately
and efficiently meeting the OTC channel layout of
pharmaceutical companies.

Capitalising on our industry-leading database, artificial
intelligence algorithms and analysis models, as well as our
extensive industry experience and cutting-edge insight
capabilities, we have developed LinkedSee, CHIS, Pharmacy
Connect, Linghe, Lingsu System and Think Cloud data
platform at the intelligent decision end, to help customers
solve intelligent data collection and analysis problems
n “people”, “products”, , drug flow data, and
multiple drug information, providing medical product
suppliers with a decision-making basis with wide coverage,
fine granularity and in-depth analysis of categories.

“venue”

HELERB D
SaaS = i B[

TEBRRE

Smart Medical Cloud
BEERE

Smart Health Management Cloud
ERREEESE
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In the field of traditional Chinese medicine, Sinohealth
Yunling traditional Chinese medicine industry intelligent
decision system has been launched, which is the big
data of the traditional Chinese medicine industry chain
covering the traditional Chinese medicine production base
database, output/demand/inventory data over the years,
proprietary Chinese medicine terminal sales data, price
trend data, etc., helping enterprises to carry out intelligent
raw material cost calculation and price trend analysis and
data perspective, and providing digital decision-making
assistance in the “cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement” of enterprises.

Woodpecker health management AI-MDT system
builds a whole-process health management service for
medical examination institutions and hospitals with the
interpretation of Al multidisciplinary expert reports as
the core, and provides medical examination users with
personalized health management solutions covering
multiple dimensions of medical treatment, physical
examination, diet and exercise. The SCRM precision
marketing, health management and single-disease
chronic disease digital therapy modules equipped with
the system help physical examination centers to build a
health management service system and improve the health
management service capacity and revenue-increasing
capacity.

RIE-HEKEIGHRS
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Focusing on medical scenarios, our research platform
covers the entire scientific research process from topic
selection, literature search to paper drafting, and is based
on deep learning and multimodal big language model to
improve the scientific research efficiency of doctors. Our
health industry digital human products, based on a large
language model, add data training in medicine, medical
and other vertical fields, can efficiently output professional
content for various application scenarios in the health
industry, and effectively improve the communication
efficiency and quality of medical scenarios. The whole
course management system provides hospitals with
integrated management tools, including data management
of the whole process of hospital diagnosis and treatment,
disease early screening and patient whole course services,
etc., to improve the digital level of medical services and
fully meet the treatment needs of patients.

Information security management

Data security and user privacy are critical to our business
development. Following the promulgation of various
laws and regulations on data security protection, we
have formulated and updated a series of company data
security management regulations and corresponding data
protection and privacy policies to ensure that various types
of information and data are used legally and compliantly.
Our product team and legal compliance team will also
continue to follow up on the updates and revisions of
relevant laws and regulations, and review the Group'’s
internal management system and related documents in a
timely manner to ensure that relevant risks are identified
and dealt with as early as possible.

The Group mainly builds a data security and privacy
management system from five aspects: compliance
management; data security framework; division of
authority; operation, maintenance and disaster recovery;
and personnel security.
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Compliance management: The certification of
the Group's products and services issued by an
independent third party can objectively measure
the extent an enterprise attaches importance to
safety and the efforts it has put into safety. In terms
of information security management and privacy
management, the Group has established relevant
management systems and obtained certification
strictly according to the international framework
standards 1SO27001 and ISO27701. Meanwhile,
each of the Group’s SIC system, Woodpecker
Al-MDT, Woodpecker Cloud Clinic System and
Zhongkang Patient Management Cloud System
has passed the national information security level
protection (Level 3) certification respectively, which
is the highest level of protection certification for
non-bank institutions.

Data security framework: The control, security,
flexibility and isolation required by the Group's
proprietary cloud environment to ensure business
security can further reduce the risk of external
unauthorized access or attack with the help
of firewall, IP whitelist and bastion host. The
framework can improve the security of application
and data access through advanced recording and
monitoring, data encryption and regular security
audits.

Division of authority: The Group divides data
access authority at the data application technology
level, which can be accessed after assessment and
approval by specific personnel and authorised
personnel, and such access will be recorded and
monitored accordingly to ensure data security.

RIE-HEKEIGHRS
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Operation, maintenance and disaster recovery: The
Group ensures that each employee works in a safe
and controllable environment, avoiding uncertain
security risks to the production environment. The
Group's internal business system, production
environment of each product and data storage have
adopted Ali Cloud, Huawei Cloud and other data
storage models with relative high security level,
and data backup strategies have been implemented
to improve data reliability. Each business unit
responsible for data security regularly conducts
disaster recovery drills, so that applications and
data can be quickly restored when any abnormality
occurs relating to each application or data.

Personnel safety: The Group requires employees
to actively study relevant national laws and
regulations, such as the Civil Code, the Personal
Information Protection Law, and the Cyber Security
Law. The Group conducts multiple rounds of safety
education and training online and offline. In order
to further standardise information security work, the
Group requires employees to sign a confidentiality
agreement, so that each employee is aware of the
basic requirement of information security and the
serious legal consequences that should be borne.
In the daily business workflow, the Group handles
personal information security from the aspects of
creation, storage, transmission, access, use and
destruction of information.
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INDUSTRIAL PLATFORM EMPOWERING
TARGETED CONNECTION IN THE INDUSTRY
Conference platform for the health industry

The Group held a very forward-looking industry
conference in China’s health industry — CPEO, with a full
name of Pharmaceutical Enterprises Co-operation and
Development Organization, which has been successfully
held for sixteen sessions since 2008. As a prestigious
healthcare industry conference in China, with the purpose
of “leading industrial innovation and integration”
the core tenet of “cooperation, innovation, technology,
research, development and capital”, CPEO brings together
mainstream enterprises and institutions in different sectors
in the healthcare industry, including pharmaceuticals,
commerce, capital, research and development, technology,
medical care, health services, finance and insurance.
CPEO has established itself as a global healthcare industry
conference and provide forward-looking and systematic
exchanges of ideas and information for the industry, thus
providing “decision-making” and “connection” support for
the development of the healthcare industry.

and
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In addition to CPEO, the Group has set up a number
of parallel summits in professional fields such as the
Pharmaceutical Innovation Ecological Conference, the
Capital Summit, the New Marketing Summit and the
Whole Life-cycle Health Security Roundtable Forum. As
for pharmaceutical retails scenarios, PHCF (Pharma &
Healthcare Conference and Fair) and MASC (Marketing
and Sales Conference), held in March and November every
year focus on precise links for both ends of the retail.
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With the purpose of “full chain integration, inheritance
and innovation”, the first Traditional Chinese medicine
Ecological Conference and Traditional Chinese medicine
Industry Expo (R B B AR A GEPBEEXFTER)
was successfully held in December 2023. The conference
brought together academicians in the field of Traditional
Chinese medicine, Traditional Chinese medicine masters,
presidents of Traditional Chinese medicine hospitals,
presidents of Traditional Chinese medicine universities,
experts and scholars, research institutes, authentic herbal
medicine planting bases, terminal entity chains (Traditional
Chinese medicine pavilions and retail pharmacies),
political and business leaders, enterprise representatives
and other industry elites, with more than 5,000 official
guests attending. Industrial integration and innovation are
promoted, through various forms of in-depth interaction
such as policy interpretation, information release,
exhibition, transformation of academic achievements and
academic exchanges.

Health Industry Media Matrix

Media platforms such as the No. 1 Pharmacy Management
Academy (% — % JE & 12 2 [&), the No. 1 Pharmacy
Wise (58 — % J§ Bf %) and the Pharmacy Folks (%% &
A), which focus on providing industry information, staff
training, professional data interpretation, and industry
trend research and judgment for pharmacies, help medical
product suppliers and pharmaceutical retail enterprises
achieve efficient links.

Some media platforms aim to provide the latest
information for industry participants, offer a display
platform for enterprise customers, and link industrial
resources, such as New Health World (¥t & #), a new
media platform which provides industrial think tanks for
investment and financing research in the health industry,
the Medical Oncology Forum (f& /& 2 £ % 1&), which
is set up for the purpose of “co-shaping the values of
oncology medicine”, promoting the sharing of clinical
diagnosis and treatment concepts and the return of
medical humanistic nature, and facilitating the exchange
of Chinese oncologists and the development of oncology
in China, and the Physician Weekly (2 &f /& ), which
is an information sharing platform focusing on medical
development.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES AND PROMOTING
THEIR DEVELOPMENT

1.

Protecting the rights and interests of employees
The Group firmly believes that talents are an
important resource for the Group’s sustainable
development strategy and an important cornerstone
for promoting innovative development and scale
upgrading of the enterprise. The Group strictly
abides by relevant laws and regulations such as
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Employment Promotion Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China. Such laws
and regulations fully protect the rights and interests
of employees, so that we can form an efficient and
collaborative talent team. We adopt diversified
ways to recruit professional talents, laying a solid
foundation for the rapid development of the Group.
We focus on developing extensive training courses,
enhancing the professionalism of employees,
implementing a transparent mechanism for
performance appraisal and promotion of employees
and ensuring the stability of the talent team. At
the same time, we are committed to creating an
inclusive and comfortable working environment
for our employees. Through diversified corporate
cultural activities and caring benefits, we can
effectively enhance employees’ sense of happiness
and belonging.
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Staff recruitment

The Group has established a sound talent
recruitment management system. We continuously
improve recruitment efficiency through
process-based and systematic recruitment
management. We continue to attract talents to
join the Group through recruitment in society. For
some special positions, in addition to headhunting
recommendations, the Group also attracts
outstanding high-calibre talents through a wide
range of external recommendation channels, so
as to enrich the professionalism and experience
of the team. In addition, we have implemented
the Sinohealth internal referral system. For the
job requirements updated by the Group on
external websites, the employees of the Group can
accumulate bonus points and obtain certain internal
referral rewards according to the internal referral
rules.

In the recruitment process, we pursue the
recruitment principle of openness, equality and
competition. Objective factors such as experience,
professional ability, potential, comprehensive
quality, values and job-seeking motivation of each
applicant are important indicators for us to select
outstanding talents. During the registration process
of recruitment, candidates must first pass the
identity verification to ensure that they meet the
requirements of legal employment age. If there are
violations of requirements such as identity and age,
both parties can agree to cancel the employment,
and in case a labor contract having been signed,
both parties can immediately terminate the labor
contract to protect their legal labor rights and
interests. During the Reporting Period, we did not
employ any child labor or forced labor.
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Compensation and performance

The Group's practices on entry salary, salary
payment and salary adjustment are all subject to
the Group’s salary management system, and are
strictly implemented in accordance with the relevant
internal policies of the Group. In the management of
salary, the Group will make appropriate adjustments
based on the performance appraisal results of
employees in each department within a reasonable
budget.
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By formulating reasonable strategic objectives,
business plans and performance appraisal
mechanisms, the Group improves the ability
and performance of individual employee as well
as enhances the organisational management
standard and efficiency. In order to achieve
sustainable and rapid growth in performance
coaching management and employee personal
development, we have established the Performance
Appraisal Management System to objectively and
fairly measure, and facilitate the improvement
of, employees’ personal abilities, as well as to
assist the Group's corporate governance. Starting
from the four aspects of responsibility result
orientation, two-way communication, fairness and
objectivity and dynamic adjustment, we conduct
detailed indicator assessments every one month
taking into account the work nature of related
departments and the assessment indicators, and
conduct a combined assessment at the end of the
year. The setting of assessment objectives is based
on the self-assessment of employees. According
to the annual plan of the individual position, the
assessment cycle is gradually reduced to a shorter
period. The assessment indicators and weights are
set up first, and then the plan of the employee’s
post is reviewed and adjusted under the discussion
of the immediate superior and HRBP. Finally,
the performance goals are jointly confirmed and
self-conclusion and result evaluation are conducted
during the assessment cycle. The superior evaluates
employee’s daily work based on their performance
and gives suggestions for improvement, so that the
employee can get comprehensive and substantial
feedback. In order to ensure the efficiency of the
Group's performance management operation, we
also provide a performance appeal channel, through
which employees can appeal in writing if they have
any objections to the performance appraisal results.
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In order to enhance employees’ independent
working ability, enthusiasm and initiative for
work, at the end of each performance appraisal
year, the Group will open regular promotion
channels to employees, and leverage on a sound
corporate promotion system to attract and
motivate outstanding core talents. Those who
have outstanding performance or have made
significant contributions to the Group will be
promoted exceptionally, and the Group will open
special annual promotion channels for them so that
outstanding talents can be retained.

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed
the share repurchase according to the share
incentive scheme, and developed the incentive
proposal taking into account factors such as the
performance in the Reporting Period and in future
in order to motivate core employees who have an
important impact on the Company’s operating
results and future development.

Promotion and career development

The Group provides diversified development
direction and space for in-service employees. First
of all, based on the dual-channel development path
of their job position, employees may choose their
professional and management direction. On the one
hand, they can further develop their professional
skills, accumulate profound professional capabilities
and help customers achieve success. On the other
hand, when their professional skills reach certain
level, they may also flow horizontally to other
job positions, and to become cross-regional and
cross-business talents, so as to make their personal
development more diversified.
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The Group classifies the ranking of professional
talents in a scientific manner, and adopts
the method of “separating evaluation from
employment” for job promotion, which means
that the premise of job promotion is to obtain the
qualification of corresponding ranking, but the
success of job qualification certification does not
necessarily lead to job promotion. Instead, the values
and potentials shall be evaluated comprehensively
to ensure the appropriate matching of job position
and talent and the preciseness of job promotion.
As for the promotion of managers, the Group
encourages equal employment to stimulate the
maximum potential of the individuals, and prioritizes
the selection of managers from the teams that can
overcome difficulties based on the result and facts.

Working hours and holidays

In accordance with the Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and
regulations, and in light of the actual situation of
the Group, the Group has clearly states in its Staff
Manual the working hours and related vacation
arrangements of employees. We adopt a standard
working hour system and follow regulations to
formulate practicable working hours to ensure that
employees have sufficient rest time. Employees
are required to work 5 days a week and 7 hours
a day. In addition, we will implement flexible
working hours to improve the work efficiency of
employees, but employees shall consciously abide
by the Group’s working hour system and work in
the workplace specified by the Group. If there is the
need to work at home in special circumstances, a
flexible mixed work mode can be adopted.
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The Group will appropriately adjust the specific
working hour system and working hours for special
positions in accordance with legal regulations and in
light of the actual situation, and implement relevant
specific plans after getting written approval from
the human resources operation center. In addition
to the annual leave and statutory holidays stipulated
by the Labor Law of PRC, current employees of
the Group are entitled to additional leave such as
wedding leave, maternity leave and paternity leave.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination
The Group has always spared no effort to protect
equal and legitimate rights and interests of
employees, and is committed to promoting equal
opportunities and fair treatment for our employees
and avoiding direct or indirect discrimination against
employees or job applicants due to gender, race,
pregnancy, disability, marital status, family status
and other factors. We strive to create a harmonious
and comfortable workplace environment, respect
and treat every employee well, and enhance their
sense of belonging to the Group.

We are committed to promoting gender equality
in the Group. Gender equality is embedded in
the corporate culture from the management
onwards, and women at all levels are given equal
opportunities for development and influence. The
Board is divided equally between male and female,
and female employees account for more than 56%
of the total workforce, reflecting the diversity,
fairness and inclusiveness of the Group.
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Staff training and development

The Group is well aware that employees are the
key resources for the long-term development of
the enterprise, hence the growth and development
of employees is also one of the Company's
important strategies. Focusing on the achievement
of corporate strategic goals, the Group has built
a dual-development T&D (Training&Development)
system that focuses on talent development at the
company level and business improvement at the
departmental level.

Training blueprint: Dual Development T&D System
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The company-level training system is built on
the Group’s strategic objectives by taking into
account organizational and talent inventory results,
competency models, leadership models, professional
learning maps and IDP tools

Focusing on the construction of the training system,
and in light of the personal career development
plan of employees, we provide diversified training
for employees through a combination of online and
offline modes, and also recommend personalised
courses based on the requirements of different
positions, including basic drug knowledge,
Greenplum technology sharing, medical reform
training and other trainings on industry knowledge.
Through the Sinohealth Internal Trainer Program,
we have also cultivated a group of internal trainers
who have a deep understanding of the Company’s
internal training needs and have accumulated
relevant knowledge and are willing to share.

In order to help new employees integrate faster
and deepen their understanding of the Group’s
culture and business, the Group regularly organises
a two-day training course for new employees,
covering corporate culture and development,
systems and policies of the Group, system usage,
and business introduction etc. Through online
examinations, the understanding of the training
content can be deepened. A series of interviews,
such as the sharing from role models and CPEO
veterans, provide good guidance for new employees
to understand their job content and how to solve
the difficulties they are about to face.
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Occupational safety and health

The Group always puts the health and safety of its
employees at the top priority, and strictly abides by
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Emergency Response, the Work Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Administrative
Measures for Contingency Plans for Emergencies
and other relevant laws and regulations. The
Group is committed to creating a healthy and
comfortable working environment for employees. In
addition to providing employees with free physical
examinations every year to protect their physical and
mental health, we have also formulated an internal
employee handbook to clearly define the obligations
and responsibilities that each employee should
observe in respect of health and safety, so as to
protect their own safety. Meanwhile, we also remind
employees to maintain a sound mental health at
all times. If any problems relating to employees
such as abnormal work behavior, difficulties in life
and emotional problems are found, they should be
reported to the relevant departments in time. We
have had no work-related fatalities reported in the
past three years (including the Reporting Period).
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Employee care and welfare

We pay attention to the feelings of employees,
and believe that improving employees’ sense
of happiness and belonging can help retain
outstanding talents. We have established a
comprehensive welfare system to fully take care of
employees’ working life and needs. In addition to
the contribution to social security for employees
such as pension, medical care, unemployment,
work-related injury and housing provident fund in
accordance with the social security policy stipulated
by law, we also provide other special benefits,
including red packets for bridesmaids, holiday gifts,
meal allowance, wedding bonuses, team building
funds, cultural and recreation activities, health
checkups and anniversary commemorations. In
addition to statutory holidays, the Company adds an
extra day of welfare leave during the Chinese New
Year Festival for employees to have more time to
reunite with relatives and friends and try to avoid
the peak period of travel during the festival.

In consideration of the rest, breast milk preparation
and breastfeeding requirements of female
employees who are new mothers, the Company has
maintained a new “Mommy Cottage” for mothers
at work, which is equipped with sofas, refrigerators,
tables, cute pillows and disinfection supplies. While
ensuring hygiene, it avoids the inconvenience of
mothers going to a public refrigerator in the pantry
to fetch and store milk, also acting as a token for
paying tribute to each great mother at work.
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In addition to work, the Company also organises TEZ# ARt EEITANHAST
a variety of club activities among the staff. These ZEMNHB RS EEETHES

activities enrich the leisure life of the staff and BEINERLEET ReEBIHEBRE
improve the cohesion of the staff team. The activities - MBFERLHHELHR/AETBL
include, among others, the manicure session, which METEENEFNEE -—ZRES
is a special event for all female employees on the BREMBROFRTFES FTEAE
National Working Women's Day every year, the Hg HREHEE BREHTSE -

parent-child activity held on International Children’s
Day, quarterly birthday parties, Christmas activities
and fun sports games.
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STANDARDIZED OPERATION MANAGEMENT

1.

Product quality management

The Group has always been committed to providing
customers with the best product experience, strictly
complying with relevant regulations, improving its
service quality attentively, gaining insight into the
needs of customers and following up the whole
process of services for the products. By enhancing
the knowledge reserve of frontline sales staff and
the supporting service team the Group carries
out honest and compliant marketing, responds
to customer needs more efficiently. A variety of
ways have been used to communicate and interact
with customers to enhance customers’ trust in the
Group’s products. We have in place strict product
and service quality measures in all business areas
of the Group. The Group has obtained the quality
management system certification (GB/T 19001-2016/
ISO9001:2015). In addition, the Group continues
to improve product quality and enhance its product
quality management standards.
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The Group maintains continuous communication
with customers in the process of selling products and
services. The Group has formulated the After-Sales
Operation Process (the “"SOP"), and set up an
after-sales service department to be responsible
for accepting complaints from customers. After
receiving customer complaints, the after-sales
service department cooperates with relevant
departments to discuss the essence of the problem,
formulates solutions and actively implements them
to meet customer demands in a most practicable
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way. The Group will then identify the responsible EIBERERRRBEHKEFR -
department based on the cause of the complaint,
formulate a preventive and corrective mechanism,
and provide training to relevant personnel to prevent
similar incidents from happening again. During the

Reporting Period, no complaints about products and

services were received.
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Business ethics and anti-money laundering
internal management

The Group strictly abides by national laws and
regulations such as the Anti-unfair Competition Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Company Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Tendering
and Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and is committed to
creating an honest and upright working atmosphere
for conducting business and pursuing career in
compliance with the laws and regulations. In order
to prevent corruption incidents, the Group has
formulated and implemented the Anti-corruption
and Bribery Management Regulations, the Business
Ethics Control Procedures and the Conflict of
Interest Declaration Management System. The
internal audit department of the Group sorts
out the work processes in various business
areas of the Group, formulates anti-corruption
measures and investigates relevant behaviors. Key
personnel in the core business departments and
back-office departments must sign the Integrity
and Self-discipline Commitment Letter. When
dealing with work-related matters, employees must
maintain honesty and integrity and abide by a fair
and honest style of work and professional ethics,
and immediately report to relevant personnel in the
event of conflicts of interest so as to avoid damage
to the Group due to conflicts of interest.

The Group has established a strict and safe
corruption reporting channel, and strictly protect
the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers.
The Group will take necessary disciplinary and
legal actions to punish those who violate laws and
regulations, and jointly develop a code of conduct
that upholds integrity.
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The Group attaches great importance to
anti-corruption training and publicity, and conducts
anti-corruption and integrity training for Directors
and employees to continuously consolidate the
concept of integrity operation within the Group.
The Group will regularly include the publicity and
implementation of the professional ethics and
integrity requirements of business ethnic and
anti-money laundering in the training contents for
new employees, including the Anti-corruption and
Anti-bribery Management Regulations, the Business
Ethics Control Program, the Conflict of Interest
Declaration Management System, the Employee
Handbook and the Personnel Management System
formulated by the Group. The Group updates the
relevant knowledge and requirements of Directors
and employees through online training by the
interpretation of typical cases and the amendments
to relevant laws and regulations from time to time.

In addition, all departments must strictly abide by
the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant regulations. It
is strictly forbidden to handle business or conduct
commercial cooperation for customers with unclear
identities, with a view to controlling illegal money
laundering from the source and closely monitoring
illegal entities. In respect of large-amount funds
and suspicious transactions, we will closely monitor
transactions suspected of money laundering. In
order to strengthen employees’ awareness of
anti-corruption, we provide training on compliance
of anti-corruption related policies to all employees
(including the members of the Board) every year.
Board members can learn about the Group's
anti-corruption policies and relevant laws and
regulations by participating online trainings on
anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy. For other
representatives working for the Group, such
as contractors, consultants, agents, etc., are
required to include business ethics and anti-money
laundering terms as an integral part of the signing
of the cooperation agreement.
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During the year, there were no complaints or
lawsuits against the Group or any Directors and
employees of the Group for corruption practices.

Management of intellectual property rights
The Group adheres to technological innovation
and empowers the industrial players through
cutting-edge technologies such as big data, Al
and cloud computing. Knowing the importance
of protecting intellectual property rights for the
sustainable development of the Group, we strictly
comply with the Patent Law of the PRC, the
Copyright Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of
the PRC and other relevant laws and regulations,
and actively carry out the declaration of intellectual
property rights. The Group has formulated
the Management Regulations on Intellectual
Property Rights to clearly clarify the research and
development of the Group’s technology, strengthen
the management of intellectual property rights
to protect intangible assets and promote the
sustainable development of the Group.

The Group has set up dedicated intellectual
property managers who are responsible for the
routine management of intellectual property rights
and monitoring whether the Group’s intellectual
property rights are infringed on different platforms
from time to time. Once infringements are found,
we will promptly notify relevant departments and
do the job of checking evidence, and take active
measures to cooperate with relevant departments to
solve problems under the guidance of administrative
law enforcement agencies and judicial authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no
major incidents of infringement of intellectual
property rights, and the Group has taken all
reasonable measures to fully protect the Group’s
rights and interests in respect of its intellectual
property, while avoiding any violation of the
legitimate rights and interests of third parties.
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Supplier Management

We regard suppliers as important partners for
the sustainable development of the Group, and
are committed to establishing long-term mutually
beneficial and win-win cooperation with them
through in-depth cooperation in platform resources,
data, technology and other aspects. In order to
strengthen the management of suppliers, we
have prepared the Supplier Management Rules
to manage suppliers in terms of selection and
inclusion of suppliers, evaluation of cooperation
process, acceptance of results and regular dynamic
evaluation.

In addition, we will also consider social and
environmental factors in the process of selecting
suppliers. Purchasing must meet the requirements
of green procurement, and environmentally friendly
products and services are preferred, with a view to
reducing resource consumption and environmental
pollution in the process of manufacturing,
transportation, storage and usage. The products
purchased should use clean energy, which helps
to reduce the waste of water resources and avoid
waste caused by excessive purchases.

The Group generally includes the suppliers inspected
in each procurement process into the database of
suppliers, which are classified into qualified suppliers
and potential suppliers and appended with detailed
description of inspection and evaluation. For
example, in respect of IT hardware assets, in order
to ensure the continuous supply and stable quality
of products, the Group reviews new suppliers every
year and performs comprehensive evaluation from
six aspects, namely supplier qualifications, company
size, solution demand matching, price rationality,
service standard clarity and technical personnel
capabilities.
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The Group conducts a detailed evaluation of the
performance in the process of cooperation with
suppliers, and the Group’s finance department is
responsible for reviewing the compliance of the
subject matter and payment. The performance
evaluation of all suppliers is carried out from four
dimensions, i.e. system equipment failure rate,
service response speed, problem handling result
quality and technical personnel capabilities. For
software suppliers, the Group conducts performance
evaluation at certain key time points such as upon
the launch of the pilot, after the acceptance of the
project and before the annual renewal of services.

The Group communicates closely with suppliers
through telephone, email, online meetings and
on-site inspections in its normal operation, and
regularly plans the next year's cooperation service
plan, new changes in products and services, internal
demands, etc. During the progress of the projects,
the Group and its suppliers regularly conduct
face-to-face communication, actively feedback on
the progress of the projects and sort out relevant
demands, so as to lay a sound foundation for
further cooperation. As at the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group had a total of 137 suppliers in its
database, of which 90 were located in Guangdong
Province.
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GREEN AND LOW-CARBON DEVELOPMENT
INITIATIVES

The Group faithfully fulfills corporate environmental
protection responsibilities while developing its business,
abides by the Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other relevant national
environmental protection regulations, integrates the
concept of green development into all aspects of
operation and actively explores energy saving and emission
reduction practices, coordinating with continuous green
training and publicity. The Group is committed to reducing
the impact of its business operations on the environment
and promoting the harmonious integration between the
enterprise and the environment.

1. Energy saving and emission reduction

The Group attaches great importance to
environmental protection and often promotes the
concept of environmental protection and sustainable
development to employees through different
channels. The Group tries its best to save energy and
reduce waste in its daily operation, so as to reduce
the emission of exhaust gas. Through different
publicity activities for environmental protection,
employees’ awareness of reducing exhaust emissions
has been raised. During the year, the Group’s
energy consumption mainly came from electric
power, water and paper use in the office area. The
main energy saving and emission reduction policies
were implemented as follows:

Energy saving

1. Encourage employees to turn off the lights
when leaving the office to prevent the cases
of “unused lights”.

2. Reduce the standby power consumption of
office equipment such as computers and
printers, and set the device to automatically
enter hibernation state with low energy
consumption when the device is not in use.
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3. Set the air-conditioning temperature 3. &EBX E’L.ﬂxmfg'#ﬁﬂﬁ‘
reasonably, i.e. setting the air-conditioning EREF Ii BHWEEFHZE
temperature in offices and conference rooms ERETESERE EEZGE ' Fa'ﬂ
in summer no lower than 26 degrees Celsius, Z= HE Ry 4 8 ?‘ﬁ &R e
and close windows when the air-conditioning
is turned on.

4. Rent and use the cloud service area resources 4. WRPLREGREBLRFHRE
of Alibaba Cloud and Huawei Cloud as the ARk —HEFRANE
application servers of the collaborative office E EZRENERKRBEER
system and business system so as to reduce B 2N b 7] AR 2% BR BB BF F Y e
the energy consumption in the procurement TR E R o
and deployment of local servers.

In addition, the Group also replaced N REBETELNEFZIR
long-distance and face-to-face meetings FrexgfFErEda s BARE
with electronic communication means such EMAEEHEZ RIABAEZEIR
as telephone or online meetings to reduce EERTEER - BiE s ik
carbon emissions from business travel. BEINSHEESRGARS -
Through the above measures, employees’
awareness of energy saving had been
enhanced.
The following table sets out the energy TREIAKNE BB E2023F12
consumption performance of the Group for ABMAIEFEMRIRBERKRE
the year ended 31 December 2023:
Year ended 31
December 2023
BZ
2023 F
12A31H
Energy consumption BRHEE LtFE
Electricity purchased (kilowatt hours) HNIE B N (F | B) 474,335

Oil consumption by vehicles (litres) B A () 643.85
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The Group has considered quantitative information
reflecting the Group’s management of the risks
associated with environment, society and climate,
including greenhouse gas (“"GHG") emissions
and resources consumption. GHG emissions
include scope 1 and scope 2 emissions. Scope 1
direct emissions include GHG emissions from the
Company’s administrative vehicles, and scope 2
indirect emissions include GHG emissions from the
electricity purchased by the Company.

Emissions BE Bk

RIE-HEKEIGHRS
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Year ended 31
December 2023
BZE

2023
12HA31H
t+FE

GHG emissions (tonnes of CO2-e)

mEREHNE

Scope 1 (direct emissions) (tonnes of CO2-e)

Scope 2 (indirect emissions) (tonnes of CO2-e)

(g — | (LIRS &

HE1(EERFRE)

(WE |t E =
HFE2(FMEHER=E)
(WE |t E =

276.35

0.76

275.59

emission factors in Appendix II: Guidelines for Reporting
Environmental Key Performance Indicators in How to
Prepare the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

* GHG emissions are calculated based on relevant * BEREHEMGE: 1&#%\%%?&%(@
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Water conservation

The Group's business does not require substantial
water usage and there is no issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. The Group adopts water
conservation measures such as:

1. Strengthen the repair and maintenance of
water equipment to avoid waste of water
resources.

2. Post water-saving slogans in pantries and
restrooms, calling on employees to develop
good habits of water conservation.

3. Turn off the water tap in time when getting
hand sanitizer.

Paper saving

1. Make full use of online office and implement
a paperless office process to reduce paper
consumption. The office uniformly uses
the internal OA system and the corporate
WeChat on the mobile terminal. All internal
regulations, documents and notices shall be
distributed by online electronic document
mode. The input of internal meetings is
also sent through corporate WeChat group
electronic documents to avoid paper text
printing.

2. Reduce the number of repeated printing,
advocate double-sided paper usage and
control the number of documents printed.

3. Pay attention to the reuse of used paper to
achieve recycling.
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Waste management

The Group calls on employees to reduce the use of
disposable items so as to save resources and reduce
waste. In addition, the Group actively implements
the requirements of the national government
and conducts waste sorting and recycling. For
waste paper, plastic and other recyclable garbage
generated in the office area, the Group arranges
cleaning staff to hand them over to waste recyclers
on a regular basis. For daily office waste such as
paper and plastic generated in the office area, the
Group arranges cleaning personnel to regularly
hand over to waste recyclers for disposal, and
for non-recyclable waste and hazardous waste,
uniformly hand over to the property management
company for disposal. Through strict implementation
of the garbage sorting system, the Group has
improved the setting of trash bins in the original
office, reduced the number of trash bins, centrally
placed the recycling trash bins in the office instead
of small and medium-sized trash bins next to
employee workstations, so as to instruct employees
to sort out garbage, protect the environment
and jointly practice scientific waste collection and
management.

Responding to climate change

In the face of the challenge of global climate
change, we strive to fulfill China’s emission
reduction responsibilities promised in the Paris
Climate Agreement and support the country’s
vision of achieving carbon peaking in 2030
and carbon neutrality in 2060. As a responsible
enterprise, we will regularly review the risks and
opportunities of climate change for the Group,
identify the substantial and transformation risks
that climate change may bring to the Group, fulfill
our commitments to environmental protection and
emission reduction, and achieve environmental
compliance management and operation.
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The Directors discussed and reviewed the risks
of global climate change on the operation and
transformation of the entities under the Group at
the annual board meeting. The extreme weather
risks that may be brought about by climate-related
issues, such as frequent and extreme typhoons and
floods, may increase the operation and maintenance
costs of our infrastructures and related insurance
costs and may also affect the health and safety of
our employees.

In respect of transformation risks, our related
operating costs may be increased based on the
assessment on the government regulatory policies,
technology and market trends as well as the more
in-depth practical requirements for sustainable
development. For instance, replacing more
energy-saving and environment-friendly lighting
facilities, expanding the green space in the office
and the possible emission disclosure requirements
will also increase our related monitoring costs.

In addition to the risks described above, we have
identified no other risks that may have material
impact on the operation, strategic planning and
financial performance of our entities.
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ACTIVELY GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY
Sinohealth Holdings attaches great importance to
social issues, adheres to social responsibilities, actively
participates in the development of local and the health
industry public welfare undertakings, and makes
contributions to community development.

Children are the future of a country and the hope of a
nation. Zhongkang Technology, Baheal Pharmaceutical and
caring entrepreneurs and elites in health industry upheld
the initial intention of public welfare, shouldered social
responsibilities, focused on the healthy growth of rural
children and adolescents, and worked with China Children
and Adolescents Foundation (F R ZEZ VL FE £ g) to
jointly carry out the “Family Health Protection Action (%
FE & BT =T % 77 &))”. RMB500,000 in cash and loving care
materials worth of RMB500,000 were donated to China
Children and Adolescents Foundation (Ff B 52 & > F£ &
% &) through joint donation.
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In order to gather the wisdom of the whole industry,
build consensus, and promote the development of health
industry, Zhongkang Technology donated RMB600,000
to China Health Charity Foundation (dt & & B B A 25 &
%© &) for the launch of the Global Health Development
Forum (2R R EREE® H).

In order to consolidate the achievements of poverty
alleviation and help rural revitalization, the subsidiaries of
the Group actively participated in the 2023 Guangdong
Poverty Alleviation Day activities in Tianhe District, and
jointly provided special donations for the construction
project of rice drying workshops in poor townships with
many enterprises.

The Group will constantly practice the industrial spirit
of “responsibility and commitment “, actively fulfill its
corporate social responsibility, and adhere to the mission
of “developing smart healthcare industry, and promoting
smart healthy life”. In the future, the Group will continue
to focus on digital life-cycle health management, explore
various ways to serve the society and fulfill its corporate
responsibility with gratitude.

REZZEXREE REAZ RERRE
EXER TEMHRAIERTER2GE
TERBOBETARE ARAREZNE
FHRIBE®E -

AEEHRBEREBERRE BHABHKRE K
ESENBRARERALME2023FRTREER
KEERBEE BRZLEXRABER
HEEIHCEEHERERREHEREBR
I o

AEBRBFHERTIECHES INERR
BOEBETEELSEE BT(E2R
FEFX SZRELEINED  RKKE
BEEEFLL2EaBHREEE K
ZROSHEN TN URBRZLOETHR
XAME-
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APPENDIX I: ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL ffi# — R RHLEBARERNERE
KPI SUMMARY BE

Environmental performance Unit FY 2023
RBEXRH B 2023 8t
GHG emissions

BERBHERE

Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) tonnes of CO, -e 0.76
BEEREREBHR(EHE—) —aftmEs

Indirect GHG emissions (scope 2) tonnes of CO, -e 275.59
FEAEREHEMR(EE_) —_&1 ﬁ?-?%

GHG emissions intensity

BERBIEREE

GHG emissions intensity (per m?) tormes of CO, -e/m? 0.07
BRERBEREE (BT HXK) —&1 ﬁ$§/$3><

GHG emissions intensity (per employee) tonnes of CO, -e/employee 0.36
mERBHEMRTE(E L) —&1h ﬁﬁ.?é/éil

Electricity consumption

BER 3 A

Purchased electricity consumption Mega KWh 474,335
INEENRAE KT B

Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per m?) | Mega KWh/m? 112.17
SNEBEBEHRBEE(ETHK) K F R & F T K

Purchased electricity consumption intensity (per Mega KWh/employee 624.95

employee) kT EE 8T

INEENRABE(ETL)

Water consumption

KR H 3

Total water consumption m?3 852.5
Rk E 3777 3K

Total water consumption intensity (per m?) m3/employee 0.2
mEKEBEEF R K) S ORE T K

Total water consumption intensity (per employee) m3/employee e 12
mEKEE(BEL) MAK/ET
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Environmental performance Unit FY 2023
BREXRH B 2023 Bf
Hazardous waste

BEEEREY

Used toner cartridges unit 20
BEERNR &

Used batteries unit 700
Non-hazardous waste

BEBRREY

Generation of non-hazardous waste kg 13590
BEEEVEE Tr

Non-hazardous waste intensity (per employee) kg/employee 17.9
BEEEEVWEETE(EI) FTr/EL

Paper consumption

A 5% H 3

Paper consumption kg 210
MERAE T

Paper consumption intensity (per employee) kg/employee 0.28
MERHEEEE(EI) FRBT
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Social scope Unit FY2023
HEEHE By 20238 &
All employees person 759
TEET A

Total number of employees (by gender)

ETHAH(RMERNZED)

Female employees person 484
ZHET A

Male employees person 275
EMHET A

Total number of employees (by age group)

ETRAB(RFRARNS D)

Aged below 30 person 440
30BEMATET A

Aged 30-50 person 310
31-50% E T A

Aged over 50 person 9
50 EFE T A

Total number of employees (by employment category)

ETRAB(REIEEES)

Full-time entry-level employees person 722
ZBREEET A

Full-time middle-level management person 30
ERAPRER A

Full-time senior management person 7
TRERERERE A

Total number of employees (by geographical region)

ETHYRHEESR D)

Employees in North China person 105
PR AR EREE T A

Employees in South China person 654
PEAERAEREEE T A
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Social scope Unit FY2023
HEEHE By 20238 &
Employee turnover rate (by gender)

EIRALB(RMERE D)

Female employees percentage 39
ZMET B

Male employees percentage 24
EMET B

Employee turnover rate (by age group)

EIRAERRFRARNE D)

Aged below 30 percentage 27
30mMRLATET B

Aged 30-50 percentage 27
31-50 8 T Bk

Aged over 50 percentage =
50 EE T B

Employee turnover rate (by geographical region)

EITRALH(REESR D)

North China percentage 30
A B K BE AL 75 #b [ [ERagsd

South China percentage 26
H B K = Fg 7 b [ Bkt

Percentage of employees trained (by gender)

FAl& I Fl (R R & 5)

Female employees percentage 63
TMHEET B

Male employees percentage 37
FEMHET B
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Social scope Unit FY2023
HEEHE By 20238 &
Percentage of employees trained (by employment category)
ZHNEITLHRETERNED)

Full-time entry-level employees percentage 95
ZBREAEET B

Full-time middle-level management percentage 4
PP RERE B

Full-time senior management percentage 1
ZRERERE B

Average training hours per employee (by gender)
ZHNETFPHEFINGHR(RERE D)

Female employees hour 12.4
ZHEET N

Male employees hour 11.6
SEMET N

Average training hours per employee (by employment category)
FUBTFPHEIBR(RETHEND)

Full-time entry-level employees hour 12.1
ERAEET N

Full-time middle-level management hour 13.6
2R R EEE NG

Full-time senior management hour 6.3
TR RERE N
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Social scope Unit FY2023
HEEHE By 20238 &

Occupational health and safety - Cases of work-related casualties of employees
BERENZZ2-BEIERIETH
Work-related fatalities (2020, 2021 and 2023) person -

B I3 T AZ(2020 2021 %2023 &) A
Work-related fatality rate (2020, 2021 and 2023) | percentage -
B T3 T bk & (2020 - 2021 % 2023 F &) Bt
Lost days due to work-related injuries day -
HIBEEXIIERH X
Anti-corruption
REF
Number of concluded cases regarding corrupt case -
practices brought against the Group or R
employee

BASEAETRESERENEITHALH
MR A
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Bt X AR %

ﬁ‘?iﬁr&mu\

Indicator Content Respective Section
EEMA REZH
A. Environmental Area
ARHER
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations
, that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges | Green and low-carbon
General disclosure | , e
i into water and land, and generat|on of hazardous_and ngn hazardous waste. development initiatives
FREZRESRBAN mARLHNAS BERERNNELZN QU | REERERES
R ROEFHETAGEATENRB LR AR
Green and low-carbon
development initiatives
Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data ~1. Energy saving and emission
' FHNERRREANEE reduction
BERREREE-1HEN
o
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions (in tonnes) and, where Appendix I: Environmental and
A2 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). social KPI summary
' EREBRNRARAZBR)RZRBINEOCIEG ) R(MERZEM | BE— RARLEBREN
A1 Emiscions WEESEN BRREHR) RERE
INRE 3¢/ Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | Appendix I: Environmental and
s unit of production volume, per facility). social KPI summary
' FEEREZEENASUHA B RMARZE(NUGESEN SBRE | WE—RERMEBREN
it8) ERAR
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Appendix I: Environmental and
A4 per unit of production volume, per facility). social KPI summary
' FEENEZEENLEIBHERMER)ZE(MASESEN GERE | B RERMEBREN
ith)e ERRE
. . , Green and low-carbon
e D”e‘sc\npt!on;of em|§S|<)En target(s? seit and steps taken to achieve them. oDt tes
HRMTUMANEARRARNELERNRRNSR - .
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. el ‘OV,V-,Cérb,OH
Al6 development initiatives

HUREREREERRNNNE REAATINABRARRAEIELR
BHEFRROSR

REERIREE
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Indicator Content Respective Section
EEmA REEE
, Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw Green and low-carbon
General disclosure , o
_45E materials. development initiatives
e SHEBEB(BELE KRAREHHNIE BEEREEEE
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.q. electricity, gas, oil) in total (KWh | Appendix I Environmental and
o in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). social KPI summary
' RENEAMERR/AREREME RAAERENUTRTARHER | WE— RARMEBREN
RE(MIBEEEN §EREHE) FERE
Appendix I: Environmental and
23 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). | social KPI summary
' BREKERTE(MINGEREN BERMNE) . & —:BRERHEBREN
KERE
A2 : Use of Resources
R Green and low-carbon
NCERER 03 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. derelooment iz
3 ,‘—é % ‘W‘iq‘gﬁ_t = 17 5B o N
BT UME R AN ERARELERAERN ST P
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
N ‘ Green and low-carbon
W4 efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. develonment itiaties
| BAXREAKELTAEARE U RATIOBARERERAEDEL i
G R GE. BefRERER
N/A.The Group's business
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and (if applicable) operations do not involve the use
A25 proportion of per unit produced. of packaging material.
ARmAReRmanEe(NB: ) R(MER BEEENKE - AER - REENZHARY
Ay RBEMHNER.
, Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impact on the environment and natural Green and low-carbon
A3 : The Environment | General disclosure o
GHE esources. development initiatives
— WK T n
and Natlfa REFTASBARRAEEEREAY ENRE EEERIRER
Resources
A EBEERE Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural Green and low-carbon
B A31 resources and the actions taken to manage them. development initiatives
BB DR R AR E RN EAY EREANERABY BN REERERER
, Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate related issues which have Green and low-carbon
General disclosure | , , ‘ .
i impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. development initiatives
B REHE AR e R TAREY ENEARRRBSENNR REBRERER
A4 : Climate change Green and low-carbon
5 = et
A RERRA Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those development initiatives - 3.
A1 which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. Responding to climate change
HUEBRAFEHETAEEYENEARKABEE REY D GERREREE-JEHR
3 44
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Indicator Content Respective Section
EERE RBEE
B. Social area
BAEHE
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, ,
. . . , . o Caring for employees and
General disclosure | recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, o
= e : promoting their development
—REE anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. BRGREETER
BEGHRGE REREA LABEK BE TE8E ST RERMR | :
EpGBRENG: @BR ROETHETAREATENRBARRAN -
B1 : Employment Appendix I: Environmental and
. Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.q. fulltime, part-time), age group and pp L
B1: ER e seogrphica region social KPI summary
' : b o s - M- RERLEBREN
RER BEER(IZRIER) FRADRLEHAHER LY o -
ERAR
Appendix I: Environmental and
. Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. social KPI summary

Bl FRERIRMENAHEER LSS

s —: RERLEBREN
EERE

General disclosure

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
FEREZZIGRARRERERABRMAZN: QUK ROETHES
ABEAZENRBARRANNER -

Caring for employees and
promoting their development - 3.
Occupational safety and health
BERREEIZR-3B%
R2ERR

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

BECE(DERAER)SERICHOARRYL S

Appendix I: Environmental and
social KPI summary

- BERHEBREN
ERRE

Lost days due to work-related injury.
RIGEAIERY-

Appendix I: Environmental and
social KPI summary

- BREREEBREAMN
ERRE

~REE
B2.1
B2: Health and Safety
B2:ERER 2
B2.2
B23

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HUARANBRREEZ2RR URABATRER -

Caring for employees and
promoting their development - 3.
Occupational safety and health
BRERREEIZR-3EX
ZE2ERR
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B3 : Development
and Training

B3: %E REI

General disclosure

~REE

Indicator Content Respective Section
EERE RBEE
Caring for employees and

Policy on improving employees' knowledge and skills in performing their duties.
Descriptions of training activities.

RERAEERATIKRENAZRRENBR -HARNED -

promoting their development - 2.
Staff training and development
BERREEIZE-281
BIRER

The percentage of trained employees by gender and employee category (e.g. senior

Appendix I: Environmental and
social KPI summary

B3.1 management, middle-level management, etc). o N
. e s s & REREEBREN
BERREEER(NERERE FREREIANTIES RS %Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ )

ERDNES

Appendix I: Envi tal and
The average number of training hours completed by each employee by gender and of the ppe" gt

social KPI summary

B3.2 employee category.

RERREERLEES SRR ERINTHES

M —: RERLEBREN
EERE

B4 : Labor standards
B4: B TEE

General disclosure

~RKE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to prevention of child labor or forced
labor.

FEDLEIRESSIN: QBRROETHETABEATENAR LR
RABER

Caring for employees and
promoting their development - 1.
Protecting the rights and interests
of employees
BERREEIRRE-181
ERRE

B4.1

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labor.
BLRHAREANRERREETREHST

Caring for employees and
promoting their development - 1.
Protecting the rights and interests
of employees
BERREBIZE-1.81
ERRE

B42

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HERRRRRERE AR ABRRARRNSR -

Caring for employees and
promoting their development - 1.
Protecting the rights and interests
of employees
ARRREEIZE-1.81
EERE
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Indicator Content Respective Section
EERE RBEE
Standardized operation
General disclosure | Policies on managing the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. renagenent !
—RRE ERMEENRARL CRMBAR - R
- R EEEE
Standardized operation

management - 4. Supplier
Number of suppliers by geographical region. . b
B5.1 management

74 unué"x\ﬁ\/mn 0 2 £
FHEH AN ERYE BEELEB- A HERE

i
- , , . . , Standardized operation
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the ‘
. , , , management - 4. Supplier
55 - Supaly chain . practices are implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. -
el ‘ ' ) 4 & e & N /o
i EAABRAREENRN AERAABEANREANE HREHAAR | hrr N
management e RALEEEE-4HRAT
BS: ftEHEE = B
- . N o Standardized operation
Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply ,
, . , management - 4. Supplier
B3 chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. renagement
' BREEREERSERTNRA R eARNERN HEREBRTRER - "
. e RELELEB-4 L EAE
i
i
Standardized operation
Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and management - 4. Supplier
B5.4 services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. management

RUERERERRREZARRERRBRENEN URABATRER DL | AALEEEE-AHERT
2
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Indicator Content Respective Section
EERE RBEE
Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations, ‘ ,
o . , 3 Standardized operation
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, ,
, , , , , ‘ management - 1. Product quality
General disclosure | labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of nagement
—REE redress. %E%k{gti_*miﬂ |2
ARARKERNABARARRE & RERLESRURMRNEN O | .o
B ROETHETAREAZENREERRADMEH -
The Group had no recalled
ducts due to safety and health
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health . u‘e Sy n. ¢
reasons during the Reporting
Bo.1 reasons. Period
BEREERERAYTRR2ERERAMADNKNA DL P
- g BE8E ASENERE?
REEROAZORNER
Standardized operation
t- 1. Product qualit
- Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they are dealt with. :Z:Zg:x:t L
| BEBRERRRBORFRENREL ke T
B6: Product RENEEER 1 EnmE
responsibility BE
B Em A f Standardized operation
- . . . o , management - 3. Intellectual
83 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. oroperty managemen
' W REERREAZEETBNEN - " "
” “ ) BELERER-3ABER
BB
Standardized operation
- , management - 1. Product quality
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
Bo.4 B R B RES BRES management
i i o i i
' : BB ELER-1ERRE
BB
Digital and intelligent products
. ‘ , o . empowering efficient decision-
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are implemented , ,
, making - Data security and
B6.5 and monitored.

HLRBERHRERLBRE ARABATRERN A

privacy management
HERCERD N PRRRAR -
FEX2ER
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Indicator Content Respective Section
EERE RBEE
Standardized operation

B7: Anti-corruption
B7:RES

General disclosure

~REE

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws and requlations,
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

FBMLER 92 RERAREN: QUE: ROETHETAREATE
MEABEERAONHESR

management -2. Business ethics
and anti-money laundering
internal management
REEEER-LHXEER
BEARTENTER

Number of concluded leqal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer

Standardized operation
management -2, Business ethics
and anti-money laundering

HANEZREIREORATSH -

B7.1 or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. el managerment
RERBAEE AR EEE R UCBENENFARENEARFDER | e o oy
§ e | pEEeER-2 BEEER
BEAREERNTER
Standardized operation
management -2, Business ethics
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are . . ,
. ‘ and anti-money laundering
B7.2 implemented and monitored. ntemal management
REmEEERERE NREBAORER - e —y
e : AEEEER- L HLEES
BHRERAPER
Standardized operation
management -2, Business ethics
B3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. and anti-money laundering

internal management
REBEER-LAXEER
SERTENTER

B8: Community
investment

B3 HERE

General disclosure

~REE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities'
interests.

RBHE 2 ER TR BN AL BT ENRREE KRB ZRLEN AN
BR e

Actively giving back to society
EBOELE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,

Actively giving back to society

ESIERMDAER(NERARR)

B8.1 health, culture, sport). X
e B ol \ EEOELE
EXEREB(NYE RESE SIRK BE Xt EF)-
82 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Actively giving back to society

BREHEHE
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Ernst & Young 2K BB Tel B :%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EEHRBREEEI7E Fax {8X: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Ko — o7 ey.com
ﬁ* Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Sinohealth Holdings Limited BHPEEZERERLAFGANKRRER
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (MASHEIMARLNER R A)
OPINION =R

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Sinohealth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 177 to 310,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RPACERERNFEI177EEZEI0EN T E
TRBERARTERADERENRBRARTE
SBEDNSRAVMERR ZSUBHRERE
ER2023F 12 A31 AR A BBk R R
HEZALFEMNRABEREMZEEK
mER FEREETREEGERENER
INRGEMBHRENT EPBEEXRE
ST E R o

REMBHMEREZRBE B
BESMAg)BEMENEEY
B mE EH‘J(r%.i/%ﬁmw&iiﬁﬁllj)ﬁ:’fﬁﬁ
AR BHEEEMN2023F12A318H8
EREMBRAL REHEZBLEFENE
M BEERFEReRE YEERSE
BRAGI s BEBRRAETLRER -

;
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

HEERERAF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
1&a 31 1% 4 B ¥k &5

RRWER
HMEREFLEQFAMOASEMNET LS
AR EBETERDETES - A
Bk EEAERENEEEARNRSE [HHA0
BEFAGEENFRXAENE L] E D F
E-— TR -REFESAMOSRMD
(BEXEEERETAD) (T8 BB
YR BE&EEWEETT AR E MR
XERART -HZMAEGE HMAMESHE
ARBREARLABEHLABRMANETER
REER -

BERETEE

AREASTHEREBERMANEZHE R
SREAYGRAMBERERNEBARSEED
SR - ELEEHEREHSEAYBHRRER
ETEFLTRERNER NETREERN -
BMATHELEREHREBNER - &M
BT E-—FHREEATEHARERENE
MBIAL/E R °

BZHERET T ANME &G Fi A
BHMBEHREAAENEMLIR D BAw &I
BRESLHEREFTSHEMEABNEML M
e MBS TIERRERITREY
il B A7 & B 7% R 3R B2 K 88 AR PR &L B M &R
AANEMREF BMRATEFEFONGR
BREHSTARRETSREARITHERF
RBEEMEAMBERREREFAZREMR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

AR ETEHE

Revenue recognition

WA & #

Revenue from the sale of Data Insight Solutions,
Data-driven Publications and Events and Saa$
products amounted to RMB195,741,000,
RMB143,616,000 and RMB56,837,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, respectively. Revenue
contracts involve the judgements of identifying
performance obligations, determining the timing
of satisfaction of the services or goods, and the
estimates to measure progress towards completion.
Revenue recognition was significant to the financial
statements based on its quantitative materiality, and
the large volume of transactions that were processed
in the year and the risks that the revenue might not
be recorded in the proper periods.

HZE2023F12A31HLEFE - KB #HEHER
RER AR TSR - B 5R B B & E B) A K SaaSE
mZWAD R A ARKI95,741,0007T « A R ¥
143,616,000 7T & A R #56,837,0007C - W A & 4J
BREBINRRETNEETRIMNTRBE HE @A
MEMHE  ARFETKEENGET ERHE
ELLHNEZEURFRAIEENBEARSIHE
MEFHERARMBARAGERHEALEARSN
Bk WABRBRERBERRAEBERESE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWEFOMEERARETSEH

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition
included the following:

%17 38 5T f I A R 3R 7 2 4T A0 B EH IR L 4B I
T&E

- obtained an understanding of, evaluated and

tested management’s internal controls over
the revenue recognition process;

- TR FENAREEEYKARRER
79 P B I

- discussed with management with respect

to the recognition basis on the provision of
different types of services by checking to the
underlying contracts;

- ZBBHREZBESO BEHRTREERS
MEREEREEEETH S

- performed analytical review of revenue

to assess the reasonableness of revenue
fluctuations during the year;

- HRAETONMUERTE UFEHEFRARA
REE A I
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MR ETER

Revenue recognition (continued)

WA # 2 ()

The Group's disclosures about revenue recognition
are included note 2.4 Material accounting policies
and note 5 Revenue, other income and gains to the
financial statements.

EEERKRARBELNRBEIRTHERRN
A2AB R ERTBR MK E5 A E A K
Y g o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNEFTOMNEERRENSSEE

tested, on a sampling basis, the revenue
recognised for the year by tracing the
transactions to supporting documents,
such as contractual agreements, customers’
acceptance reports, customised reports
delivered, records of industry events or
conferences, underlying invoices or cash
receipts; and

DHEFTRARENEROBA - TER
BEBRSEIBXHWMANGE BF
BURE  FRNHNESLRE  FRE
BREBNHTE EETERRL KB E
G R

performed confirmation procedures for
the sales transactions for the year ended
31 December 2023 and outstanding trade
receivable balances as at that date, on a
sampling basis.

FLEE2023F12A31B EFEHEXT U
FBEEZBAITHNE S E WAL
WMEARNETHERRER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 B W5 B B B E

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying value of
trade receivables amounted to RMB87,821,000, after
netting off a loss allowance of RMB23,530,000,
representing 11.0% of the Group’s total assets.

R2023F 12831 KK EBEBEBEBARK
87,821,000 tf% EZ AN IEMEmMFEAS A
KX #23,530,0007C ' 1h EEEBEELE11.0%-

The Group applies the simplified approach to
measure expected credit loss at the end of reporting
period, which required expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the trade
receivables, and involved significant management’s
judgement and estimation including their assessment
of customers’ current financial positions, ageing
of receivables, existence of disputes and historic
payments, as well as forward-looking information.

AEBEEREGET EFERERRNEREE

BE ATFEEEARAERE S E WA LR
REF=HER AP REERE W HE &

BRERFPEMBYBRR  BKKEHEE 7
0 F OB L KRR 8 A TR A1 B A R 1
GEEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNEFTOMNEERRENSSE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
trade receivables included the following:

1P B 5T i E 5 Uk HK B R M T AT e B AR
FEERATEE:

- obtained an understanding of management'’s
internal control and process over the
estimation of the expected credit losses on
trade receivables and its design and operating
effectiveness;

- THREEEHEIRUERTAREEEE
EErE A EES REF - U REERAME

ML S S
5 1 o
= AX m

- evaluated management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables by reviewing
the detailed analyses of the ageing of the
receivables, the historical cash collection
records to understand the current condition
of the receivables and any long outstanding
amounts;

- FIEEEE R R U SIA A AT WS AT
APl DA R B L R U K IR IR i B RF AR
DI REER S WK LT R KK
8] N AE ] & B R 5B B & RO
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

AR ETEHE

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

B 5 FE W %R 69 6 8 ()

The Group’s disclosures about trade receivables are
included in note 2.4 Material accounting policies,
note 3 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates and note 17 Trade and notes receivables,
to the financial statements.

EEEREZERUFBELNRBERNHMF2.4

BEASHKEME WEIEKX S H B L1
KB MR M E17 & 5 & LB KW FE IR -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMWEFNMEEARETSH

- reviewed historical provisions along with other
macroeconomic information of the receivables,
any disputes between the parties involved
and the correspondence with customers on
expected settlement dates;

- BERLBBEARAEMZERKBEER
AR T CENEIMNFEARRERESR
HEEPHEE:

- discussed with management to understand
the nature and the judgement involved in
estimating the expected credit loss provision
on trade receivables; and

- HEEBRENRATEGIESEER
HEEFEERBOEE RAE: &

X IH 18

- checked the mathematical accuracy of
the calculations; and reviewed the related
disclosures in the financial statements.

. REHEMBEEREE: ARES NGB
K@ EERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
Management Discussion and Analysis of the Annual
Report (but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and
the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’ Report, the
Corporate Governance Report and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report, which are expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Directors’
Report, the Corporate Governance Report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
s0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

HEERERAF
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CDNSDLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

s rohEnkEMEB RS
i;;m Year ended 31 December 2023
e HZ2023F12A31BLLFE
2023 2022
2023 F 20226
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR¥ TR ARBT T
REVENUE A 5 396,194 356,668
Cost of sales 8 KR (172,722) (197,560)
Gross profit E M 223,472 159,108
Other income and gains H b A R W &= 5 41,285 37,707
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (32,411) (31,661)
Administrative expenses THRAX (34,641) (46,110)
Research and development costs Bt 8% B AR (61,090) (60,412)
Impairment losses on CREEREEBTHE
financial assets, net (24,079) (2,678)
Other expenses Hfth 7 X (1,155) (1,068)
Finance costs B 75 X AN 7 (640) (412)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B Bt Al i A 6 110,741 54,474
Income tax expense FEBHAX 10 (9,801) (261)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRREF 100,940 54,213
Attributable to: A TNEIEEN:
Owners of the parent NEEE A 102,032 55,758
Non-controlling interests FEERER (1,092) (1,545)
100,940 54,213
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FrR2EHWEAE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 100,940 54,213
Attributable to: ATEIEEN:
Owners of the parent /NGIE RSN 102,032 55,758
Non-controlling interests FEE R = (1,092) (1,545)
100,940 54,213
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARESER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEZHAEA
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT E4SREF
Basic and diluted ERREE 12 RMB23.94 cents  RMB13.58 cents

AR%23.94%

AR®13.589
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RO BRI R s
31 December 2023
20235128318 4
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 3 ARE TR AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS (RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB K&E 13 5,070 4,383
Right-of-use assets FCRAEEE 14(a) 13,490 6,854
Other intangible assets HihmpEE 15 1,085 1,590
Time deposits EHE 20 165,377 80,772
Deferred tax assets REEHEEE 23 3,455 686
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 188,477 94,285
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 16 1,561 2,317
Trade and notes receivables ZBHRBFRER
e W E # 17 90,043 91,993
Prepayments, other receivables and FERRIE - Hth IR
other assets RBERHEMEE 18 49,656 20,988
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEFAERR
through profit or loss e REE 19 - 2,098
Due from a related party JE U — % B Bk 5 BB 29(b) 45 -
Time deposits EHEFEX 20 344,028 175,474
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBE2EEDY 20 123,931 409,318
Total current assets REEEBE 609,264 702,188
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B 5 FE N 3E 21 13,109 14,665
Other payables and accruals H M fE 1 50E K
J& 5T 5k 18 22 63,540 74,139
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 4,211 3,223
Due to related parties JE 15 BB Bt 5 R 1A 29(b) 432 355
Tax payable JE fF % 18 2,969 5,407
Total current liabilities e RE 84,261 97,789
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 525,003 604,399
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PQSITION

#n 6 81 B Ak N &

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2023 2022
2023 2022 %
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 3 ARE TR AREFTT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELEBERRD
LIABILITIES =R 713,480 698,684
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 14(b) 10,026 3,904
Deferred tax liabilities BRLEHIEEE 23 3,000 1,544
Total non-current liabilities ERBABESR 13,026 5,448
Net assets EEZEE 700,454 693,236
EQUITY B #E
Equity attributable to owners BARHERA
of the parent FE 15 IR %€
Share capital N 24 30,384 30,384
Treasury shares EFR G5 24 (179,098) (101,121)
Reserves 1 25 852,054 765,775
703,340 695,038
Non-controlling interests FERES 26 (2,886) (1,802)
Total equity MR 700,454 693,236
Wu Yushu Wang Lifang REF EFF
Director Director BE =

179



Sinohealth Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023

180 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY S
BORRBHE R
Year ended 31 December 2023 .
BE2023F12ANALEE A

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAARRARL
Non-
Share  Treasury Share Captal ~ Statutory ~ Retained controling Total
capital shares— premium* reserve* reserve* profits* Total  interests equity
FER

BE  ERER RGEE* AREE* ArEET RERW it sz OEs
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBIOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR ARE N ARE AR AR AR AR AR
tr T T T fr T fr 1 Tr
(note2d)  (note24)  (note25)  (ote25)  (note 25)
(W) (W) (WD) (WiEs) (WD)

Year ended 31 December 2022 BENENANALEE

At 31 December 2021 RAVENANA 30 - 183,858 19372 2532 188,774 416,858 (47) 415911
Total comprehensive income for  EA2AUAEE

the year - - - - - 55,758 55,758 (1,545) 54,213
lsue of shares from iniial public & R AR EERETRA

offering 5,047 - 319,399 - - - 324 446 - 324 446
Capitalsation issue EXLEf 24,89 - (248%) - - - - - =
Brercise of the over-allotment T ERERRE

option 19 - 8,055 - - - 8174 - 8174
Share issue expense RA%ARR - = 9,077) - - - 9,07) = 9,077)
Shares repurchased EEARA - {10121) - - - - 012 - (10
Appropriation tostatutory BB EEEEA

Teserve - - - - 5,024 (5,024) - - -
Deregistration asubsidiary KB R - - - - - - - 690 690

At 31 December 2022 RNNE1A3NA 30384 (lon121) 471339 19372 29556 239508 695,038 (1802) 693236
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Attributable to owners of the parent
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831BLFE

BRARERARL
Non-
Share  Treasury Share Capital ~ Statutory  Retained controlling Total
(apital shares  premium*  reserve*  reserve* profits* Total interests equity
FER
Rt EFRE ROEE+ E2EF iERR REEN it B BER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARE N ARE N ARE N N NG N
n fr tn tr tr fr tr fr tr
(note24)  (note24)  (note25)  (note25)  (note25)
(W) (WEw)  (W22)  (Wds)  (WED)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZNBFNANALEE
At 31 December 2022 R0nENANA 3038 (101921) 477,339 1931 29,556 239,508 695,038 (1.802) 693,236
Total comprehensive income for  EAZAUAEE
the year - - - - - 102,032 102,032 (1,092 100,940
Shares repurchased EEARA - () - - - - () - ()
Dividends declared BERRE - - - - - (15753)  (15753) - (157%3)
Anpropriation tostatutory ~ EREEREE
feserye - - - - 8,449 (8,449) - - -
Deregistation asubsidiary ~~ #FEHEA - - - - - - - 8 8
A 31 December 2003 Ru3%128318 03\ (119099) 439 193 W05 3B N30 (2885 700454
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * ZEFBEREENR2023F12A318 1

reserves of RMB852,054,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB765,775,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023.

MEMBARRANGEEFBEARR
852,054,000t (2022F 12 A31H : AR¥

765,775,000 7T) °
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e
mEIREMER i
Year ended 31 December 2023
BZ203F12A31BLEE DA
2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BR B¢ Al 4 A 110,741 54,474
Adjustments for: RATEEAE:
Finance costs B 7 AR 7 640 412
Bank interest income BTN B KA 5 (26,668) (6,615)
Investment income received from R AFEFAEBZEH
financial assets at fair value EREERGFHR
through profit or loss BA 5 (500) (8,499)
Fair value gains on financial BATETABRA
assets at fair value through TREELTE
profit or loss I &5 5 - (38)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KWE R R A
I &= 5 = (201)
Depreciation of property, plant ME- -BE K&K
and equipment e 13 2,427 2,659
Depreciation of right-of-use CRAREERE
assets 14(a) 5,342 5,179
Amortisation of other intangible Hh & & B 8K
assets 15 797 891
Gain on lease modifications ME = 14(c) (13) -
Impairment of trade receivables 22 EWFIERE 17 17,607 2,678
Impairment of other receivables H i J& W 3B R A 18 6,472 -
Foreign exchange gains, net BN BE Ui 55 5 BB 5 (2,286) (9,530)
Loss on de-registration of a FH-KKE LR
subsidiary B 8 1,010
Gain on de-registration of a FH-KKE LR
subsidiary W &= 5 - (320)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME BER
property, plant and equipment HEBEEWERE 3 3
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HEERERAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nTCIEE@ lllg%E

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831BLFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20226
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Loz AR¥ T ARET T
Increase in trade and notes B 5 MW IE K E K
receivables FRIE M (15,657) (12,805)
(Increase)/decrease in an amount e — % BB 5 A
due from a related party (g m) /7D (45) 73
Increase in prepayments, other AT RRIE - H fth B 1K
receivables and other assets T8 Jo Hfth & B 48 A0 (1,891) (1,740)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  F&E 4,/ (&) 756 (1,637)
Increase in amounts due to related  F& {5 B8 B 5 5% 38 3 N
parties 77 355
Decrease in trade payables B 5 e 3R R A (1,556) (2,194)
(Decrease)/increase in other ﬁfﬂfﬁ B N AR
payables and accruals R A) /HEm (10,544) 7,810
Cash generated from operations REMBRE 85,710 31,965
Interest received 2 A & 6,899 2,234
Income tax paid ENAEH (13,552) (1,565)
Net cash flows from operating REZDHME E
activities F 79,057 32,634
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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-
llTDiﬁﬁ )|l§%§ =
Year ended 31 December 2023
BZ203F12831BLEE i
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Loz AR T ARB T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBH 2EHLKE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEME BEREE
plant and equipment and related JH B A RAEEER
advance payments D (3,118) (2,855)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BE N KE
property, plant and equipment JH B B %A 1 281
Additions to other intangible assets EMEFEERE (292) (1,329)
Disposal of an associate HE-—RBE R 7 - 184
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKMER - 201
Prepayment for a potential 7B W iE T A %ﬂ I8
acquisition - (10,000)
Purchases of time deposits BETHEX (487,845) (940,373)
Disposal of time deposits HETEHEK 243,564 686,258
Interest income received from time FHFERE BB B
deposits KA 10,891 2,250
Purchases of financial assets at fair B E&Z QA FE AEZH
value through profit or loss e EE (90,300) (605,579)
Disposal of financial assets at fair HEEAFEFABRE
value through profit or loss B ElEE 92,360 976,908
Investment income received from  RAFEFABZENE
financial assets at fair value REEEGFHNRE
through profit or loss A 538 8,499
Net cash flows (used in)/from REE®(FA)/ M’
investing activities BenEFa (234,201) 114,445




TEC=FFEERE

HEERERAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
nTCIIE@ lllg?E

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831BLFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR¥ T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEZBH BHERE
ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares of the Company BIIADR KM - 332,620
Dividend paid SRS (15,753) —
Principal portion of lease payments & HH AL 5 (4,855) (5,502)
Interest paid on lease liabilities MEEEBEXNAE (640) (412)
Payment for listing expenses TR X AR - (4,421)
Repurchase of shares 8 [ % (75,567) (101,121)
Prepayment for repurchase of shares & [E i% {7 78 1 5% 38 (35,659) (2,410)
Distribution to a non-controlling AT 8 1 (A JF 45 AR AR 3R
shareholder as a result of ) 5 ik
deregistration (55) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from mEZH(FA)/ B
financing activities RBemEF8 (132,529) 218,754
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN Iﬁﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬁw
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS m 4) /18 % (287,673) 365,833
Cash and cash equivalents at ﬁ%ﬂﬁi&fﬁﬁgﬁm
beginning of year 409,318 33,955
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEXRE T EFE
changes, net 2,286 9,530
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SRR EeRELZEEY
AT END OF YEAR 20 123,931 409,318
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRASEIEUER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 #f
Cash and bank balances RekBTHEH 20 61,804 246,798
Non-pledged time deposits with BMERERERIBEER
original maturity of less than =& A & & H E 5
three months when acquired TR 20 62,127 162,520
Cash and cash equivalents as REERERLKIBMN
stated in the statement of cash ARINENEE RE
flows and statement of financial EEEYM
position 123,931 409,318
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 March
2019. The registered address of the Company is 89
Nexus Way, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business in Chinese
Mainland is located at Room 1111, No. 5 Wangjiang
Second Street, Huangge Town, Nansha District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were
principally engaged in the provision of Data Insight
Solutions, Data-driven Publications and Events and
SaaS products.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 July 2022.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

o
- Jg

~AEH
KpalB/—HR2019F3 A48 R H
SHETMKINBR QA - AR T
/9 5F i #b 1E 52 72 89 Nexus Way, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands ¢ 7x
NAEFRBEAME EE L EMET
RAZEARKMBE(FEDEREE
MmELPEEEELEI _F55%1111
%o

KRRl B—REEBERAA KT
N AR BRARIEENREIRMHE
FEREBRATR HERHEMR
& B DA & SaaSEE @ ©

KATRDN2022F7B12BEEF B
BMAXSHAR QA (B EIR
e



—BoSEEEEE

im

i

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

are as follows:

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

Place and date
of incorporation/

HEEZERERD A
187

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

~EE R (&)
FANBRAANESR

ARBNETEZENB R B FBEHT

m

Percentage of

registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERAL/ EREER BRTEER/ NG X
2R ARNREEHE R AEE REEA TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &
Sky Range Investments Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Us$1 100% - Investment holding
(REREBRAR) ("BVI")
3 January 2019
AEREERAT ABRAER (B 100% - RARK
(RERXEE])
20191438
Sinohealth Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% Investment holding
(PREEEMBRBERAR) 15 March 2019
TREENEERAA BB 10,0007 7 - 100% RERR
2019434150
Guangzhou Zhongkang People’s Republic of RMB300,000,000 - 100% Research and development
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. China ("PRC")/ and provision of Data
("Guangzhou Zhongkang Chinese Mainland Insight Solutions,
Digital") 8 April 2019 Data-driven Publications
(BMARETFRIE and Events, and Saas
BRAE)* (note (a) products
ENFEETHRARLE HEARANE A K %300,000,000 7 - 100% HERRESBRARERR
(EMTRET)WE@) (RE])/FEAL hE BEEIEMHL

201954 A 8H

& B b\ K SaaS & m
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are as follows: (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

~AEH(E)
BEREMNE QA NER(E)
ARBNETEZENB R B FBEHT
W ()

Percentage of

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
AR R BRTEER/ NG X
£ ARNREEHE dftRAEE REEA TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &

Guangzhou Sinohealth PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB21,492,000 - 100% Research and development
Information Co., Ltd. 20 December 2007 and provision of Data
("Sinohealth Information”) Insight Solutions,

(BN ERE AR Data-driven Publications
BRLAR)* (note (b)) and Events, and SaaS
products

ENPREARGAERAT HE/HEAN AR 21,492,000 - 100% HMERRESBERRER
(L 3-ECE) 2007F12820H TR BEEDEMHR

BB M R SaaS E @

Guangzhou Xinkang PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 94%  Operation of SaaS products
Information Technology 14 November 2016
Company Limited
("Xinkang Information”)

(BMORESRE
BRAF)* (note (b))

EMNLRESHRARRAT HE/HEAN AR 10,000,000 - 94% % ESaaSE M

(b B 15 8 1) (Bt & (b) 2016%11 A 148
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HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are as follows: (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

QXA EH(FE)
BEREMNE QA NER(E)
ARBNETEZENB R B FBEHT
W ()

Percentage of

registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERAL/ EREER BRTEER/ NG X
2R ARNREEHE R AEE REEA TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &

Guangzhou Sinohealth Jianshu ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 75%  Research and development
Intelligence Technology 3 April 2018 and operation of Smart
Company Limited* Medical Cloud under
("Sinohealth Jianshu") the business line of SaaS
(BNFREEEERE products
BRAF) (note (b))

BN ERHEEEHR R/ HE A A K %1,000,000 7 - 5% HEREESSEREHD
ARAF(PREH]) 201844 A3H BTHESBEE
(Fit 32 (b))

Beijing Sinohealth Tong Digital ~ PRC/ Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 80% Management of marketing
Technology Company Limited* 18 March 2020 and promotion services of
("Sinohealth Tong") innovative medicine
(JERPERATRR
BRAT) (note (b))

IRPRRAFHBEERAA HE/ TEANMD AR #5,000,0007C - 80% EBREAIMBEMEHRE
(T B2 38 ) (B & (b)) 202053 A 18R ER#%

Guangzhou Xisi Digital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100% Operation of SaaS products
Technology Company Limited* 4 June 2019
(BNBEREEHRERAA)

ENBRETHEARAR HE/HER AR #1,000,000 7 - 100% EESaSER

2019%6 A4H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are as follows: (continued)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

Place and date
of incorporation/

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

~AEH(E)
BEREMNE QA NER(E)
ARBNETEZENB R B FBEHT
W ()

Percentage of

registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
ERAL/ EREER BRTEER/ NG X
2R ARNREEHE dftRAEE REEA TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &
Guangzhou Kangzhi Digital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 70%  Operation of SaaS products
Technology Company Limited* 13 November 2020
(BEMNEERFHRERAA)
ENREEFTHEARAR BB/ HER AR #1,000,0007 - 70% #ESaaSE &
2020114130
Guangzhou Jisi Digital PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 75% Dormant
Technology Company Limited* 22 May 2019
(BNEREERRERAA)
ENERETREARAR HE/HER AR #1,000,0007 - 5% EEEE
201957221
Guangzhou Jiasi Information PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100% Operation under the business
Technology Company Limited* 22 May 2019 line of SaaS products
(BNRRERRRERAR)
(note (b))
ENERESHRARRT HE/HEAKN AR #1,000,0007 - 100% MSaSEREBRTELE
(Bt &% (b)) 201965A228
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are as follows: (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

QXA EH(FE)

HEEZERERD A
191

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

BEREMNE QA NER(E)
ARBNETEZENB R B FBEHT

W ()

Percentage of

registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
AR/ R BRTEER/ NG X
£ ARNREEHE dft RAEE REEA TEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &
Hainan Sinohealth Technology ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 1,000,000 - 100% Dormant
Company Limited* 26 December 2019
(BEPEMRARAR)
(note (b))
BEFREHRERLA /A AR 1,000,000 - 100% EEEE
i) 2019128268
Beijing Sinohealth Ruima PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 60% Operation under the business
Marketing Technology 20 February 2021 line of Data Insight
Company Limited* Solutions
("Sinohealth Ruima")
(LR RS & R
ARAT)
ERPEREEHHMK /e N AR #10,000,0007 - 60% REBREBRAREH
ARAA(HERS]) 2021%2R208 RTEE
Beijing Sinohealth Tongrun PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 80% Management of marketing
Technology Company Limited 26 November 2021 and promotion services of
("Sinohealth Tongrun”) innovative medicine
(JtRPEREHRERAA)
IRPRBEMRARAT  RE/AEAMN A 5 %5,000,000 7 - 80% ERAIMBEMEHRA
(rEREE]) 200111 A26H ER%
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192 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S
Bt ¥5 ¥R 2= Bif 5% P
31 December 2023 3
2023%12 8318 ~ 3y

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued) 1. A @& R (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EENBARMNERE)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries ARABMEZEHWEB R A F15575
are as follows: (continued) mr ()
Place and date Nominal value of
of incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
AR R BRAEER/ NG 3
£ AENREEHE dftRAEE REEA TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef M &
Vast Connect Health Singapore SGD100,000 - 100% Dormant
Technology PTE Limited 27 April 2023
Vast Connect Health il p 100,000 7 0 %% 7 - 100% EZEZE
Technology PTE Limited 2023%4R27R
Shanghai Woyingtong Digital PRC/ Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Research and development
Technology Company Limited* 21 February 2023 and operation of Smart
(EBRBEATRER Medical Cloud under
ERAR) the business line of SaaS
products
LERBRETHRARRR RE/HHAAMN A K %1,000,000 7 - 100% SaSEREBETHEE

-
(TEERBR] 2023424218 BENTRELE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries (the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”) are engaged or
will engage in the production of short films and
the provision of internet information service and
internet data centre services (including internet
resources cooperation services) (together, the
“Relevant Businesses”). Under the scope of the
“Catalogue of Industries for Encouraging Foreign
Investment (2020 Version)” and the “Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the
Access of Foreign Investment (2021 Version)”,
foreign investors are restricted or prohibited to
invest in the Relevant Businesses. A wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Guangzhou Zhongkang
Digital (the "WOFE"), has entered into a series
of Contractual Arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and their respective equity holders
(hereafter the equity holders of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities referred to as the “Registered
Shareholders”). The Contractual Arrangements
enable the WOFE to exercise effective control
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
obtain substantially all economic benefits of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities are controlled
by the Company based on the Contractual
Arrangements though the Company does not
have any direct or indirect equity interest in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The English names of these entities registered in
the PRC represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate
their Chinese names as they did not register any
official English names.

1.
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)  the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current

2. EitEEGE)
EBREBREE

AEBERAFENMBRRER
RANTHATREER BB YR

year’s financial statements. HAER -
HKFRS 17
BEEMBREENE 175
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ERGHEAE VR REBV B ®REER
EBRNEE2H(UEFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB EAFESH(EEFTAX)
Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts
® g & #

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

WE K

g
y

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B o165 0T B

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

HE-—XGELNEEREEHHELR
H

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
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FEGFEAE 125 (BT AN)

Amendments to HKAS 12
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2.
2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group
has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s
financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12
so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. Since the Group’s policy aligns
with the amendments, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of
the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar
Two income taxes separately in the periods
when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to
Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which
the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did
not have any impact to the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EAPHERELENFI05R &
BB EFE 285 (1BFT A)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
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MTEBEMER RKRERNEERTR
BMBHREEN - AEERNZFR
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’

KREZBHABENFHAS ERFEHNEE
HE R A?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

BEAMBHRELEAFE165 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB+ mHERE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the” 2020 Amendments”)’ 4
HWEESBERBRE IR E([2020 F & 5]
&)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the” 2022 Amendments”)’ 4
AHFEZHFREBAGE(2022FEETA])!4
Supplier Finance Arrangements’

HEBME'

BFAGRERFE 15 (ERTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EUNEIFRUSETAKA)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
EEGTEUNFTIR K

BEAMBHRELEAETHR(EE]AN)
Amendments to HKAS 21
BEEGFTEAFE 215 (BT A)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

& As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and
2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align
the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

Lack of Exchangeability?
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’'s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period
and interim disclosures. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss at the end of each
reporting periods. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation technigues for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 2 -

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is

Level 3 -

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent

of the Group;

or
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2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

23.8% -31.7%
19.0%

Electronic equipment
Office equipment
and furniture
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease terms
and 20%

Motor vehicles 19.0% — 23.8%
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less
impairment and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Office premises 2 — 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented
separately in the statement of financial
position.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of office premises (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment that is
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income and fair
value through profit or loss.
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.
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202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
the Group's consolidated statements of financial
position) when:

removed from

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 120 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 120 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on market historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, due to a related party and lease
liabilities.
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares)
are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Inventories

Inventories represent capitalised costs which are
incurred to fulfil contracts with customers. They are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of reporting periods, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of each
reporting periods between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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31 December 2023
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. SFHEEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EAEHHEME(E)
(continued)

Income tax (continued) Fir 18 %t (%8)

. in respect of deductible temporary differences . RERMBAR HERAR
associated with investments in subsidiaries, EETENKRERBN TR
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax EREZEHEmMs EEHEEE
assets are only recognised to the extent that it ERERKRZENRALEREA
is probable that the temporary differences will RE B[O A N FE AR B0 A & AT 4K
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable HAIBSAMNEREZENBRAT -
profit will be available against which the TR

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is ELEHEEENREEN S REH
reviewed at the end of each of the reporting AREH YHMBETLBAEBCHE
period and reduced to the extent that it is no AR BENABDA KD ELTH
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will BHEERIE AERNELEHIEE E
be available to allow all or part of the deferred TREREBFREFHTE - W ATEE
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred BRHERD @ AN A Y E 2 55k 2B
tax assets are reassessed at the end of reporting DIELEMBEER TAMER-

periods and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured ELEMEBEEERBENDKEREA
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the REBREENSEEAGHRNTX
period when the asset is realised or the liability is BERSEDREHREEMHIEEL £
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have EEMAOTE(RBIR)GTE °

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting periods.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)
When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group transfers control of goods or services
over time and recognises revenue over time, if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group'’s performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of
the goods or services.

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2.
2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good
or service underlying each performance obligation
is determined at contract inception. It represents
the price at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

The Group entered into certain transactions with
retail pharmacies to provide services in exchange
for receiving data. The transactions may include
cash consideration in addition to the non-cash
consideration. The Group considers the specific facts
and circumstances to account for such transactions.
For the transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the promised
services are transferred to the customer and the
Group obtains control of the data. The non-cash
consideration obtained from the customers is
measured at fair value. If the fair value of the
non-cash consideration cannot be estimated reliably,
the Group measures the consideration indirectly
by reference to the stand-alone selling price of the
services transferred to the customer.

The Group derives revenue from the provision of
Data Insight Solutions, Data-driven Publications and
Events and Saa$S products.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)

Data Insight Solutions

Data Insight Solutions involve delivery of
one-off and/or periodic customised reports,
and if required, report interpretations
of data analytics and problem-solving
recommendations to medical product
manufacturers, policy makers and regulators,
industry experts and researchers as well as the
provision of data-driven marketing solutions
to customers.

Delivery of customised research reports
For delivery of customised research reports,
the Group agrees the sales price for service
with the customers upfront and bills to
the customers based on the actual service
rendered and completed. The contract
usually contains multiple deliverable units
(i.e., provision of monthly research reports,
quarterly reports and annual reports within
one contract) and each of them is sold at the
stand-alone selling price specified within the
contract. Each individual deliverable unit is
regarded as a performance obligation. The
Group recognised revenue at the point of
time when the individual research report is
delivered and accepted by the customers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

(a) Data Insight Solutions (continued)
Provision of data-driven marketing
solutions
Data-driven Marketing Solutions mainly
include provision of promotional activities
services, advertising services and training
services.

The contract with customers relating to
data-driven marketing solutions consisted
of multiple solutions, i.e., combination
of provision of marketing strategies and
proposals, organisation of training service,
provision of advertising service and
organisation of customised promotional
activities. Each of the multiple solutions is
sold at the stand-alone selling price specified
in the contract. Each individual solution is
regarded as a performance obligation.

Revenue from each individual data-driven
marketing solution is recognised over time,
because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group. The Group uses the output method
to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service, based on units
of delivery, or a straight-line basis over the
period that the services are rendered.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2R (F)
EXRETBREREGE)

LN ¢ )
EFPEHMA(E)

(a)

B IR RSB R T 5 (B
REBERS SHBRT R

BEREDEHBRIEIZE
EEHRERRADRSE  BESR
% M AR 75 o

HREFAVNBEHEBEESZ
BEATENANBEBRZER
R R RS SHRBE M
R HEHBEIRBOES
RS R & HE & E RS
B BEBARTEHUA/LHF
AAMNEREEBE L - % @5
BATRBEE R —HENEEL

& 8 Bl 4% BR B & SH R OR 7 B
MRABSERER REER
F [ B Y BR K2 0B 7 AN & B 5 2K
MEDm - AEEEREHLER
BRXNEM KRE/RRED
HENAERSE KT ETKE
TRBGEE -



— &

=z —
— =

=FFEHRE

im

i

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Data-driven Publications and Events

The Group is engaged in the provision of
Data-driven Publications and Events services
which include organisation of conferences,
exhibitions and networking events.

The contract with customers relating
to Data-driven Publications and Events
consisted of multiple promised services,
i.e., organising and hosting industry events
and related value-added services such as
provision of forum discussions, exhibitions
or provision of billboard in the conference.
The Group determined that organising and
hosting industry events conference and
related value-added services represents
one performance obligation, because these
promises are mutually dependent and the
customer is unable to derive significant
benefits from its access to value-added
services for the intended purpose without
receipt of the promises of organising and
hosting industry events.

The revenue from Data-driven Publications
and Events is recognised over the time of
conference, on a straight-line basis, because
the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)
(c)  SaaS$ products
Provision of SaaS products involves the
granting of right to access the Group’s
proprietary cloud-based software together
with additional standardised reports on
an ad-hoc demand by singular or multiple
user accounts, provision of right to use an
application programming interface (“API"”) to
generate a report and provision of application
software development services.

Granting right to access the proprietary
cloud-based software

Revenue from SaaS products is recognised
over the granted user period on a straight-line
basis, starting from the point when the user
account is activated, i.e., the user is able to
use and benefit from the services, and other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Provision of right-of-use API

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the right-to-use of APl is provided and the
report is generated for customers.

Provision of application software
development service

Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the application software together with
relevant licence is delivered and accepted by
the customers.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or
services to a customer before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the contract
terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets
are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified
to trade receivables when the right to the
consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Contract costs
Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of
the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in central pension schemes operated
by the local municipal government and the central
government, respectively. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension schemes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. The
Group’s presentation currency is RMB because
the Group’s principal operations are carried out
in Chinese Mainland. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of each of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2R (F)
EXRETBREREGE)

S s (&)
AONERBESEKABBFENIFE
KEBRAERARZBEHNERRE -
AN ER RN FEFENIFEE AR
RABERAFEEANEXRKRE -0 E
BAFEAENFEERBELD
Wk B RZEEREAER R FEE
B H W o 3 B B — Boey 05 3 g IE (A
AFERmEEREM 2R KR
IEERANBEENBREEZE I
REMmEmEEEERER) -

RELTEREBNREBENIEE
KEEXFEKRER REENS
AEEEE RAXIWARAOIE
X -NMARXZAHRANEEG T #ER
BENREELENFEEBREEXFE
KEENEH -MEEZEBMNREA
HFEWHRIE AEEREFERMTHKE
MR AREER S AH -



T oCEFERE HEEZERERD A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 241
o o7 75 R % Bt 5t

Ry 31 December 2023
4 2023F12A31H
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS EXRSFHER &
AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements FBERNXEENMBERERE BEEAR

requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

There is no significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the Group’s financial statements
arising from the judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, made by management in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of each reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on ageing period for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical expected default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At every
reporting date, the historical expected default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical
expected default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on other
receivables

The Group has applied the general approach
to provide for expected credit losses for other
receivables and considered the default event,
historical loss rate and adjusted for forward looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected
credit loss rate, details of which are set out in note
18 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The amount
of unrecognised tax losses was RMB40,673,000
(31 December 2022: RMB67,994,000) as at 31
December 2023. Further details are contained in
note 23 to the financial statements.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

E Rt H R &5 (&)

iy 51 T 1 E 1% (&)

HE—- 1B EEHFE

AEBEZEFETHEANMES
2 S PS I AR S5 = = I
(REBFMEXDAEHEABF -8
EEFRMNEXSAEERAULEMN
MNP RRSEEREEEEBEMELD
ZBE - AR LR o 2228 L
EAMBEERERXNZH X At
HERRMNERRT A EHE ]
BRI R - 2R B AR R (0
VTETIBEXZHNMBRARME)
SEAUNNETETHBARREE
B 15 B Mo MR 1R B 0 RIZE R R R
A BABREGABEBAIRE AK
= £ A A B R A BRGNS N XR)
HEEEBRMNEXALBIFLETE
BREMMEE -

i GE TR & E
EXEBHBEEDRABANEER

R WA BE B ERB RS A A
LWEEEEAR HEEEN THER
MELEMRBEEEcREK EEEZEA
BIERKERB & F 0] 8 HRB
B A B K DA ROR R B AR 8l SR
B {E B & K H Er o ®R2023F12 A 31
H AERNEBEEEEARAARE
40,673,000 T (202212 A31H = A
R#67,994,0007t)° # — H F 18
B B 7 R R BT 5T 23 o

243



244

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not
organised into business units based on their services
and only has one reportable operating segment.

4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Management monitors the operating results of EEGBHETEREE URERSE
the Group’s operating segment as a whole for KB METEE L R -
the purpose of making decisions about resource 12 & #
allocation and performance assessment.
Geographical information i 3B & R
(a)  Revenue from external customers (@) XKEBIEEEFEZHA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR T T
Chinese Mainland B A i 395,258 356,361
England EAEH 513 -~
Singapore o0 169 307
Hong Kong B 154 -
Others H 100 -
Total revenue LRGN 396,194 356,668

The revenue information above is based on
the locations of the customers.

AEBABHIREPHMEM
T o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. R& 5 HE X (H&)
(continued)
Geographical information (continued) i 2 & B (E)
(b)  Non-current assets b) FEEEE
All non-current assets of the Group are AEBFREERDEEHUR
in Chinese Mainland. Accordingly, no FEAM Bt &2 9
geographical information of segment assets is HEEMBEER -
presented.
Information about major customers EFRAXEEFHNER
No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single RFANTEFIEZEPRAGAERE
customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s WA B 10% 3k A (20224 « £)

total revenue during the year (2022: Nil).

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -HMKWARWKZ

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADI T
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Revenue from contracts EFAEHWA
with customers 396,194 356,668
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -H#tWw A RWZH(E)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHWA
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) SEYUAEBEH
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR® T T
Types of goods or services REMEBEREATHN
by product category ERNRBEER
Data Insight Solutions FBRRAEBATR 195,741 225,262
Data-driven Publications HERE EM RIS
and Events 143,616 90,932
SaaS products SaaS E fm 56,837 40,474
Total B Et 396,194 356,668
Types of goods or services RERSSE TN
by application scenario ER®RBEER
Smart Decision Cloud BEARE 269,164 182,696
Smart Retail Cloud BETESE 71,564 126,542
Smart Medical Cloud HEEBERS 41,393 36,973
Smart Health Management TERERERE
Cloud 14,073 10,457
Total # 5t 396,194 356,668
Geographical markets 3B ™ 35
Chinese Mainland BB (A 3 395,258 356,361
Overseas SR 936 307
Total 1 Et 396,194 356,668
Timing of revenue recognition U A #& 52 &9 B &
Services transferred at RE—FBEHEZH
a point in time AR 7% 169,924 131,976
Services transferred over time  BERS &% B R 5 226,270 224,692
Total B Et 396,194 356,668
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)

Disaggregated revenue information
(continued)

The following table shows the amounts of
revenue recognised in the current reporting
period that were included in the contract

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

5. WA HEMlARKEGE)

EFAEHNBAGE
@) DEUAEH(E)

TRINTRARE HEER A
RBERRAEETAGHNE
B - ARBEHHEREEANSR

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting EMBEROBASE:
periods and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in the previous period:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Revenue recognised that was ~ RE G AR A B &
included in contract liabilities &9 2 B UK A :
at the beginning of the year:
Data Insight Solutions BB RAEBRAR 16,672 8,990
Data-driven Publications SR BR B B M K
and Events & B 8,015 2,191
SaaS products SaaS E fm 9,761 9,345
Total s 34,448 20,526
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -HMWARKZHEE)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWAE)

(continued)

(b)  Performance obligations b) EHEE
Information about the Group’s performance FEAAEEBENEANERS
obligations is summarised below: Ry (A N
Data Insight Solutions IR R R AE R T R
The performance obligation for delivery of INEFTEHOHRBENDE
customised research reports is generally WEE—RKRERNHRERER
satisfied at the point of time when the NI EREFEMRENL TX
individual research report is delivered and —RBEEHHLIOBRNEE -
accepted by the customers and payment is REBAMNEEBERTRNEL
generally due within 90 days from the date ffﬂ@f%%f Rk %5 & Bs FAT S X
of billing. The performance obligation for —RERAT K

provision of individual marketing solution is
satisfied over time as services are rendered
and payment in advance is normally required.

Data-driven Publications and Events 2 1R B B B4 2 )F B

The performance obligation is satisfied over BAE (EHE &R M RB e E
time as services are rendered, where payment EKCE—MRBAREM MK B
in advance is normally required. The services B4 R B 2% IO B AR B &Y AR
related to Data-driven Publications and Events B—MRR—EHRATK -

are generally completed within one week.

SaaS products SaaS E am

The performance obligation for granting EEEZEAZEEZEWMEHNED
right to access the proprietary cloud-based BEERERERIRERBSRENX -
software is satisfied over time as services FERBERAT —MRERRZERMK -
are rendered, where payment in advance FEAAPINBEANEETREEEA
is normally required. The performance EOREREET BBRTEX
obligation for the use of API is satisfied at the N - ERARGRENRE
point of time when the right to use is granted AEERNERRHEREEZS
and payment is generally due immediately. MHAEEPES AR EBENX -
The performance obligation for application i < B E R AR 75 T2 A R 21 B o

software development is satisfied at the
point of time when the application software
together with relevant licence is accepted by
the customers, and payment is generally due
when the service was completed.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

(b)  Performance obligations (continued)
SaaS products (continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2023 are as follows:

HEERERAF
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

5. WA Htt WA Rz (&)
EFAEHNBAGE

b) EHEMLE)
SaaS & in (&)
M2023F12A318 DB E &
TRAEECRENK B D KE
BOBNKXZERESERNT :

i

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Amounts expected to be EHERABKRAN S

recognised as revenue: B
Within one year —F A 123,004 79,811
After one year —F1& 31,142 6,218
Total B Et 154,146 86,029

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which
are expected to be recognised as revenue
after one year mainly relate to SaaS products,
of which the performance obligations are to
be satisfied within two years. All the other
amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations are
expected to be recognised as revenue within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do
not include variable consideration which is
constrained.

MR -—FREI/BEALE
PTEEHTENEENRZE
e BEXEHRSaaSEmA B
HABHOEEHRMERERK -
FFEEMESTEERTREAOR
THXRZEREREHAR —F
NERSBRA - EXHENE
BIERIBRHOATERE-
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)
(b)  Performance obligations (continued)
Saa$s products (continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

WA - B A KW s ()

EFAEHNBAGE

(b) EAE L (E)
SaaS = ip (4&)

H g ARBEO DT :

follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Other income Hig A
Bank interest income R 1T A B WA 26,668 6,615
Government grants* IR #R B * 11,671 12,496
Investment income from EAFEFAERY
financial assets at fair TREENKRE
value through profit or loss A 500 8,499
Others H it 147 8
Total other income H i A B8 38,986 27,618
Gains =
Foreign exchange gains, net HNEE U 25 0F BB 2,286 9,530
Gain on lease modifications HEE R K= 13 -~
Fair value gains on financial BEAFEFAERD
assets at fair value THMEENATE
through profit or loss W &= - 38
Gain on de-registration of HE-—ZXWBAFKN
a subsidiary W &= - 320
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary H & — XK B A 7 &
W = - 201
Total gains W % 4B %8 2,299 10,089
Total other income and gains H At I A K2 U 25 48 5B 41,285 37,707

* The government grants mainly represent
incentives awarded by the local governments
to support the Group’'s operation.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to these grants.

BT B £ BB E i BT
BRFHRB UXHELAEER
LE-ZFEBYENSER
BITIHRHEHIAFE -
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after

HEERERAF
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BR %t Al & A

AEB S KRB AE MR ME (G A)

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

charging/(crediting): NT&ERER:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR® T T
Cost of services provided 12 Mt Bk 7 AKX AR 172,722 197,560
Depreciation of property, ME -BFEE&E
plant and equipment e 13 2,427 2,659
Depreciation of right-of-use A& E T &
assets 14(a) 5,342 5,179
Amortisation of other HthEmEEE#H~
intangible assets* 15 797 891
Research and development  fiff 3 g K
costs 61,090 60,412
Listing expenses EARAX - 12,056
Lease payments not included TFr A E&EF =
in the measurement of FORiER-R NN
lease liabilities 14(c) 126 66
Bank interest income R 1T B A (26,668) (6,615)
Government grants X AT % B 5 (11,671) (12,496)
Investment income from BEAFEFAERERZD
financial assets at fair PREEMNKRE
value through profit or loss Uz A 5 (500) (8,499)
Gain on disposal of a HE—RKHERQ A
subsidiary g £ - (201)
Fair value gains on financial &R FEFT ABZED
assets at fair value THEENATFE
through profit or loss W & - (38)
Gain on lease modifications 1 & & 2 W =5 (13) -
Gain on de-registration of HE-—XWEBRFMN
a subsidiary g - (320)
Foreign exchange gain, net  [&B ¥ Wz /F 58 5 (2,286) (9,530)
Loss on de-registration of HE-—XWEB AR
a subsidiary &5 1B 8 690
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6.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

& &
Bt 15 3R 2% Bt 5% T
- 3l
PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) BR B A1 R ()
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR® T T
Loss on disposal of items LTEME BEK
of property, plant and REEBERAZEE
equipment 3 3
Auditor’s remuneration % 26N B & 2,180 2,180
Employee benefit expense 1B 8 & MR x
(excluding directors’ (TEREEENE
and chief executive’s ZITHA B % B
remuneration (note 8)): (FFsE8)) :
Wages and salaries TERFS 140,499 138,325
Pension scheme Rk El
contributions** it B o** 3,623 4,313
Staff welfare expense BEIRMNAX 1,078 1,457
Total 48 =t 145,200 144,095
Impairment of financial TREERMBFRA:
assets, net:
Impairment of trade B 5 e W IE R B
receivables, net b= 17 17,607 2,678
Impairment of other H & U 5k I8 R (B
receivables, net =] 18 6,472 —
Total 1 Et 24,079 2,678

* *

The amortisation of other intangible assets
is included in “Administrative expenses”,
"Research and development costs” and “Selling
and distribution expenses” in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be
used by the Group as the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

HiE\PEEHEFTARARS
KREMmEERERZI1THFA
TR ERBEXRA] RHE R
DA -

R EERDRAEIFOKFE - 8B
BRWHERARAEEER -
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s

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BBERAK

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERASTET :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE

(note 14(b)) (P 5E 14(0)) 640 412

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. ESBERITIETHABEHMH

NIRRT

2B E 2
BT

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for R EtmRA FB

the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, 383(1)(@) * (b) * () ()& &~ 7l (# &
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong EEMNEZERROE

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies FRAEERETEZTERA

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
rE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Fees ol 480 225
Other emoluments: HEME e :
Salaries, allowances and He EMEEYREAM
benefits in kind 1,310 1,451
Performance related bonuses RIRETEA 500 288
Pension scheme contributions RIKESEFEIH R 16 17
Subtotal /N ET 1,826 1,756
Total 45t 2,306 1,981
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION (continued)
(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Iy, o b

'ﬁ-ﬂj.:u
EERFETHABTME)

(a) BUFHITES
REAXNTEILIFATES

MELmT:
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT

Wang Danzhou T 96 45
Du Yilin K B 96 45
Wei Bin 208 %H, 96 45
Total 5t 288 135

There were no other emoluments payable
to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2022: Nil).

FRATEEMNTFBIEATES
BB £ (20224 : ) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A Bt ¥5 ¥R %= Bif 5%
a;:m 31 December 2023
4 2023412318

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. EERITETHRAEHFM(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) BITEE FHTEERE
director and the chief executive EITHAE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions  remuneration
e BER ZRHY Bife
we ENER i g L @t

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTr  ARETn  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR

2023 2023%
Executive directors; HEs:

Mr. Wu Yushu* REFL L 9% 657 250 8 1,011

Ms. Wang Lifang THRRL 9% 653 250 8 1,007
Subtotal N 192 1,310 500 16 2,018
Non-executive director; FHTES:

Mr. Fu Haitao HEELE - - - - -
Total B 192 1,310 500 16 2,018
2022 20025
Executive directors: H1ES:

Mr. Wu Yushu* REFEE 45 742 144 9 940

Ms. Wang Lifang THFRL 45 709 144 8 906
Subtotal NGt ) 1,451 288 17 1,846
Non-executive director; EHTES:

Mr. Fu Haitao NEELE = = = = -
Total by 90 1,451 288 17 1,846
* Mr. Wu Yushu was appointed as the chief & REFEEEZEREARA

executive of the Company. FETHAE -
There was no arrangement under which a RERN BEEFRFEZTH
director or the chief executive waived or A B E K [A B R E T A & B
agreed to waive any remuneration during the B & HE o

year.
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included two directors (2022: Nil), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the remaining three (2022:
five) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TEBREHFMES

RERN AAEmTHEEBREMS
EEERNQON2F &) HEMFRS
BN EXHE8 e 2T =% (2022F :
AZ)UFEARAEERFETFEZITHA
ENEsTMEENTFMFRBOT

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 5
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR T AREF T

Salaries, bonuses, allowances o AN L A= 3:10 N ]
and benefits in kind EWREF 2,554 5,039
Performance related bonus KRIRB B4 670 569
Pension scheme contributions RIKE &7 69 79
Total FE 3,293 5,687

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

FMNFTIEECFESTRIFE
ETHRABZESHEEN AZEN
™o

Number of employees

EE A
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T &
1,500,000 % 7T 3 5
Total 48 =t 3 5
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o

INCOME TAX

(a)

The major components of the income tax
expense of the Group during the year are
analysed as follows:

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

10. B %
@ AEBER
= 40 AR 5P

PO By 7 15 B B X
AAWMT -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T

Current — Chinese Mainland Bl HA—F 9 1B &Y
Charge for the year BB A b IR 11,114 1,880
Overprovision in prior years AEFEHERE - (3,393)
Deferred tax (note 23) i FE 75 I8 (KY 5 23) (1,313) 1,774
Total tax charge for the year FRMBRAHIELRE 9,801 261

The Group is subject to income tax on an
entity basis on profits arising in or derived
from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Company
and its subsidiary are not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The statutory tax rate for the subsidiary in
Hong Kong is 16.5%. No Hong Kong profits
tax on the subsidiary has been provided as
there was no assessable profit arising in Hong
Kong during the year.

AEBEEARAEEXEBERAME R
REmEREZERELESKRIN G
M REREEBMAEHR-

REFEHEREBRELBEENR
A MO ARR R EWE AR HA
RASHERRBEZEESHAME
CRCIRER A

EAEMBARIMNEEM X B165% °
HREFRNLTEREAELERERT &
Bl - WA EFHMBRRGFIREAENG
At B o
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

10.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(a)

The major components of the income tax
expense of the Group during the year are
analysed as follows: (continued)

The provision for current income tax in
Chinese Mainland is based on a statutory tax
rate of 25% of the assessable profits of the
PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined
in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income
Tax Law.

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital was accredited
as a high and new technology enterprise
("HNTE") in 2022 and the certification is
valid for three years. For the year ended 31
December 2023, Guangzhou Zhongkang
Digital was entitled to a preferential PRC
Corporate Income tax rate of 15% (31
December 2022: 15%).

Certain of the subsidiaries, which operate
in Chinese Mainland, are identified as Small
and Micro Enterprises and were entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 5% during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

o
- Jg

10. Fr 5% (&)

(a)

ARABEHEX E

AEBER
BooWWT : (&)

ZHE MK

B B EA R AS A B Y IR
RETEECXAEREIEED
AEBE BB AR RERBK
it M R K TE B R 25% E E e

EMNAREHFENR202FHRE
B = A g FE(THNTED) - &
EBRBPAE=ZF - H E2023F
NRAJMNBLEFEFE EMNFPRE
FTEHIS%HEZPHDSEMN
1§ B B X(2022F12A8318 :
15%) °

RE E2023F 12831 IEFE -
RHABEAEENE THEB AR
AEREBINRELE ZTH%
MEEME-
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

(b)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable
to profit before tax at the statutory rate in
Chinese Mainland to the tax expense at the

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

10. FrE%H (&)
(b) @A ERMIREE MR KRG
5 R0 B B AT s B &0 IR B S B
RERRXFENTAEARH

effective tax rate is as follows: HERMT :
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARET T
Profit before tax B B4 B & 110,741 54,474
Tax at the statutory tax rate of  #&Z A1 B A 3 0% & i K
25% in Chinese Mainland 25% st E BB I8
(2022: 25%) (2022 F : 25%) 27,685 13,618
Lower tax rates enacted by A A
local authority BE i & (15,100) (7,818)
Adjustments in respect of HBETFENEH
current tax of previous years 0 T8 1 B - (3,393)
Additional deductible BEAONAI OB 3
allowance for research 1
and development costs (7,531) (5,523)
Effect on deferred tax balance FriEtixegsy
due to change in income BEEMIBAERE £
tax rate & 2 - (94)
Expenses not deductible for tax T~ 8] #1 8 A X 283 44
Tax losses utilised from BEFERSAHRIE
previous years &5 B (95) (2)
Tax losses not recognised AERHIBEEE 1,559 1,885
Effect of withholding tax at 10% B9 T8 $0 %t 3 AN &
10% on the distributable H B B B A R
profits of the Group’s PRC Aok BEE
subsidiaries (note 23) (FF5E23) 3,000 1,544
Tax charge at the Group’s BRAEBEERBX
effective rate FEONBBERX 9,801 261
Effective tax rate B E 8.9% 0.5%
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SIS
Bt #5 ¥R 2% Bft 5% T
31 December 2023
2023128318 T
11. DIVIDEND 1. K E
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBET T
Proposed final dividend EERERE—
- HK7.25 cents BRI @EAR7.258
(2022: HK3.98 cents) (20224 : 3.98%& 1)
per ordinary share 30,000 15,443

12.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 426,125,312 (2022: 410,666,838) in issue
during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary
shares in issue during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

12.

AEERZZARABREAF AR AR
REEBRERRBFREG L4 E-

BARAEERESS A ARG
BRER

FAESREXANEBEDIREE R
AEBEBRFAEABRGFARAN R
FAERTEARNMNE T K
426,125,312 f% (2022 % : 410,666,838

) H -

#H E20234%F K2022F 128318 1 &
B AEBYEBEHBEEHTER
f% o
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12.

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue
during the year used in
the basic earnings per
share calculation

FEERBRAFR
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 87t #5 ¥R =% Bff 5%
a;:m 31 December 2023
43‘ 202312 A31H
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. B AR EEREZZTEAEL
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREAN(E
PARENT (continued)
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based BRERBAMDBENATEIETE
on:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Earnings 2 7
Profit attributable to ordinary ARTAESRELRZA
equity holders of the parent, WEARIEREREERA
used in the basic earnings JE A6 &
per share calculation 102,032 55,758
Number of shares
&g - =
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
Shares Bk 5

ARFAESREREF
MERNEBRTERAR
B

426,125,312 410,666,838
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SIS
Q7 #5 ¥R =% Bif 5%
31 December 2023 s
20235128318 4
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ BEERXE
Office
Electronic ~ equipment Leasehold Motor
equipment  and furniture - improvements vehicles Total
. BoRE AENZ ) R
ETRf ES! 8 B @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR¥Tn AR®TR AR¥Tr ARET:R
31 December 2023 023E12831A
At 1 January 2023 03F141H
Cost RK X 9,793 374 2,458 192 13,417
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (6,944) (290) (1,449) (351) (9,034)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,849 84 1,009 M 4,383
At 1 January 2023, net of RABEI1AIE
accumulated depreciation NhEHHE 2,849 84 1,009 M 4,383
Additions NE 3,030 19 69 = 3,118
Disposals HE o @ - - - @)
Depreciation provided during EMzRMFEMNTS)
the year (note 6) (1.7173) 37 (488) (129) (2.427)
At 31 December 2023, net of 120235124318
accumulated depreciation NH2HNE 4,102 66 590 M 5,070
At 31 December 2023: RABE12A31F:
Cost $ X 12,762 393 2,521 192 16,474
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (8,660) (327) (1,937) (480) (11,404)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,102 66 590 N 5,070
31 December 2022 02%12831A
At 1 January 2022 00F1 A1
Cost A 8,138 338 1,771 792 11,045
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (5072) (230) (1,050) (222) (6,574)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,066 108 727 570 4471
At 1 January 2022, net of ROnE1A1E
accumulated depreciation NhEHHE 3,066 108 7 570 4471
Additions RE 1,882 36 937 - 2,855
Disposals HE w (1) - (207) - (284)
Depreciation provided during EMzRAFEMNTS)
the year (note 6) (2,022) (60) (448) (129 (2,659)
At 31 December 2022, net of Ra2%12A318
accumulated depreciation Tk 2iHE 2,849 84 1,009 441 4,383
At 31 December 2022: R2E12A318
Cost ﬁﬁ . 9,793 374 2,458 792 13,417
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (6,944) (290) (1,449) (351) (9,034)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,849 84 1,009 441 4,383
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LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises
and other equipment used in its operations.
Leases of office premises generally have lease
terms between 2 and 5 years. Other equipment is
generally of low value individually. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's
right-of-use assets and the movements during

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

HE

rEEEREEA
AEBCHRARELEENRREY
EREMRBILEHEAN - B O
EMEFHRONEH -—RA/2E5%F-
HpmraE @b EERE  —KM
EOAKREAERAKENEENE
HEHEEE-

(a) EHEEE
RER AEEEREEEDN
EEENIESHT

the year are as follows:

Office premises

WABEYE

RMB’'000

AR T

As at 1 January 2022 20221 H1H 9,018

Additions nNE 3,015

Depreciation charge (note 6) P & 5 X (fF 5E6) (5,179)
As at 31 December 2022 and 202212 A31 B &

1 January 2023 20231 A1 H 6,854
Additions = 12,457
Lease modifications ME &k (479)
Depreciation charge (note 6) mERZ(MiEe) (5.342)

As at 31 December 2023

202312 4311

13,490
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

14. LEASES (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and
the movements during the year are as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

14. HE(E)
(b) HEE®E
RER HEABNEEAR

ZgEHmT
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T T ARETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January ®R1A1TH®EEE 7,127 9,614
New leases Mg 12,457 3,015
Accretion of interest 2R A eI

recognised (note 7) (PfF5E7) 640 412
Reduction as a result of HEBREEN

lease modifications Hl R (492) -
Payments (NES (5,495) (5,914)
Carrying amount at K12 831 HMEREE

31 December 14,237 7,127
Analysed into: DR

Current portion 7 & & 4,211 3,223

Non-current portion FE M B H 10,026 3,904

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities
is disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements.

HEBENINBEBR TR E
R RMFEI2HE -
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14. LEASES (continued)
() The amounts recognised in profit

R ER AT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

14. HE(E)
(0 REZEINEEEERN

(d)

or loss in relation to leases are as

SEWMT

follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNE 640 412
Depreciation charge of FTREEEMNITE
right-of-use assets F X 5,342 5,179
Gains on leases modifications & & i Ut 25 (13) -
Expense relating to leases of HEEBBEEEMEE
low-value assets (included in BEREHHAX
administrative expenses and GtATTHERAX &
cost of sales) 3 & K AR) 4 4
Expense relating to short-term R HHAEBFE N
leases (included in F (5t AT
administrative expenses F < & 85 & A A)
and cost of sales) 122 62
Total amount recognised in RiB = ER A
profit or loss e ] 6,095 5,657

The total cash outflow for leases is (d)
disclosed in note 27(c) to the financial

statements.

HERERHABERERY

R M EE27(0) ©

265



266

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SIS
B #%5 ¥R X Bff 5% T
ﬁ-"j:;u
15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. HttE|EEE
Software
B
RMB’'000
AR T

31 December 2023 2023512 H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of F2023F 1 A1HBAKA -

accumulated amortisation 1 Br R 5T 5 1,590
Additions NE 292
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) £ A 5t 12 # # 84 ([t 5£6) (797)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12 A31H 1,085
At 31 December 2023: 20234124318 :
Cost DN 5,328
Accumulated amortisation ES (4,243)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,085
31 December 2022 202212 H31H
At 1 January 2022 202291 H1H
Cost X 2R 3,707
Accumulated amortisation R #E (2,555)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,152
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of F2022F1 A1 BB KA -

accumulated amortisation 1 Br R 5T # 55 1,152
Additions nNE 1,329
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) £ A 5t 12 # ## 84 (Fff 5£6) (891)
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12 A31H 1,590
At 31 December 2022 and at R2022F12A31H &

1 January 2023: 2023F1 A1 8 :
Cost X 2N 5,036
Accumulated amortisation 25 55 (3.,446)
Net carrying amount REEE 1,590
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 267
v o7 75 R % Bt 5t

a;5m 31 December 2023
_dEF 2023412 A31H
16. INVENTORIES 16. &
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARET T
Contract fulfilment costs & %) Bk 2K 1,561 2,317

The above costs incurred to fulfil contracts relate
to provision of Data Insight Solutions and are
recognised to costs of sales when the related
services are transferred to customers. The amount
recognised during the year was RMB2,317,000
(2022: RMB680,000).

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

FTMBEITENETE £ /KA REIEH
FBERANEHBATREB TR EBAR
BEBCEREPHKBERABBEEKR - F
NERNEE R ARK2317,0007T
(2022 : A R#¥680,0007T) °

EZRUNRERERER

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR T AREF T

Trade receivables g 5 E WA 111,351 92,028
Notes receivable e W = % 2,222 6,287
Impairment B E (23,530) (6,322)
Net carrying amount AREFE 90,043 91,993

The Group’'s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit. The credit terms granted generally
ranged from 7 days to 120 days, depending on the
specific payment terms in each contract. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

AEEREXFNEZGRAEE
BE - FEANEEH -—RNTTF7H
21208 RIEZHENNEEXN
R KM IE o AN 5 B 3 5K M 15 B AR T
HREERKFRB sREEETEH
U AMER A5BELRINEHE
WHRBEEHRTATAEF B EM
ERERERE - R REBERBTFE -
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

17. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES
(continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the
transaction dates and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

17. EFREWUREREKRELE(E)

REEHR BHZRUKEERR S
FHEMBREEREERNKRE DN
wmn

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AREF T

Within 6 months 618 AN 67,147 66,345
6 to 12 months 6= 12 1@ A 11,653 11,084
1 to 2 years 12245 8,268 8,162
2 to 3 years 2E3F 753 115
Total 45t 87,821 85,706

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment

BoREFENBREBERREZD

of trade receivables are as follows: m
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR F T
At beginning of year R F 1 6,322 4,541
Impairment losses, net (note 6) B B 18 0% 58 (P 3% 6) 17,607 2,678
Amount written off as uncollectible 44 & )% Uz 6] th & 58 (399) (897)
At end of year KT S 23,530 6,322

The increase in the loss allowance of
RMB17,208,000 (2022: RMB1,781,000) was due
to an increase of trade receivable which were aged
over 1 year and past due.

B 18 & 45 18 n A R ¥ 17,208,000
(2022 : AR #1,781,0007T) © Jb |
REBRBE1FACBENESREK
IIEE TR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 17. EZREWREREREE (&)
(continued)
An impairment analysis is performed at each & WS B R B E B R IT R
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure BN U ERHEEEE -BE
expected credit losses. The provision rates are EREREFEUEBBEANZ @
based on the days past due for groupings of various B P o a8 Bl ey @ Hﬂ REETE © Zat
customer segments with similar loss patterns. ERMEENMELER EEFHEEE
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted MR EBBAE E’]ﬁ AesAEEMH-
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable IR R AR R B R TER &
and supportable information that is available at the BRAEER - —RME BEHEK
reporting date about past events, current conditions PN Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ Fr T LAGESH - A X 08 &l 8
and forecasts of future economic conditions. THEE
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due and are not subject to enforcement activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit TXFEREABRBERTENE
risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables using BASEESRRAREMEAZEE
a provision matrix: [2 Bz 09 & K} -
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H
Gross Expected
carrying credit Expected
amount loss rate credit loss
FHEE EHEE
BEREE EiE=x &1
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Current Bl HR 31,517 2.1% 648
Past due: 0 5 -
Within 1 year 1K 58,820 9.8% 5,777
Between 1 and 2 years EF2F 17,638 78.9% 13,909
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 2,702 93.3% 2,522
Over 3 years 3FE L 674 100.0% 674
Total @t 111,351 21.1% 23,530
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17. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

17. ESFREWURERERELE(E)

MR2022%F12A31H

Gross Expected
carrying credit Expected
amount loss rate credit loss

BHEE

RARHEE BiEX BHEEEE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
Current BN HA 63,479 1.4% 913
Past due: 0 5 -

Within 1 year 1 A 24,013 8.9% 2,125
Between 1 and 2 years 15225 3,408 65.9% 2,246
Between 2 and 3 years 2E3F 728 87.6% 638
Over 3 years 3F L 400 100.0% 400
Total 45t 92,028 6.9% 6,322

The Group’s notes receivable are all aged within one
year and neither past due nor impaired.

AEEREZENREAR—FA
HEEARBH IR R AE -
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PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

18. B REB HMEKZRERH

AND OTHER ASSETS ftt & &
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Prepayments T8~ 3K IB 3,900 3,842
Prepaid expenses BEANRAX 713 856
Other receivables H b fE Y I8 14,609 2,772

Prepayment for repurchase of 8 B AR 19 78 1 KIE

shares 35,659 2,410
Other assets Hih&E 1,572 11,433
56,453 21,313
Impairment loss VERIEN R (6,797) (325)
Total B Et 49,656 20,988

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of
the reporting period. The Group has applied the
general approach to provide for expected credit
losses for non-trade other receivables under HKFRS
9. The Group considers the historical loss rate and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in
calculating the expected credit loss rate.

Included in the Group’s other assets, RMB10,000,000
was prepayment for a potential acquisition as at
31 December 2022. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group decided to terminate
the potential acquisition transaction.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group estimated the
expected credit losses for other receivables to be
RMB6,797,000 (31 December 2022: RMB325,000).

BMEITRBEESHARET - AKEE
REFEBMBEHSEIFIRER —
MRITEABIFE 5 H b8 WA A
HEEBERARBEB AEEENE
BHEEBREXKEREELBRX
I 1R 95 A BE M 72 B AR BUR (F R

B o
=

R2022F 12 A31BEF AR E B H b
EEMNARK10,000,000T A —BEE
£ U B B TR T B IE o B 2202312
ABMBLEFEE AEBRERILER
KWERS -

R2023F 128318 AEBEFH
thWERKFENEHEEEEBEEAAR
#6,797,0007C (2022412 A31H : A
K ¥ 325,000 7T) °

271



272

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
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18. B RE HMEKZKERH

AND OTHER ASSETS (continued) ftt & & (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment HMERFREBEBRENEEREESH
of other receivables were as follows: mr
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
At beginning of year F 1 325 325
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB B 8% 58 (it 5X6) 6,472 =
At end of year FR 6,797 325
Other receivables are non-interest-bearing, HthEWRBEARE EEFRER

unsecured and repayable on demand.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

TR

19. BEAFEFABEENESREE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Unlisted investments, at fair value 3JE M & @ QA FE&
B - 2,098

The above unlisted investments represented certain
financial products issued by commercial banks in
Chinese Mainland. They were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

PR FETREETBEAMLE X R
TEINETEMER ARXKFR
ENANBESIRELFEINAE
EHB BEOIBRRERAFEFAR

SN EREE
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a;5m 31 December 2023
i 20235128318
20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 200 e RBEESEEY
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBET T
Cash and bank balances Re MIRITHE & 61,804 246,798
Time deposits E B fF K 571,532 418,766
Subtotal /INEF 633,336 665,564
Less: R
Current portion: BNER & & -
Non-pledged time deposits REERRIBEAK
with original maturity of =& A & K
over three months when E B E R
acquired (344,028) (175,474)
Non-Current portion: SEENHAES & -
Non-pledged time deposits RESERERIHAR
with original maturity of =@ A A & K
over three months when E B 17 3K
acquired (165,377) (80,772)
Cash and cash equivalents RekREZEEY 123,931 409,318
Denominated in: AT % & EHE :
RMB AR 90,220 346,680
us$ =TT 33,475 61,919
SGD N T 141 -
HK$ BT 95 719
Cash and cash equivalents ReLReEEY 123,931 409,318
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20.

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods from one to nine months and
earn interest at the fixed time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

20.

21.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BeRREEEY(E)

ARBAIBERABRREMER R
m - R & P B AN E B IR R B K
(GE - EEMMEEERE) AF
EEEEBERBETIIEZBTN
RTBAREHLBSHEMER -

ROTBERENRSRARTERMX
% B A R BREUK B o E BT KB —
ENEA AR A RERE - IR EE
) E B 77 SRR R BRER A B o R1T A R
EEMERFEALHIBERZNESL
S E RIFAERIT

ESEMNRE
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

Trade payables B 5 ENRIE

13,109 14,665
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_;3‘ 202312 A31H
21. TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 21. EZ BN REGER)
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the RBEMR EREZRHNESE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice NRIBEBEREDTEOT :

date, is as follows:

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 %

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREF T

Within 3 months R3E AR 11,128 11,834
4 to 6 months 4ZF61E A 366 623
7 to 12 months 7E1218 A 1,326 1,968
Over 1 years 18 A £ 289 240
Total 45t 13,109 14,665

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 90 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BERNKESTTE

A &EE e

— M 90 H

22. HtERNREREFER

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR F T

Payroll payables J& 1< % B 26,497 27,887

Contract liabilities (a) B REE@Q) 28,698 35,997
Tax payables other than J& 1~ 75t I8 (P 15 B BR 9N

income tax 4,379 7,225

Other payables (b) H th & - 3K 1E (b) 3,966 3,030

Total B Et 63,540 74,139
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22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HEWENRELETE B (&)
(continued)

(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) AHEEFBWOT:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

Types of goods or services REREREAIW

by product category EmRRBER
Data Insight Solutions HBRREBALTR 12,023 17,379
Data-driven Publications and HIEmREBEMREY

Events 4,278 8,362
SaaS products SaaS E 12,397 10,256
Total # 5t 28,698 35,997

Contract liabilities include short-term

advances received before the services are a4 8 E e ERE RS A
rendered. The decrease in contract liabilities B 52 BRI TR sRIE o R2023F B
in 2023 was mainly due to the decrease in WENBERIEZTERZHRE
short-term advances received from customers EEERBRAE P U E A EIE
in relation to the provision of services at the HIRBEBENRE BB ITRLD
end of each of the year. B

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand. by HMEENKREBERBITFTELREZE
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23. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
during the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2023

R ER AT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

23. EZLEB B
RBEHR BEEHRELEEREED
ZEhmT

202312 H31H

Deferred tax assets EEFRIBE E
Impairment Total
of trade Lease deferred
receivables liabilities tax assets
B S ER i E B8
SIERE HEEE EERE
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AR% T AR% TR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H 714 604 1,318
Deferred tax credited to FRFABEZNE
profit or loss during RE i 38 (M 5£10)
the year (note 10) 2,670 1,369 4,039
Gross deferred tax assets R2023F 1243188
at 31 December 2023 EERBEEERE 3,384 1,973 5,357
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIBEE
Total
Withholding  Right-of-use deferred
taxes assets tax liabilities
I E B |
BB GCHEEE BEAE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR TR AR TR
At 1 January 2023 Mm2023F1A1H 1,544 632 2,176
Deferred tax charged FANMKBEEED
to profit or loss during i T 38 (P 75 10)
the year (note 10) 1,456 1,270 2,726
Gross deferred tax liabilities at M2023F12A31H
31 December 2023 MECHEEE
1B 3,000 1,902 4,902
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. EZERIE(E)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities RFEHA BEEHBEENEBEN
during the reporting period are as follows: (continued) g (F)
31 December 2022 2022912 A31H
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBE E
Impairment Impairment Total
of trade of other Lease deferred
receivables receivables liabilities tax assets
BEHREM H el i E M IR
HIERE RBERE HEARE BEBS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETRT AREFTRT AREFTR
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 824 49 948 1,821
Deferred tax charged to FANKRERERND
profit or loss during LT IR
the year (note 10) (M #E10) (110) (49) (344) (503)
Gross deferred tax assets at R2022% 12 A31H
31 December 2022 MIELEHIEEE
B 714 = 604 1,318
Deferred tax liabilities EENFIBAE
Total
Withholding Right-of-use deferred
taxes assets tax liabilities
BB FREEE RELT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
g WM E T AREFTT ARE T
At 1 January 2022 M2022F1 A1 8 - 905 905
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FRMBRE/GIA)
profit or loss during the year BEMETHE
(note 10) (ff&E10) 1,544 (273) 1,271
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 R2022F12 A31B K
December 2022 ERHEAERE 1,544 632 2,176




— = — =
=

23.

= FFERE

fm

&
DEFERRED TAX (continued)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset in the
statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group
for financial reporting purposes:

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

i 3iE B H (&)
REIME ETEEHRBEERLEA
BERTHBMRAKPEHFE N TRE

23.

RUMBREZAEEERELT K RE &
B 3 A

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Net deferred tax assets Rize M BRRAKXRFER
recognised in the consolidated WIEERIEE EF58
statement of financial position 3,455 686
Net deferred tax liabilities Rixe M BRAKXRPER
recognised in the consolidated WIEZERIEBEFHE
statement of financial position (3,000) (1,544)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in WEMRATEERRELTHIEE E
respect of the following item:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
Tax losses 75 18 &5 18 50,649 67,994

279



280

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

23.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The above tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The
applicable rate is 10% for the Group.

At the end of reporting period, the directors of the
Company, based on the Group’s operation and
expansion plan, estimated that part of the retained
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries would be retained
in Chinese Mainland for use in future operations
and investments. At 31 December 2023, deferred
tax of RMB3,000,000 (2022: RMB1,544,000) has
been recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB260,960,000
at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
RMB214,526,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

23.
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i 3E B H (&)

PA BT R B EE A B B IR B 1R S
R—EZERFAEE AEHRKER
Bt A o B R B8 &R B A AT R R 3K
T & 18 R AR R N AT BE - iR B X
FEERAELCHBEEE -

At ASEBEEEERR B ALK
YHZEKN B AR YR BE2008F1A
THREEMANFZIKDKRE SN
EHHR AEEEANHRERI0% °

RBEEBR AR REBEAEBRNE
BERERE  EHFTPEMERFH
RBAEFBOBERBEPBEAM - A
FARARREERKZE - RN2023F12
A31B ERAEBEH R A H K
SNOARRE S & F S48 TE R A K
BARIMESBNNERELEE
A R #3,000,00070(2022F : A R ¥
1,544,0007C ) ° M 2023F 128318 -
AERECEHBEEENENFBE A
i BARKREEENEREEZR
=4 A AR 260,960,000 7T (2022
F12A318 + AR#¥214,526,0007T) °

A A A H R K R B E TS
BER-
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a;:m 31 December 2023
i 20236128318

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 24. BRA R EF K 14

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Authorised: AT
2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000 f% (2022 4F :
2,000,000,000) ordinary 2,000,000,000 %) & &
shares of US$0.01 each HE0.01E T H & BR
US$'000 FET 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR:
451,770,000 (2022: 451,770,000 f% (2022 4 :
451,770,000) ordinary 451,770,000 %) & i%
shares of US$0.01 each HE0.01ETH T ilBR
US$'000 FET 4,518 4,518

RMB’000 ARBT T 30,384 30,384
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Q7 #5 ¥R =% Bif 5% AT
31 December 2023
202312 A31H - doip
24. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 24. BRA K E &K % ()
(continued)
A summary of movements in the Company’s share RRARIRAWESHHEEN T -
capital is as follows:
Number
of shares Share Treasury
in issue capital shares
2 ®1T
B&HHA R 7 E#R %
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% ARBTR ARBT
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1 8 (a) 5,000,000 322 -
Initial public offering ERNGE:$S (b) 75,000,000 5,047 -
Capitalisation issue AR & (© 370,000,000 24,896 =
Exercise of the 17 B #8 B IR 48
over-allotment option (d) 1,770,000 119 -
Shares repurchased -Am ) (e) = = (101,121)
At 31 December 2022 and  72022F 12 A31H &
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 451,770,000 30,384 (101,121)
Shares repurchased AT (f) - - (77,977)
At 31 December 2023 2023F 12 A31H 451,770,000 30,384 (179,098)
Notes: B 5E -
(@)  The Company was incorporated on 4 March 2019 (@ A R~ 7 R2019F3848 & ft &
with authorised share capital of US$50,000 divided 3 A TE MR A A50,000E T DA

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

into 50,000 shares with par value of US$1.00 each.
Upon its incorporation, one share was allotted
and issued to the initial subscriber, which was
transferred to Wellmark Link Limited on the same
day.

50,000 & A% E fE1.003 T B &
o EFMALE —BERMHE
ERBETTIOEREA LRE
HEZETHEBRAQA -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 12 July 2022, 75,000,000 ordinary shares
of par value US$0.01 each were issued at a
price of HK$5.36 per share in connection with
the Company’s initial public offering (“Listing
Date”). The proceeds of US$750,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,047,000) representing the par value,
were credited to the Company’s share capital.
The remaining proceeds of approximately
US$47,466,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB319,399,000) before listing expenses were
credited to the share premium account.

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company passed on 27 April
2022 and 22 June 2022, a total of 370,000,000
shares of US$0.01 each were allotted and issued at
par value to the shareholders whose names were on
the register of members of the Company as at the
date of the passing of the resolutions, on a pro rata
basis, and such shares were allotted and issued by
way of capitalisation of US$3,700,000 (approximately
RMB24,896,000) from the Company’s share premium
account on the Listing Date.

On 4 August 2022, 1,770,000 over-allotment
ordinary shares of par value US$0.01 each
were issued at a price of HK$5.36 per share.
The proceeds of US$17,700 (equivalent to
approximately RMB119,000) representing the
par value, were credited to the Company’s share
capital. The remaining proceeds of approximately
US$1,191,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB8,055,000) before listing expenses were
credited to the share premium account.

In 2022, the Company purchased 20,585,500
of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total
consideration of approximately HK$112,865,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB101,121,000) for
a share award scheme.

In 2023, the Company purchased 16,228,000
of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total
consideration of approximately HK$86,459,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB77,977,000) for a
share award scheme.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
2023%F 12 A31H
24, BARERFR @ (&)
B ()
(b) M2022F7812B AR BHETH
KRARBER(TEMBHD &
% 5.36 % JT # {8 #& ¥ 775,000,000
&R EECOIEZITH T EA -
E K T E /) AT 13 X T8 750,000 7T
(HHE W A R¥5047,00050) 2 &5t
ARDRBIHRA - R TS RELD
47,466,000 T(HEFERH AR
319,399,000 ) (R EmH %)
B ABRMDEER-

(0 WREAXARQRARKENR2022F4H27H

F2022F6 A22BRBENEMERZ

2 . A& #£370,000,000 % & i @ &
0.01E LW % D B $= E B 1%t I B2
BRETTRBBRAZRERS
PIADNFIBRERBMOE  MzE
IR EmBBEREARRA RS
i B BR t 4% 3,700,000 7T (49 A B
#524,896,000 ) B E AR 2 F R
Bic 2% J2 B% 17 o

(dy 7202248 AF4H 1,770,000 i &
REECOIE LK EBE » i T @
f% & 3 K536 T E K IEIT
HEREEMNFENIE17,700%
T(HERHARE119,0007T) E
AR RR R A 82 NS RE
#91,191,000 T(HERHD AR
8,055,0007t) (KB LA X)E
FTARMDEER -

() 2022%F AR wEBRMEEE B -
I 4R B 49112,865,0007 7T (HH %
R#4 AR #101,121,000 7T ) 1 B &2
Ffr B8 [ 20,585,500 A% A% 17 °

(f) 2023F - A AR B D B A&
% 48 K (8 4986,459,0008 T (H &
N4 AR #77,977,0007C ) £ B &
Fr B8 [31 16,228,000 A% A% 17 °
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25. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity of the Group.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of shares issued and the
consideration received.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
paid-up capital, share premium and capital reserve
of the companies comprising the Group prior to
the incorporation of the Company, the reserve
arising from the reorganisation and acquisition of
non-controlling interests. Details of the movements
in the capital reserve are set out in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic
enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with
the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches
50% of their registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions set out in the Company Law of the
PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may
be converted to share capital, provided that the
remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

25.
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B 17 % B

BROEBEREBETRONEERSD
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BEXf#E
AEBREKNREEEANR A M
VYHAEBEBETRARNHEERN K
i (B MEANFE - BARWEIFE
BREGELENRFEB BEARBEIN
HRENGOREZEH K-

TEBEBRMGEE

BEFEQARE AEEBERBERD
ENWB AR ASEBME ST &
10% (RERBEFESFTEUET)D
REEHZTRBRE BEEREBED
HFMEANS0% A1 - BEHEQ
BEFEMNE TR B2 EERH
RETEBRARA  HEELREH
BELBEREMEAR25% °
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

BRAEARFEREZNBIE
BEHELQE
AEBEHEBERFERERANNE
NREIFEBHINWOT

non-controlling interests are set out below:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Percentage of equity interest held FE1E X HE 545 A #Y
by non-controlling interests: IRER DL -

Xinkang Information DEER 6% 6%
Sinohealth Tong FEA 20% 20%
Sinohealth Ruima H RS 40% 40%
Sinohealth Jianshu B R i 2 25% 25%
Sinohealth Tongrun R R iR E 20% 20%
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AR®ET T

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated % B2 T JE#% % # &= B9

to non-controlling interests: F A (EE)
Xinkang Information DEER 98 14
Sinohealth Tong AR B (241) 48
Sinohealth Ruima FERS 970 (247)
Sinohealth Jianshu R {2 2K 715 (1,196)
Sinohealth Tongrun BB (460) 394
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26. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

260 BFAERFEREZNBIH
B K E QA (&)

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T
Accumulated balances of R E B B8
non-controlling interests at JE 1R IR #E =
the reporting date:
Xinkang Information REH AR 40 138
Sinohealth Tong DEER 1,126 885
Sinohealth Ruima R B (330) 640
Sinohealth Jianshu FERS (4,590) (3,883)
Sinohealth Tongrun AR X 854 394

The following tables illustrate the summarised
financial information of the above subsidiaries. The

TRHPLAWMBRRANHEEHR
BME-FiE DB EM QA RS H

amounts disclosed are before any inter-company Al HY & 88 -
eliminations:
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR T T
Revenue A 35,980 38,802
Other income and gains H i A R gz 1,974 286
Total expenses % 48 %8 (41,364) (42,706)
Loss for the year FAEE (3,410) (3,618)
Total comprehensive loss FAZTEHEBERSE
for the year (3,410) (3,618)
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26. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)

R ER AT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

260 BAERFEREZNBIH
BB AR (E)

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTTT

Current assets mENEE 26,748 28,651
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,509 5,269
Current liabilities nBAaRE (37,221) (36,462)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE (1,422) (1,541)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® T T
Net cash flows from operating KR E) AT ® R EF
activities ] 590 372
Net cash flows (used in)/from BREFSHFA)/ FBH
investing activities EMEFHE (42) 2328
Net cash flows used in financing BEEBMAHR E REF
activities L (1,589) (1,907)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReERESZFEBMOR
and cash equivalents ),/ F 5 (1,041) 794
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Bt ¥5 ¥R 2= Bif 5% P
31 December 2023 3
2023%F12A31H - g

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 27. HLAeBEeREXRMTE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction (a)
During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of RMB12,457,000 (2022:
RMB3,015,000) in respect of lease

arrangements for office premises.

FEXRRERS
RERN XEBEHRBELEME
WEELHEENTREZLE
FEEARERHEEBEAAR
#12,457,0007C(2022F : A K
3,015,000 7T) °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) BMETHELANEBEEE
financing activities

Dividend

Lease liabilities payables

HEEE JE 15 1R B

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥E TR AR® TR

At 1 January 2022 720221818 9,614 -

New leases FHEE 3,015 =

Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZD (5,914) -

Interest expense MERX 412 -

At 31 December 2022 72022612318 7,127 -
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 #2022F12A318 &

2023F1A1H 7,127 -

New leases MHE 12,457 -

Dividends declared EIRRE - 15,753

Reduction as a result of lease modifications HEBREEWER (492) -

Changes from financing cash flows REREREL (5,495) (15,753)

Interest expense MERX 640 -

At 31 December 2023

72023612 A31H

14,237
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in
the consolidated statement of cash flows is as

follows:

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023

202312 A31H

27. REBRETRE KM E)

() HERSRLARH
AAARARERERNEER

TREATEBET

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® T ARB T T

Within operating activities R EEE A 126 66
Within financing activities NEt &G E A 5,495 5,914
Total 5 5,621 5,980

28. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did
not have any significant commitments (31 December

2022: Nil).

28. K iIE

R EH R K& B I £ T[] & K&K
¥E(2022F 12 8318 : &)
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31 December 2023

202312 A31H S.dis
29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. EBEBARS
The Group's principal related parties are as follows: AEBMNETZ@AB FWOT
Relationship with the EAR AT
Company Company KA F 9 B8 1%
Wellmark Link Limited Shareholder BEBRAF BRE
WLF Investment Shareholder WLF Investment % 3R
Holdings Limited Holdings
Limited
Ms. Wu Meirong Intermediate shareholder RERAZET HERE
Mr. Wu Yushu Director and key REFRE EZESFKETEEEABR
management personnel
Ms. Wang Lifang Director and key FRF LT ZEEFRETEEEABR
management personnel
Mr. Fu Haitao Non-executive director NEREE FRITESFRIEE
and key management BANE
personnel
Ms. Yi Xuhui Key management personnel SEEZLE FTEERAE
Mr. Tang Keke" Key management personnel JE I 8] 5 A EERBAB
Mr. Su Caihua Key management personnel BIELE ITEEBEBABR
Mr. Li Junguo Key management personnel FTEEEE EERBAB
Jiangxi Yaoshunshun  An associate IEIRIE  —xEBZ QA
Medicine Company (before 29 August 2022) BEXAR (20228 A29H &)

Limited ™~ N1
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The Group’s principal related parties are as follows:

(continued)

Company

Relationship with the
Company

Guangzhou Zhonghui
Medical Technology
Company Limited

Guangzhou Yishutong
Technology
Company Limited

Guangzhou Runer
Ophthalmic
Biotechnology
Company Limited

Guangzhou Zerui
Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Guangzhou Yipinhong
Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Mr. Tang Keke resigned as key management

An entity influenced

significantly by a director,

Mr. Wu Yushu
An entity influenced

significantly by a director,

Mr. Wu Yushu

An entity influenced
significantly by a
shareholder, Ms. Wu
Meirong

An entity influenced
significantly by a
shareholder, Ms. Wu
Meirong

An entity influenced
significantly by a
shareholder, Ms. Wu
Meirong

personnel on 4 May 2023.

The investment in Jiangxi Yaoshunshun Medicine
Company Limited was disposed of by a subsidiary
of the Company to a third party on 29 August

2022.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

29. BEEARF (&)

AEBENTEBB AT : (8)

=R NN
AAH iy B 1%
BMNPEEERE XEZREFT LS
MEBR AFENER
NE]

BENZEBBEN XSEZTRET LS
RERRA AFENER
BMNERRM ISRRRXBLLE
EMREE ATENERE

R 2 A
BEREHMEX SRRRXBLLE
BR QA AFENER

BMN—mAH XBRRRE
EBR QA

i

i %
by
H_
e

15}
i3

& B I & 4 A 20235 A48 B
FEEBAE -

3G KRal— B ARER2022F8
A298 # A T 7 5% F B 22 ¥ 5 R
ARAIMEEHET —RE=F°
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. B A XK ZF (&)
(continued)

(@) The Group had the following transactions (@ FAXNEEEBAKRL BB N
with related parties during the year: TR 5 :
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

Sales to related parties: AT HE

Guangzhou Yishutong BN ZE8EEHE AR

Technology Company NE]

Limited 59 =
Guangzhou Runer Ophthalmic BN EEREREIAEY)

Biotechnology Company REAR AR

Limited 94 -
Guangzhou Zerui BREZmEEEFR

Pharmaceutical Company NE]

Limited 24 =
Guangzhou Yipinhong N — AL HI B R

Pharmaceutical Company NG

Limited 18 -
Jiangxi Yaoshunshun IR EEX B R

Medicine Company Limited NGT - 60
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(@)  The Group had the following transactions with (a)
related parties during the year: (continued)

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

29. BEEARF (&)

F AN K E SRR
X5 : (&)

772 A A

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR®ET T
Purchases of services from [m) BB 7 B B R AS
related parties™:
Guangzhou Yishutong N 5 B Rt RL
Technology Company BRERA]
Limited 371 -
Guangzhou Zhonghui Medical ~ E/NHEE TH?SE
Technology Company BRA
Limited 1,308 1,180
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE™
assets™”
Ms. Wu Meirong RERLZL 504 269
Interest expense on lease MEABNFE
liabilities™ b
Ms. Wu Meirong REBTHL 51 35
The sales to the related parties were made . MEBSTHENDREEH XA H
according to the prices and terms mutually EWERREREL -
agreed between the parties.
The purchases from the related parties were @S MEABITNBEE DREE FHE

made according to the prices and terms
mutually agreed between the parties.

The depreciation of right-of-use assets and g
interest expense on lease liabilities related to

the leases of the offices from related party

pursuant to the terms of the agreements

signed between the Group and the related

party. The Group’s lease liabilities due to the

related parties are included in note 14(b) to

the financial statements.

% E K E R R AFREL -

FHEEENMERBEAGHF
SNSRI DA T N S
FEINBEERLEBERE S HEE
WAE - AEERNBEB SO EE
BEH NIRRT E140)
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) The Group had the following outstanding

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

29. EEARF ()

(b) AEEEBEBITENATKRER

balances with related parties: WA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Due from Ms. Wu Meirong" JEWREBR L+ FRIB* 45 -
Due to Guangzhou Yishutong FERTEM S 8B RHE
Technology Company Limited®  ARAR]AIFRIA* 126 -
Due to Guangzhou Runer FERTEMN ERRRIAEY
Ophthalmic Biotechnology BHE A R AR K 5RIE*
Company Limited" 59 -
Due to Guangzhou Zhonghui  EffEMNPEEZERHE
Medical Technology Company AR & K FIE*
Limited" 247 355

The above amounts due from/to the related
parties were trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

bt pE W SRR B 5 AR OTE
BESMHE EBEWF T
ERBERERE-
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oy 2023%12 4318

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEA X Z (&)
(continued)
(c)  Compensation of key management personnel 0 FAEFBFEERBABHHFM:
of the Group:

2023 2022
2023F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREBTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits & - 285 R EWEF

in kind 2,665 4,221
Performance related bonuses RIRBMHTEAT 930 706
Pension scheme contributions  ERRE T2 35 42

Total compensation paid to key BfNEZEEAS

management personnel ofa 3,630 4,969
Further details of directors’ and the chief EENRETHAEEMOE—%
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 RN EREN TS -

to the financial statements.
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30.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  30.
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of reporting

period are as follows:

31 December 2023

m

202312 H31H

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BB NEMI A
RBEHR SEERTANKEE

Financial assets ctRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
278§ =10 %N
IR S REE
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Trade and notes receivables B 5 e WEIE & N E i 90,043
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFEfTFRIE « EAth fEUFIE
other receivables and other assets EMEENSMEE 7.812
Time deposits TE HATE 3K 509,405
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEZEEY 123,931
Total st 731,191
Financial liabilities coll - =
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
128 8 R A
SRS REE
RMB’'000
AR® T
Trade payables 2 Z IR 13,109
Financial liabilities included in other STAHMES AN ERTE A
payables and accruals WEeRaE 3,966
Due to related parties JE 1<F B Bgk 77 SR IE 432
Lease liabilities HEBE 14,237
Total et 31,744
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R ER AT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. RERE s WL/ T EH(E)

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REEHR SEeRITANEEE
financial instruments as at the end of reporting T ()

period are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022

Financial assets

2022412 A31H

THMEE

Financial Financial

assets at fair assets at

value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total

BRATERA RE AR
BaMeREE JIRNEREE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARET T ARET T

Trade and notes receivables

Financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

ZoRWGEN EREE = 91,993 91,993
STATRRRIE - EAhRGRIE
REMEENSREE

= 12,772 12,772
BATEFABRNEHEE

2,098 - 2,098

= 256,246 256,246

RekBReEEY - 409,318 409,318

Total

st 2,098 770,329 772,427
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202312 A31H

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SIS

.
[ .-,'.-
et

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. Bl E oW £/ T A(E)

(continued) TREEE)
Financial liabilities ol =
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
IR SR BE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables B 2 ERNRIR 14,665
Financial liabilities included in other T AH M FE (N FRIE K FE AT B R
payables and accruals NEeRtBE 3,030
Due to a related party &t — & BBt 75 5K I8 355
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,127

Total

Bt 25,177
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values
of cash and cash equivalents, trade and notes
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, the current portion of lease liabilities and
amounts due from/to a related party approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease
liabilities has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes
in fair value as a result of the Group’s own
non-performance risk for lease liabilities as at the
end of each of the reporting period were assessed
to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which
represent certain financial products issued by
commercial banks in Chinese Mainland. The Group
has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on the market interest rates
of instruments with similar terms and risks.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31.

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

TEMIELAFERAFEER

BEEEENGH BekReFEY
BoREFIENBRREE BHEHEN
IR~ FF AT A - E R UK IR
FEMEENSREE T AHME
NHRErEAEANEHAG HE
BERDHO REW N —BEES
REZAFEREEEREMES  HE
EHRZETAINHBEREMRK-

TREENBENATFEURBER
S5HCREHNFREERINEMR S
TRITAZARSSEMARK-

HEARBHFRIBINARFED K
EREEBUKT EERRKLRT
FHZTARKA AL RN ZA
HARREREFE - RERE
R AEEAGHREERBENTED
REBELENAFEZBEFMGERD
EX-

AERBRENFLTRE RERE
EPAAREERTRINET 2
BES - AEERELEAUERR
BB T AGTHHE  EHBAR
S EmERL A REE LT R
A ATE -

299



300

Sinohealth Holdings Limited

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥ 2% B 5

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 31.

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

TRIAAFERAFEER
(%)

ATEE R
TRARAEESRIANATE
HEBA

BAVEAENEE:

MR2022%F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERATHANATENE

Quoted prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERTS BAUER BANITHER
MEE  BARE W BARE
(B1H) (F28%) (F38%) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBFTT ARETRT ARBTT AR®TR

Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABREN
through profit or loss TREE

= 2,098 = 2,098

The Group did not have any financial assets
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2023.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities.

M2023F 12 A318H A& & I £ 1%
NFEFEZEREE -

MR2023F12A831H K& B I &£ T
MiZAFEFEN S B EQ02F
128318 : &) -

RER BEREEREZBREEM
EORIMBEFE2R AL ERTE
AEER TESAXBBLEIL-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Fluctuations in exchange rates between the RMB
and other currencies in which the Group conducts
business may affect the Group’s financial condition
and results of operations. The Group seeks to limit
its exposure to foreign currency risk by minimising
its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the foreign currency exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's profit before tax (arising from foreign
currency denominated financial instruments).

HEERERAF
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

MBEBREEEEREKE

AEENITESRTABRERRAY
Bt \EamesREELRAESRA
TEEM - ZFEMTANTIERD
RIAEEEESEEET AKEHE
EETHMeREERRBE flME
EEERELANEZIRKRRENE
2 &N 5KA o

AEESRMIAELANTIERARA
SNERBE  EERBRERESE SR
R -EFZeEHNAMEEEZSTRR
RERBR ZEEBRBAEDT -

S BE /R By

SNEE [ B = B NS BE R B 5| BB
BORR - AEBEEEXHER
ARBHEMEENEXRFEENR
SENMBRARGERE A& H
BEREFIINBEATHERE  BXK
BR i) ) BEE L f

TRBEITNBREMREMBEME
ERFIAENBRLT  AEEOKRH
A E A (AASNESHEN SR T AR

BO 8 N IE R S 12 ] Bt # B &Y BUR
o
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3. MBXEAMEEEERBEE(E)

Foreign currency risk (continued) SNEE B B (48)

Change in Increase/
rate of (decrease)
foreign in profit

currency before tax
% B Al % F
HNEERBE i, Orl &)
% RMB’000
% AR¥T
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARBHETLZE 5 18,588
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ M AR X ETHE 5 (18,588)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ WMAREEABTRE 5 5
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ i AR EE BT HE 5 (5)
If the RMB weakens against the SGD WA R SN TR A 5 8
If the RMB strengthens against the SGD i A R ¥ 3,37 i3 T FHE 5 (8)
31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
If the RMB weakens against the US$ MAREHETRE 5 11,773
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ i A R# 5 =T HE 5 (11,773)
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ MAREEBTRE 5 156
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ i ARKE X BT HE 5 (156)
Credit risk EEE B

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

AEBEEERAREERINSE
ZHETRZ - AKRENRRBAA
MBREERRETRINMBARRP
AEXERAZERRF UL BRXK
THRE R BB
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end
staging classification at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2023

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

32. MBXEAMEEEEREE(E)

FEERK(E)

=5 B B R F K E R
TREARBBEASEBEERR(XE
EReBER RIEFEHBAMND Y
EHNAHIEZ N TREEMER) M
EEEELk&EeRR UEMI12A
BMMEMFRERS B -FMEA M2
HATHMEEMMEKRHEE-

R2023F12A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 AR 207N
BEER REER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-R& BB EZRE Eitri b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB*000 RMB*000
ARETTR ARET T ARETT ARETT AEET T
Trade receivables’ BHENE - - - 111,351 111,351
Notes receivable™ EhEE" 2,222 - - - 2,222
Financial assets included ~ StATBAIZE
in prepayments, other At EWHIER
receivables and other HtEER
assets TREE
— Normal** -E&" 4,284 - - - 4,284
- Doubtful” — A" - 10,000 325 - 10,325
Time deposits EBEN
- Not yet past due — A 509,405 - - - 509,405
Cash and cash equivalents  RERREEEEN
- Not yet past due — HABH 123,931 - - - 123,931
Total h 639,842 10,000 325 111,351 761,518
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SIS

u

_‘-’-;‘___;I’
BHERREERRRBEEE
=& & k()

& & A B K F R e E(AB)

M2022%12 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{H A 7EH
EEER THESHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-B& ERB £ Bitn& &5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETL  ARETR  AREST  ARETR

Trade receivables’ BARNE - - - 92,028 92,028
Notes receivable™ [ ES 6,287 - - - 6,287
Financial assets included ST ATBHTFUE »

in prepayments, other Ath YA

receivables and other REMEED

assets TREAE

- Normal” -EE” 12,447 - - - 12,447

- Doubtful” — " - - 325 - 325
Time deposits THER

— Not yet past due —mARBH 256,246 - - - 256,246
Cash and cash equivalents  BE&RELEEN

— Not yet past due —mARBH 409,318 - - - 409,318
Total HY 684,298 - 325 92,028 776,651
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

For trade receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, further
information is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of notes receivable and the
financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets are considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
and other receivables are disclosed in notes 17 and
18 to the financial statements, respectively.

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

32. MBEKREREBERBEGE)
= & = Bz ()
=& K FRER (&)

B FE N B R E R A e
ENEZREFEMNS  £E—F &
BRI mRME17HE -

R EBE Rt AR RIE  EffE
WHREAKEMBEEN SR EERE
EEZAEZSeREEY RAY
BYEEHNBTIEREENEER
[ B B %) 2 58 LA K K 18 45 0 B
WERTERE]-TA - 2REEN
EEERWE /AR -

HRAEBEERERITNREEBRH
MEZNETRS WY ERARLE
BXR-FERBRIFEEAETHNIE
A

EHEASEEMEGRE S BEKBKKRER
HtWERFEEEANEERRDE
— S EEHED NI BERRENT
1718 E -
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32.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. MERKEEBERBX(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REE SRR
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash AEEERRB#FASBEEERA
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the 2 #y %/E“ kRSB 7Jf FoAREE
management of the Group to finance the operations RUASRRERSARKBDHER -
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.
The maturity profile of the Group's financial RBERR BREASHORBBRNR A&
liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based BemBEMNIHERMDT
on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as
follows:
31 December 2023
20235128318
Less than 3t0 12 1to3 Over
On demand 3 months months years 3 years Total
BEX S13fER 3212{8R 123§ 3ENL fazt
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARMTR  AR®Tn  ARETR  ARETR
Trade payables BAENTE 1,981 11,128 - - - 13,109
Lease liabilities HEGE - 1,170 3,640 7,162 3,545 15,517
Due to related parties ERBHATE 432 - - - - 432
Financial liabilties included i~ 3f AZERTER
other payables and accruals — EFrERRIERER 3,966 - - - - 3,966
Total ) 6,379 12,298 3,640 1,162 3,545 33,024




TR ZFFERS

32.

7

P

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 ¥5 ¥k 2 Bl X

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

MHEEREERERBKEGE)
B E S E bk (HE)

31 December 2022
2022412 4318

Less than 3t012 Tto3 Over
On demand 3 months months years 3 years Total
BEX  HH3fER E12{3R 133F YENE h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%ETT  ARETT  ARETE  ARETn  ARETR
Trade payables BAENTE 2,831 11,834 - - - 14,665
Lease liabilties BEGE - 1,52 1,984 3997 - 7,503
Due to related parties ERBHATE 355 - - - - 355
Financial liabilties included i~ sf AZERFER
other payables and accruals — EFrERRIERER 3,030 - - - - 3,030
Total &t 6,216 13,356 1,984 3,997 - 25,553
Capital management EXRER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital REBEXREREM ?E ZEHEARRE

management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group
is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

AEBFERER I # Fi= 2
B & AL & inﬁﬁi\if%&%ﬁ{t
PRREME -

AEBRBEEEGMENEZ L KIEH
BEZERBHBEEREEAREBY

HHETAE BERIFABRERE
T% AEBEMMREAZRIN TRENR

CIREES TRENRBITHRG -
$%@Wﬂ£ﬁ%*ﬁmbumé$ﬁ
K H)BR Fll o A B E22023F K 20224F
12A3VBLEE EBELAMNEBEEZ-
BRI EFSEEMEL-
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32.

33.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. ¥ AKERE B Z R BX (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) EREE(E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, AEBNEABBLXRERE KR
which is calculated by dividing total liabilities by ERXBEBELEXR] Tiz mEERNR
total equity, was 13.9% as at 31 December 2023 (31 =i ES 2023412 A 31
December 2022: approximately 14.9%). The gearing A 7,%13.9% (2022%F12HA31H: &
ratios as at the end of reporting period were as 149%) RN EHR  BEXBBEL X
follows: N
2023 2022
20235 2022%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARET T
Total liability Y= 97,287 103,237
Total equity HrEm 700,454 693,236
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 13.9% 14.9%
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 33. B EH A E R

On 5 February 2024, Sinohealth Information and
Foshan Heheng Equity Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (Foshan Heheng, {3 LU & 18 f%
BIREEZDE(BRAER)), anon-wholly owned
partnership of Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang,
the executive directors of the Company, entered
into an equity transfer agreement and a Partnership
Property Share Transfer Agreement for the
acquisition of 50.6% equity interests in Guangzhou
Zhonghui Medical Technology Company Limited at a
consideration of RMB12,239,000.

Upon completion of the acquisition, Guangzhou
Zhonghui Medical Technology Company Limited will
become an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.

2024F2 A58 - & & R 1L
EEREBEREEGRLCEZ(ERER)
(ZIS/“ﬁiﬂ EEREFAEAEHETIHN

ﬁimékzé%ﬁA%ﬁ%)aw

hEEBEZWELEBREEMED
HWEBE ANBBEMNPES f?ﬂ&

B RAIS506%/[E REAARK
12,239,000 7T °

WEEX®E BMNREEREMEKN
ERABSERR/BARAR ZHEEIER
EWBARAE -
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

HEERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 ¥5 ¥R 2% Bt 5E

Information about the statement of financial

34. KA T BRI E

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

BERARARHKEHARNYTHMRR

position of the Company at the end of the reporting KMEBBAT:
period is as follows:
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—KMBARRERE - —
Total non-current assets EMEEELE - -
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables TEfRTFRIE  HAth EURIE
and other assets NEMEE 36,051 2,812
Due from subsidiaries JE UK B /B~ Rk IE 180,420 203,701
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 33,450 62,443
Time deposits EHITFER 344,028 175,474
Total current assets MEEERE 593,949 444,430
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBAE
Other payables and accruals H At & < 538 % JE 51 5RIE 3 89
Due to a subsidiary BN —KM B A RIIE 232,084 9,077
Total current liabilities maEERE 232,087 9,166
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEZE 361,862 435,264
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT XEE#AEBERABEE
LIABILITIES 361,862 435,264
Net assets BEFE 361,862 435,264
EQUITY MR
Share capital [N 30,384 30,384
Treasury shares ETF R (179,098) (101,121)
Reserves (note) @ (MIsE) 510,576 506,001
Total equity B 361,862 435,264
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S
Bt 15 3R 2% Bt 5% T
31 December 2023 : s
202312 A31H Y
34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. &2 7 B # iR R & (&)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: B 3F :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR A FEHEOBZMT ¢
Share Retained
premium profits Total
1% 19 & 8 & & % A @t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARB T T AR®T T
At 1 January 2022 MR2022F1A1H 183,858 (2,573) 181,285
Total comprehensive income for & A & m Y A
the year @ - 31,235 31,235
Issue of shares from initial BXARBEMmET
public offering % 7 319,399 - 319,399
Capitalisation issue &AM B 1T (24,896) = (24,896)
Exercise of the over-allotment  1T{f BB 5 i
option fi% 1 8,055 = 8,055
Share issue expenses TR (9,077) = (9,077)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12A318 &
1 January 2023 20231 A1H 477,339 28,662 506,001
Total comprehensive income FAZEKA
for the year 4 FE - 4,575 4,575
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H 477,339 33,237 510,576
35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 35. R & ¥Rz #t /&

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2024.

BB RDN2024FE3828HHES
SHE R IR T -
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uAlu

[Al]

“Al-MDT"

[A-MDT

“Articles of Association”

[MEEREAA ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE ]

“Board”

==

“B2C”

[B2C ]

“CG Code”

TEERERAF

DEFINITIONS

artificial intelligence
ATLERE

artificial intelligence multi-disciplinary treatment, it refers to
the customized health management solution we provide for
medical examination users, which uses Al technology to conduct
multi-disciplinary comprehensive analysis and evaluation of medical
examination reports of medical examination users

AT ERZ 2 aEERMASERAPRERANESLEREBRR)
= ENAARMTE AP RRREETSERMEE ST RTE

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time
to time)

ARARAHERADR (BTREE)

the audit committee of the Board

m

EEE

8
%"ﬁ

TRNEZZRES

the board of Directors

1

EE

i3

Business-to-Customer, sell products and services directly to
consumers

Business-to-Customer * B H A HEE HEEm MR

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules

AR R ERC1 AT B A<P A
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DEFINITIONS

“China” or "PRC"

(B

“CHIS”

72 ]

“Connected Person(s)”
[FE:E AL

"CPEQO"

[PAEe ]

“Company”

[Aa] ]

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this interim
report only and except where the context requires otherwise,
references in this annual report to “China” or “PRC" do not include
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

hEARLKME - BERARENS RAIMEXEMRT - NEAFR
A [FE] - 9TEREE  RFFHTHRR NG E

Chinese Health Industry Intelligence Information System, one of
the Group’s SaaS products that provides customers with industry
information inquiry, retail data inquiry, drug database and other
functions

TR EERTDREIERESY
a%

R AEBEBREBRRE—HKSaaSEm * /E
FRETEEMAEH TERBIEES

NEEW - EmBIBEESFIRE
has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules
E AR R T R E

Health Industry (International) Ecological Conference, China’s health
industry forward-looking ecological conference

BEEFX (BR) £RAE  FEEREXNEENERSH

Sinohealth Holdings Limited, an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 March 2019 and
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance on 7 July 2021

PEERARAT  —FKR2019F3 4B EHEHSFTMA A E
RNEARARE - WIREARIEHE162R2021F7 A7HFM AR

YN
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off

“Contractual Arrangements”

[ B K% HE]

“CRO"

[ & R oA & ]

“Digital human”

[&FA

“Director(s)”

[E%]

" DTP/I

[DTP]

TEERERAF

DEFINITIONS

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by Zhongkang
Technology, Sinohealth Information and its subsidiaries, the VIE
Shareholders and the Other VIE Shareholders, as applicable, on 8
June 2021 and 6 May 2022, the details of which are described in
the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
of the Company

AP ERE  PEEANEMB AR - o] ZH 8T AR & H b a] &
MEHFTERE (@EA) MN2021F6 A8H k20224565 M —
RINEBHZH  EEFBELXHARRBRER [AO%H] —&

Contract Research Organization, An academic or commercial
scientific institution that provides specialized services in the research
and development process of basic medicine and clinical medicine
for pharmaceutical enterprises, medical institutions, small and
medium-sized medical device R&D enterprises and other institutions
through contract

BRMEAS BRAREASKEDR BEHRE T/ BEER
MR ECXESRBEERBEMEREZT I BIETREFTELR
B —BEME kB R ENR E%E

A virtual human figure resembling a real person simulated by
computer technology

BB EREMRE L —ARUEANERATER -
the director(s) of the Company
RRARESR

The direct-to-patient pharmacy model refers to the model in which
patients purchase drugs directly from pharmacies and receive
professional guidance and services after obtaining prescriptions
from hospitals.

ERERSENSEEN  DEEERRESENE  HEEEEE
EERIE S TS RBHHEA -
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DEFINITIONS

“Eligible Participant”

“FY2022"
[20228% 4 |
“FY2023"

[202384 4 |

"Global Offering”

[EPREE ]
“Group” or “We"
[AR&EE ] sk [
"HK$”

[T

“Hong Kong”
(&8 ]

“1SO”

[s0 |

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

any individual being an Employee Participant, Related Entity
Participant or Service Provider, provided such person is not a
connected person of the Group

EREE2EE HEER2REIREHEFOEA - BZALL
FAREENREAL

financial year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022612 A3V BOHMBEE
financial year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F 12 A31 BB ER

the Hong Kong public offering and international offering of the
Shares

BRIPNBTBARBEEMBEREE

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARE RENERF]

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEEEAEEHEAT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
B EF B R RITTR R

International Organization for Standardization

iR eI Ll ek



CECCHFFERE

“Lingtong”

“Listing Date”

[ ETEH]

“Listing Rules”

[Em R A

" MASC ”

B0

“Model Code”

TEERERAF

DEFINITIONS 315

one of the products in our Smart Decision Cloud business segment,
which is a digital marketing empowerment system that helps
customers efficiently formulate deployment strategies, improve
deployment efficiency, track marketing effects in real time and
collect feed-back on decision-making

BHMESARERBRABET —FRER  EPHEPSHIERME
B - R IORR - BN R “‘%fﬁﬁxﬁ(% + RIERER BB L SH R BE

12 July 2022, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares were permitted to
commence on the Stock Exchange

20229 7R128 - BIRR R R P _Eh MR (0 %€ 6 B 5% B 8 5 aa 72 Bt
REEEM B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B PraE 2 EAR Al

Health Traffic Conference, our conference platform focused on
traffic research and value interaction

BEARIREAS  RABRNEINREMALREERENEE T

VAN
=

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

EHARRIMERCIAE LM EITAEFTETE SR HIRLESTR
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“NLP”

[NLP ]

“Nomination Committee”
[fRRZLEg]

020"

[020]

“PHCF”

[PFse |

“Prospectus”

(A=)

"

“Remuneration Committee

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Natural Language Processing, It is an interdisciplinary subject in
the fields of computer science, artificial intelligence and linguistics.
It mainly studies how to make computers have the ability to
understand, process, generate and simulate human language,
so as to realize natural dialogue with humans. Through natural
language processing technology, machine translation, question
answering system, sentiment analysis, text summarization and other
applications can be realized.

BABERIE  FTEMENME  ATERENESS2REN —ERXXE

ﬂ C TR FTAET EHAEIER - B2 ARMEBRRABRESH
RMBREABETEARY R  BEEABTRIERM - AT

Efﬁﬁ&aﬁﬁs # o RZRR  BRAON XABESZZREEN -

the nomination committee of the Board
EEETRNIRREEE

Online To Offline, a form of transaction in which goods or services
are booked or placed online and delivered offline

Online To Offline ' BWMEKERBE LB TE » F TR MNH
—BRFER

Pharma & Healthcare Conference and Fair, our event held for
healthcare industry players

BERRRXZIAE  BRASRREXSEERNNEH

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2022 in connection
with the Global Offering

NATIBEIA2022F6 A28 R BB ENTBREE
the remuneration committee of the Board

ExeTRNFMEZES



—ECSEEEEE

“Reporting Period”
[ ¥R 5

“RMB”
AR |

uSaaS”

[Saas |

"SCRM”

[ RAEFRERER ]

" SFO "

&5 KRB ED

“Share Option Scheme”

[ AT &1

“Share Award Scheme”

[ B tn £2@hat 2 ]

15

TEERERAF

DEFINITIONS

Twelve months ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F12A31H 1L+ @R
Renminbi, the lawful currency of China
hEEEEEARE

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery
model in which software and associated data are centrally hosted

SR - —EEAREEERRAER - SRR TR
h e 7

Social Customer Relationship Management, engaging with
customers through social media and use technology to disseminate,
capture and analyze customer data to discover customer needs and
maintain long-term customer relationships. Emphasizes customer
engagement and two-way interaction more than traditional
Customer Relationship Management

HRBEFARERE  BEEXREBEETFES  FBEMFRE
B BRMOMEFEE  WBEREFPFRRKLERRINEFBARE
BEREPEREERATF2EMEREE)

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

BEBEDESNEZHMPEIED
the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 27 April 2022
ARAER202254 A27 B AR BEAREET &

the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022

RAEN20225 12 A5 B RAR R 2EBh 512
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DEFINITIONS

“Share(s)"”

[ fn |
“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 3R |

“sIc”

[sic|

“Sinohealth Information”

G355

“Stock Exchange”

[ B8 22 P

“tertiary hospitals”

[=F &k

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of US$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company

RN BRAF ZAREEO.01ETTHE B
holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHOFEE A

One of SaaS products of the Group’s Smart Retail Cloud business
segment, that provide pharmacies with comprehensive services such
as operation management, membership management, category
management, smart marketing, chronic disease management and
pharmaceutical services.

AEBEZTEEXEBRME —HSaaSEm - REERHEKLEER
BEE mBEE DLl BREE- %EQEHE%kgg'?é}MEHE%“

Guangzhou Sinohealth Information Co., Ltd (EM A& EE MRS
FRAR]), a joint stock company with limited liability established in
the PRC on 20 December 2007 and deemed to be a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements

BEMNFEEMBRDARAR - —xK12007F12 208 EF B LA
BHBERAT  BEANLTHERSAREENZ2ENB AT

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBBMERIMERRATA

tertiary-grade A class hospitals, which belong to the highest level
in the classification of hospitals pursuant to the classification of
medical institutions in accordance with China’s existing Hospital
Classification Management Measures and other regulations

%ﬁ RPZER - KBRPERT (BROMREEWE) SR ES
DEBERELR - RERSRE D TR



CECCHFFERE

“TMEC”

[ B8 38 K

23

J ¥

ﬁ

“Top List of the Most
Promising Artificial
Intelligence Enterprises
in Guangzhou”

[EMNZERRENAT ¥
BREEEE]

“Trust”

[{Z5E] 5
“Trustee”

[ZFEA 15
“us$”

[T ] 5

“VIE Shareholders”

(AN EERARR ¥
“Yilingtong”
[EHE ] =

TEERERAF

DEFINITIONS
=

the whole industry chain ecological conference we held for the
Chinese medicine market segment

BASHEPERAIMERPNEERBERRE

the top list of the most promising artificial intelligence enterprises
in Guangzhou under the guidance of Guangzhou Science and
Technology Bureau and selected by Guangzhou Technology
Financial Group

EEMNTHREEMREERAENREREEFENEMNFAERR
BOANTIEZLEEE

the trust constituted by the Trust Deed
REFERBEBRAET

Futu Trustee Limited, a professional trustee appointed under the
Trust Deed to act as trustee of the Trust

BRERERAR  REEARBREDSEEITANERZTEA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

KXBEREE®ET

Mr. Wu Yushu and Ms. Wang Lifang, being the registered
shareholders of Sinohealth Information

REFEEREFFT L - PEREANELRR

one of the SaaS products in our Smart Retail Cloud business
segment, which provides customers with integrated contents
including customized data-driven marketing solution, improving
deployment efficiency, tracking marketing effects in real time and
collecting feedback on decision-making

BB ETEE XM —FSaaSEm @ BT FIRHBETE HI2IRE
AR E  ITRTHR R - BN IR SRR B R R R —

o
T
ety
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DEFINITIONS

“Zhongkang Technology”

[ EERH%

u%n

[% ]

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Guangzhou Zhongkang Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (M FE&
FRIE AR AF]), a company established in the PRC with limited
liability on 8 April 2019, which is directly owned as to 100% by
Sinohealth Technology Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group

EMNARBEFERHEAR AR » —KR2019F4 8B EHFBKIMNE
RAR - APRERERREAERARIEEIEA100%ER - AREEHN
ME2ENB AR

Percent

Bt
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